

TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt

Lehrstuhl für Waldwachstumskunde

Interactions between forest stand structure, tree species composition, and stand productivity in spatial, temporal, and silvicultural context

Laura Isabel Zeller

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender:	Prof. Dr. Michael Suda
Prüfer:	1. Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Hans Pretzsch
	2. Prof. Dr. Thomas Knoke

Die Dissertation wurde am 27.11.2019 bei der Technischen Universtiät München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt am 25.03.2020 angenommen.

Acknowledgements

My gratitude goes particularly to Professor Hans Pretzsch for being my supervisor, advisor, colleague, and very inspiring to be around. His motivation and positive way of thinking, his challenging and at the same time supporting style of supervising often gave me the needed power and inspiration for my research. Additionally, I would like to thank Professor Michael Suda and Professor Thomas Knoke for supporting the formal framework of this dissertation. There are further a few people that made my life as a PhD student enjoyable. I would like to thank my favorite colleagues for the good company during work and spare time and I wish each one of you the best for your future.

Moreover, I would like to thank Dr. Jingjing Liang for his cooperation and engagement and the highly interesting and instructive time at West Virginia University which led to the second publication of this thesis.

I further thank all partners of the BiodivERsA project "GreenFutureForests" [#01LC1610B] and the FORD project Biotip [#01LC1716D] promoted by the German Aerospace Center (DLR) and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research. I also thank the Bavarian State Ministry for Nutrition, Agriculture, and Forestry for permanent support of the project "W 07 Long-term experimental plots for forest growth and yield research" [#7831-22209-2013].

And of course, I would like to thank Johannes, my family, and friends for supporting me throughout the course of the PhD.

Table of contents

Ackn	owledgementsII
Table	e of contents III
List o	f FiguresV
List o	f tablesVII
List o	f abbreviations VIII
Abstr	actIX
Zusar	nmenfassungXI
1	Introduction1
2	Materials and Methods6
2.1	Materials6
2.1.1	Triplet data
2.1.2	National forest inventory data
2.1.3	Long-term experimental plot data
2.1.4	Virtual forest stand data
2.2	Methods14
2.2.1	Comparison of pure and mixed stands
2.2.2	Spatial analysis and interaction between species richness and tree size heterogeneity
2.2.3	Effect of developmental stage
2.2.4	Effect of silvicultural management, time, and spatial scale16
3	Results
3.1	QI: Are stand productivity and wood quality in terms of tree ring width and tree ring wood density different in pure and mixed stands?
3.2	QII: How do tree species richness, tree size heterogeneity, mean annual temperature, and precipitation influence stand productivity?
3.3	QIII: Does the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity depend on tree species richness and the forest developmental stage?
3.4	QIV: How does stand structural heterogeneity in age-class vs. uneven-aged stands develop over time and spatial scale in different management scenarios?
4	Discussion26
5	Conclusions and Outlook

6	Original Publications	
6.1	Contributions of the candidate to concept, data sampling, and analysis	
6.2	Lead authorships	
6.2.1	Publication 1	
6.2.2	Publication 2	47
6.2.3	Publication 3	
6.2.4	Publication 4	79
7	References	106

List of Figures

Figure 1: Overview of the topics I-IV to analyze the interactions between tree species composition, stand structure and productivity
Figure 2: Age-class pure spruce stand11
Figure 3: Uneven-aged pure spruce stand
Figure 4: Age-class pure beech stand11
Figure 5: Uneven-aged pure beech stand11
Figure 6: Age-class single-tree mixed stand
Figure 7: Uneven-aged single-tree mixed stand12
Figure 8: Age-class section-wise mixed stand
Figure 9: Uneven-aged section-wise mixed stand
Figure 10: Differences between pure and mixed stands in mean tree ring width of Scots pine (a) $p < 0.05$, $R2 = 0.07$ and European beech (b) n.s. and differences in mean tree ring wood density of Scots pine (c) $p < 0.001$, $R2 = 0.39$ and European beech (d) $p < 0.001$, $R2 = 0.09$
Figure 11: Effects of longitude (a), latitude (b), annual precipitation (c), mean annual temperature (d), tree species richness (e), and tree size heterogeneity (f) on stand productivity of German inventory plots. Each variable was tested on its own while other variables were set to the mean
Figure 12: Effects of longitude (a), latitude (b), annual precipitation (c), mean annual temperature (d), tree species richness (e), and tree size heterogeneity (f) on stand productivity of US inventory plots. Each variable was tested on its own while other variables were set to the mean
Figure 13: Effects of location (a), climate (b), and stand density and tree species richness (c) on tree size heterogeneity of German inventory plots. Yellow = positive effect on productivity, red = negative effect on productivity. Blue contour lines show where the function has a constant value
Figure 14: Effects of location (a), climate (b), and stand density and tree species richness (c) on tree size heterogeneity of US inventory plots. Yellow = positive effect on productivity, red = negative effect on productivity. Blue contour lines show where the function has a constant value
Figure 15: Effect of structural heterogeneity at tree level on stand productivity between developmental stages (a)–(e). Structural heterogeneity at tree level quantified by diameter differentiation. Developmental stages (a)–(e) were quantified by standing volume (m ³ ha ⁻¹). Ivol stand volume increment (m ³ ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹). Dotted line pure stands, dashed line highest tree species diversity, solid line mean tree species diversity. Tree species diversity was quantified by the Shannon index. Diameter differentiation increasing with increasing tree size heterogeneity. Each graph contains data points of developmental stage and model function at mean standing volume of developmental stage.
Figure 16: coefficient of variation of dbh (dbh.cv) and the relative ivol rel.ivol (%) in (I) age-class stands and (II) uneven-aged stands over time in the multifunctional (blue), production-oriented (red), and set-aside scenario (green). Confidence intervals at 95%

List of tables

Table 1: Geographical information about the triplets	6
Table 2: Stand characteristics of pure and mixed stands of Scots pine and European be	eech
	7
Table 3: Descriptive data of inventory plots (Germany)	9
Table 4: Descriptive data of inventory plots (USA)	9
Table 5: Summary of experimental plots	10
Table 6: Characteristics of the initial virtual forest stands	13

List of abbreviations

ba	basal area (m ²)
cm	centimeter
CVd (= dbh.cv)	cofficient of variation of dbh
d (= dbh)	diameter at breast height (1.3 m)
dbh(=d)	diameter at breast height (1.3 m)
dbh.cv (= CVd)	cofficient of variation of dbh
dq	quadratic mean diameter
GAM	Generalized additive model
GAMM	Generalized additive mixed model
ha (= h)	hectare
h (= ha)	hectare
h100	height of 100 largest trees
ivol	volume increment (m ³ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)
lme	linear mixed model
m	meter
MD	mean tree ring wood density
mm	millimeter
Р	stand productivity (m ³ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)
R	species richness, number of tree species
RW	mean tree ring width
SDI	Stand density index
Vol	standing volume (m ³ ha ⁻¹)
yr	year

Abstract

More and more, forest ecosystems are expected to provide not only wood products, but other ecosystem functions and services. Combining the classical research on stand productivity with forest stand structure and tree species composition is a promising approach to promote the understanding of forest ecosystems. This thesis is based on different types of data and addresses the interdependencies between forest stand structure, tree species composition and stand productivity in a broad context.

First, a comparison between pure and mixed stands concerning stand productivity and wood quality, in terms of tree ring width and wood density was conducted. A higher tree ring width of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) in mixed stands with European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) and a lower tree ring wood density of both species in mixed stands were found. Since mixed stands usually differ from pure stands in their stand structure and the influence of forest structure in detail is often still unclear, the subsequent parts of the thesis focused on the role of stand structure.

Forest stand structure has only lately gotten more attention when analyzing biodiversityproductivity relationships. National forest inventory data from the USA and Germany were used for this thesis to analyze the interactions between stand structure, tree species composition and productivity on a broader geographical range. The effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity was found to be positive in the USA and negative in Germany. A higher number of tree species could partly mitigate the negative effect in Germany. This result led to the question why the effect of stand structural heterogeneity on stand productivity can be contrary. It was expected that the influence of time, meaning stand development, can have a vital effect on the interactions between forest structure, tree species composition, and stand productivity.

For analyzing the effect of stand structural heterogeneity in different developmental stages, long-term experimental plots based in Central Europe where used. The stand productivity was found to be negatively influenced by a high structural heterogeneity in young stands, but positively in old forest stands. Both the negative effect in young stands and the positive effect in old stands was found to be stronger in mixed stands. As most forests in Europe are managed, silvicultural management has the chance to control forest structure in a way to use its beneficial effects while fostering a provision of multiple forest ecosystems functions and services. Even though long-term experimental plots are very useful for analyzing forest development over time, estimating the effect of different approaches of silvicultural management on forest structure and productivity in the future is often difficult.

Consequently, a simulation study was developed to gain further insight into how the structural heterogeneity and its trade-off with stand productivity is modified by different management scenarios and at different spatial scales. By virtually designing forest stands, consisting of forest types representative for forests in Central Europe, comparable initial situations were set up. A multifunctional, a production-orientated, and a set-aside scenario were then applied to the stands through simulation over a time of span of 100 years. In uneven-aged stands, a production-oriented scenario led to a decrease in structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity, whereas in the age-class stands, the production-oriented scenario was able to maintain a high structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity over time. A high wood production and a high structural heterogeneity at stand scale were thus best covered in a mosaic of age-class forest stands. This study can help to estimate the effect of silvicultural management on the trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity before applying it to real forests.

This doctoral thesis provides new insights into the complex interactions between forest stand structure, tree species composition and stand productivity in temperate forest ecosystems. It contributes to the knowledge needed for understanding and managing multifunctional forests sustainably in the long-term.

Zusammenfassung

Das Ökosystem Wald soll zunehmend nicht nur Holzprodukte, sondern auch andere Ökosystemfunktionen und -dienstleistungen erfüllen. Durch eine übergreifende Analyse von Bestandesstruktur, Baumartenzusammensetzung und Bestandesproduktivität können Waldökosysteme besser auf zukünftige Herausforderungen angepasst werden. Die vorliegende Dissertation basiert auf verschiedenenartigen Daten und untersucht die Zusammenhänge zwischen Bestandesstruktur, Baumartenzusammensetzung und Bestandesproduktivität in einem übergreifenden Kontext. Zuerst wurden Bestandesproduktivität und Holzqualität, in Form von Jahrringbreite und Holzdichte in Rein- und Mischbeständen untersucht. Die WaldKiefer (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) zeigte hierbei in den Mischbeständen breitere Jahrringe als in den Reinbeständen. Rotbuche (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) und Waldkiefer hatten jedoch in den Mischbeständen eine geringere Holzdichte als in den jeweiligen Reinbeständen. Da Mischbestände in der Realität meist auch eine andere Bestandesstruktur ausweisen als Reinbestände, stand in den nachfolgenden Studien, die im Rahmen dieser Thesis durchgeführt wurden, die Bestandesstruktur im Mittelpunkt.

Die Bestandesstruktur blieb in der Vergangenheit oft unbeachtet und wurde erst in den letzten Jahren verstärkt in die Erforschung von Artendiversität und Produktivität mit einbezogen. Für eine geographisch breit angelegte Analyse der Zusammenhänge zwischen Bestandesstruktur, Baumartenzusammensetzung und Produktivität wurden in dieser Thesis Daten der Waldinventuren aus den USA und Deutschland verwendet. In den USA war der Effekt einer höheren Strukturheterogenität auf die Bestandesproduktivität positiv, in Deutschland negativ. Eine höhere Baumartenanzahl konnte jedoch den negativen Effekt der Strukturheterogenität in Deutschland abmildern. Dieses Ergebnis führte zu der Frage, warum der Effekt der Strukturheterogenität so verschieden ausfallen kann. Eine Vermutung war dabei der Einfluss des Bestandesalters auf die Beziehungen zwischen Bestandesstruktur und Produktivität. Zeitreihendaten, die auf langfristigen Versuchsflächen basieren, wurden deshalb herangezogen, um den Einfluss des Bestandesalters auf die Beziehung zwischen Bestandestruktur und Bestandesproduktivität in verschieden stark gemischten Beständen zu untersuchen. In jungen Beständen führte eine hohe Strukturheterogenität zu einer niedrigeren, in älteren Beständen hingegen zu einer höheren Bestandesproduktivität. Da die meisten Wälder in Europa bewirtschaftet werden, hat das waldbauliche Management die Möglichkeit, die Bestandesstruktur so zu steuern, dass ihre Vorteile für eine Multifunktionalität des Waldes genutzt werden können. Obwohl sich langfristige Versuchsflächen für die Untersuchung der bisherigen Bestandesentwicklung eignen, sind waldbauliche Effekte in der Zukunft oft schwer abzuschätzen.

In der letzten Studie dieser Thesis wurden deshalb vergleichbare virtuelle Bestände geschaffen, die typische Waldarten in Mitteleuropa repräsentieren. Auf diesen Beständen konnte so, ceteris paribus, untersucht werden, wie sich das Trade-off zwischen einer hohen Bestandesstruktur und einer hohen Bestandesproduktivität unter verschiedenen Managementszenarien und auf verschiedenen räumlichen Ebenen entwickelt. Ein multifunktionales, ein produktionsorientiertes und ein Stilllegungsszenario wurden ausgewählt, um die Bestandesentwicklung über einen Zeitraum von 100 Jahren zu untersuchen. In den Plenterwaldartigen Beständen führte das produktionsorientierte Szenario mit der Zeit zu einem Rückgang der Strukturheterogenität pro Einheit Produktivität erreicht werden und gleichzeitig das Ziel einer hohen Produktivität verfolgt werden.

Die vorliegende Arbeit liefert somit neue Erkenntnisse über die Beziehung zwischen Bestandesstruktur, Baumartenzusammensetzung und Bestandesproduktivität in Waldökosystemen. Managemententscheidungen können so unterstützt werden, um die Multifunktionalität des Waldes nachhaltig und langfristig sicher zu stellen.

1 Introduction

Forests are complex ecosystems that interact with multiple factors. Humankind discovers and appreciates more and more the importance of forest ecosystems and their far reaching potential. The common objective of multifunctional forest ecosystems (Manning et al., 2018) requires an understanding of biodiversity-structure-productivity relationships as well as the long-term effects of forest management. Since the demand for wood products in Europe is expected to increase in the coming years (Reid, 2005), forests will be commercially used for wood production also in the future. At the same time, other ecosystem functions and services need to be provided (Sikkema et al., 2017). An overarching analysis of forest biodiversity, structure and productivity and the potentially conflicting relationships between the different interests (Felipe-Lucia et al., 2018; Seidl et al., 2007) is therefore necessary. An approach to see and manage forests as complex adaptive systems including multiple interactions was also described by Messier et al. (2013). Considering different aspects that influence the interactions between forest structure, tree species composition and productivity is one step in the direction towards sustainable forest management that can maintain and enhance the multifunctionality of forest ecosystems in the long-term. In Germany (Ammon, 1951; Knoke, 2012) and other European countries (Boncina, 2011; Buongiorno et al., 1994; Buongiorno et al., 1995), commercially used forests are supposed to be managed under the goal of multifunctionality (Häusler and Scherer-Lorenzen, 2001).

Species mixing is generally considered to be an important factor when aiming at multifunctional forest ecosystems (del Río et al., 2017; Hector and Bagchi, 2007; Schnabel et al., 2019; Schwaiger et al., 2018). Throughout Europe, a transition of monocultures to mixed-species stands has been pursued in the last decades (Ammer, 2008; Felton et al., 2010). Positive relationships between tree species richness and forest productivity were found on a global scale (Liang et al., 2016) and on long-term mixed-species experimental plots (Pretzsch et al., 2015) and on national forest inventory plots in Germany (Zeller et al., 2018). Both the total above-ground biomass (Pretzsch et al., 2010) and stem biomass growth (Thurm et al., 2016) can be higher in mixed stands compared to monocultures. Others state a more continuous productivity over time with increasing tree species richness as different species react differently to disturbances and can therefore level out drops in productivity (Morin et al., 2014). Admixing broadleaved tree species to pure coniferous forest stands can therefore lead to a lower financial risk (Knoke et al., 2008). Species mixing is further considered to bring along benefits, such as a

lower risk of damage due to climate events (Neuner et al., 2015) or pest insects (Bauhus et al., 2017), a higher overall biodiversity (Felton et al., 2016), a stabilizing function for the water use (Felton et al., 2016) and nutrient cycles (Forrester et al., 2005), a higher value for recreation (Grilli et al., 2016), and further ecosystem functions and services (Gamfeldt et al., 2013). On the contrary, tree species mixing can compromise wood density (Zeller et al., 2017). A lower wood density means a lower wood quality, which depends on the morphological plasticity of the species and the stand structural heterogeneity in mixed stands (Pretzsch and Rais, 2016). Considering not only tree species composition, but also stand structural heterogeneity when examining the performance of forests is therefore important.

The role of forest stand structure has been discussed more and more in the recent years. Both positive (Danescu et al., 2016; Zeller et al., 2018) and negative effects (Bourdier et al., 2016; Soares et al., 2016; Zeller et al., 2018) of stand structural heterogeneity on wood production have been found. The mechanical stability (Gardiner et al., 2005; Mason, 2002) and resilience (O'Hara and Ramage, 2013) can be higher in structurally complex forest stands. Further, a mostly positive effect of a high structural heterogeneity on biodiversity (Lindenmayer et al., 2000) was discovered. Since stand structure depends on tree species composition, climatic conditions (Zeller et al., 2018), stand development (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019), spatial scale and silvicultural management (Maleki et al., 20xx; Zeller et al., 20xx), it has to be investigated in a broad context.

Climatic conditions can modify the competition or facilitation between species in mixed stands (Madrigal-González et al., 2016; Morin et al., 2018). Facilitation can result from niche complementarity (Bolte et al., 2013) with consequently higher stand resource-use efficiency (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016) and can be the reason for beneficial mixing effects in terms of biomass production (Callaway, 1998), resistance (Dhôte, 2005) and resilience (Morin et al., 2018; Silva Pedro et al., 2015) carbon storage (Ruiz-Jaen and Potvin, 2010). In favorable growing conditions, competition was found to be high, whereas in poor growing conditions, tree growth of both species seemed to benefit from niche complementarity and facilitation (del Río et al., 2014). Site conditions are therefore important to be considered when investigating biodiversitystructure-productivity relationships. In general, the stand structure in mixed stands differs from that in monocultures, with a usually higher stand structural heterogeneity in mixed stands (Riofrío et al., 2017). In which way forest ecosystem functions and services are influenced by tree species mixing and stand structure further depends on the stand developmental phase (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019). Stand structural heterogeneity has been found to increase stand growth in 100-500-year old stands (Silva Pedro et al., 2017). In young stands, however, the interactions between tree species composition, stand structure and productivity can be different. Negative effects of a high structural heterogeneity on stand productivity have often been found in plantations (Soares et al., 2016) that have shorter rotation periods and do not reach the old growth phase. Most studies on the effect of forest structure on productivity cover only a part of the stand development, which might explain the sometimes contradicting results.

Furthermore, the spatial scale can determine the outcome of analyses of biodiversity-structureproductivity relationships (Leimgruber et al., 2002; Stein et al., 2014; Zeller et al., 20xx). If the provision of a high biodiversity or structural heterogeneity is necessary on a small or larger spatial scale depends on the purpose of a forest (Saab, 1999; van der Plas et al., 2016). For biodiversity in general, a high structural heterogeneity was found to be especially important at a larger spatial scale (Schall et al., 2017).

Over the last decades, the previously established even-aged, mostly monospecific stands in Europe have been more and more transferred to multifunctional forests (Nyland, 2003; Salek and Sivacioğlu, 2018; Sterba and Zingg, 2001) focusing on more than only high yields (Puettmann et al., 2015). In Germany, even-aged management and continuous cover forestry are the most common management strategies (Burschel and Huss, 2003). Even-aged management has been criticized for its altered forest structure and biodiversity (Paillet et al., 2010) and for being "unnatural". When pursuing the goal of multifunctional forests, especially continuous cover forestry is known for its benefits (Seedre et al., 2018) and comes along with species mixing and a higher stand structure compared to even-aged stands. The potential negative effect of a high structural heterogeneity on stand productivity found in some cases (Soares et al., 2016; Zeller et al., 2018) can lead to conflicting trade-offs between a high structural heterogeneity and wood production (Dieler et al., 2017; Felipe-Lucia et al., 2018; Zeller et al., 20xx). Since most forests in Europe have been or are now managed (Sabatini et al., 2018; Schelhaas et al., 2018), silvicultural management has the chance to control and modify interactions and trade-offs in a sensible way to fulfil the long-term goals (MCPFE). This also means shaping the competition between tree species (Maleki et al., 20xx). Considering the changing environment and the long time span between implication of silvicultural interventions and their result, the management of multifunctional forest ecosystems remains a challenge that needs constant improvement (Reich, 2009).

The aspects wood density, geographical location, stand development, spatial scale, and silvicultural management, that are related to and influence the interactions between forest structure, tree species composition and productivity (Figure 1), were covered in the present thesis based on different types of data. For an overarching analysis of the role of forest structure, triplet data (Zeller et al., 2017), long-term experimental plot data (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019), national forest inventory data (Zeller et al., 2018), and simulated stand data (Zeller et al., 20xx) were utilized.



Figure 1: Overview of the topics I-IV to analyze the interactions between tree species composition, stand structure and productivity.

First, one aspect of forest structure was examined, the species composition and its effect on an important aspect of wood production, volume and wood quality in terms of tree ring width and tree ring wood density (Zeller et al., 2017). Wood density determines carbon storage, stability, the contained energy and the types of plant and animal species that depend on a certain type of

wood. Also it can define the volume overyielding found in mixed stands more precisely (Pretzsch et al., 2015).

When approaching the role of stand structure in biodiversity-structure-productivity relationships on a larger scale, national forest inventory data provides the basis for analyzing differences on a geographical range. National forest inventory data from the USA and Germany were used to determine an interactive effect of forest stand structure and tree species diversity on productivity (Zeller et al., 2018).

Since national forest inventories mostly do not date back in time for much more than one or two points in time, long-term experimental plots were used to examine the effect of time, i.e. the developmental status of a forest stand in biodiversity-structure-productivity relationships (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019).

As most forests in Europe are commercially used in one way or another (Eurostat, 2011, p. 22), the effect of different silvicultural management on the relation between structural heterogeneity and stand productivity was examined based on simulated age-class and uneven-aged forest stands and at different spatial scales (Zeller et al., 20xx).

For all studies conducted within the scope of this thesis, linear models, linear mixed models, generalized additive models, and commonly used structural indices were applied. The utilized models and indices are easy to replicate and can serve as examples for further studies expanding the topic.

Four main research questions guide the course of this thesis. Each one of the overall questions QI - QIV led to a research article:

QI: Are stand productivity and wood quality in terms of tree ring width and tree ring wood density different in pure and mixed stands?

QII: How do tree species richness, tree size heterogeneity, mean annual temperature and precipitation influence forest productivity?

QIII: Does the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity depend on tree species richness and the forest developmental stage?

QIV: How does stand structural heterogeneity in age-class vs. uneven-aged stands develop over time and spatial scale in different management scenarios?

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Triplet data

The data was sampled at the five locations Alzenau, Bamberg, Steigerwald, Teupitzer Forst in Germany and in Huerta de abajo in northern Spain (Table 1).

Each location is a triplet, which consists of a pure stand of both Scots pine and European beech and one mixed stand of both species. The similarity in stand characteristics enables the comparison between pure and mixed stands (Table 2). In recent years, all triplets were unmanaged and the Stand density index (SDI) close to the maximum (Pretzsch et al., 2015). Tree ring width and wood density of 163 and 159 tree cores of Scots pine and European beech, respectively, were sampled. All tree rings of the years 1950 to 2014 were examined.

Table 1: Geographical	information	about the triple	ts (Zeller et al., 2017))
8		1		

Name	Code	Latitude N	Longitude E	Altitude a.s.l. (m)	Precipitation (mm year ⁻¹)	Temperature (°C)	Geological substrate
Alzenau	Ger 2	50°06'48.74"	09°03'54.36"	250	720	9.0	slightly loamy sand
Bamberg	Ger 3	49°53'11.64"	10°58'13.12"	250	650	8.0	loamy sand
Steigerwald	Ger 5	10°38'10.10"	49°47'55.91"	125	713	9.5	slightly loamy sand
Teupitzer Forst	Ger 7	52°04'45.55"	13°37'06.05"	60	520	8.6	sandy
Huerta de abajo	Sp 1	42°05'57.00"	-03°-10'-19.00"	1290	860	8.9	sandy loam

Reference period for climate data: 1994-2013.

Triplet	Species	n	Stand age (years)	N (trees ha ⁻¹)	d_q (cm)	$h_{q}\left(m ight)$	SDI (ha ⁻¹)	V (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	IV (m ³ ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)
Ger 2	Sc p. mono	22	55	1461	21.21	25.28	1122	581	21.90
	Sc p. mixed	22	55	471	26.83	27.39	528	329	10.50
	E. be. mono	21	55	2022	16.46	22.39	1034	474	21.50
	E. be. mixed	20	55	604	21.94	25.98	490	300	13.73
Ger 3	Sc p. mono	21	47	2054	16.81	20.69	1086	407	19.99
	Sc p. mixed	13	47	1529	15.56	20.59	714	255	12.97
	E. be. mono	19	47	2090	14.22	20.95	845	334	16.87
	E. be. mixed	13	47	1099	13.49	19.29	408	144	7.19
Ger 5	Sc p. mono	19	57	1324	22.31	22.43	1103	517	17.69
	Sc p. mixed	19	57	346	29.55	26.15	452	256	7.27
	E. be. mono	14	57	1635	17.48	23.88	921	482	22.50
	E. be. mixed	16	57	489	21.07	24.99	372	219	8.76
Sp 1	Sc p. mono	9	40	1667	20.24	16.20	1188	399	12.40
	Sc p. mixed	6	40	1082	21.32	17.33	838	310	11.65
	E. be. mono	6	40	2542	12.75	16.38	862	248	15.34
	E. be. mixed	5	40	1477	11.20	15.22	407	99	5.23
Ger 7	Sc p. mono	16	80	1579	13.75	15.49	605	162	7.77
	Sc p. mixed	6	80	82	25.94	21.79	87	44	1.94
	E. be. mono	18	80	300	29.54	24.40	392	266	9.36
	E. be. mixed	20	80	327	21.17	17.31	250	105	5.04

Table 2: Stand characteristics of pure and mixed stands of Scots pine and European beech (Zeller et al., 2017)

Five triplets were included consisting of one mixed-species stand and two mono-specific stands each. Sc. P. = Scots pine; = E. be. = European beech.; mono = monocultures; mixed = mixed-species stands; N = tree number (trees ha^{-1}); dq = quadratic mean diameter (cm); hq = height of the tree with quadratic mean diameter (m); SDI = stand density index; V = standing volume (m³ ha^{-1}); IV = periodic annual volume increment (m³ ha^{-1} year⁻¹).

2.1.2 National forest inventory data

The national forest inventories

For the analysis of the interactive effects of forest structure and productivity on a large spatial scale, 56,000 plots form the national forest inventory of Germany (Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft BMEL, 2014) (Table 3) and about 576,000 plot of the national forest inventory of the USA (O'Connell et al., 2014) (Table 4) were used. The data represented different growing conditions along a climatic gradient on both the North American and the European continent. The German inventory was conducted based on a grid size of 4 km x 4 km, with a smaller grid in some regions (2.83 km x 2.83 km). The data from the USA was sampled on a hexagonal grid, where each inventory plot represents 2428 ha of forested land (O'Connell et al., 2014).

Productivity

Forest productivity (m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) for Germany was calculated using the second and third German national forest inventory. Forest productivity for the USA was derived from the periodic annual increment on plots where more than one inventory was conducted (Liang et al., 2016).

Climate data

Annual precipitation and mean annual temperature of Version 2 of the WorldClim data from 1970-2000 were used with a resolution of 2.5 min (Fick and Hijmans, 2017).

Tree and stand characteristics

For characterizing and analyzing the inventory plots in Germany (Table 3) and the USA (Table 4), the mean diameter d, the quadratic mean diameter dq, the coefficient of variation of diameter CVd, the species richness R (Pretzsch, 2009), and Stand density index (SDI) by Reineke (1933) were used.

	R	d	dq	CVd	SDI	Temp.	Precip.	Р	
mean	2.02	27.14	28.59	0.32	1158.02	8.32	842.12	12.24	
sd	1.06	12.2	12.18	0.19	603.3	0.93	250.52	8.96	
se	0	0.05	0.05	0	2.54	0	1.05	0.04	
min	1	7	7	0	38.67	0.31	467	0	
max	9	165	165	1.46	5375.02	10.83	1984	103.59	
n	56449								

Table 3: Descriptive data of inventory plots (Germany) (Zeller et al., 2018)

R = number of species, d = diameter at breast height (cm), dq = quadratic mean diameter (cm), CVd = coefficient of variation of diameter, SDI = stand density index, Temp. = mean annual temperature, Precip. = annual precipitation, P = stand productivity ($m^3 ha^{-1}yr^{-1}$).

Table 4: Descriptive data of inventory plots (USA) (Zeller et al., 2018)

	R	d	dq	CVd	SDI	Temp.	Precip.	Р	
Mean	4.67	19.91	21.97	0.44	522.63	11.56	1055.95	6.22	
Sd	2.82	8.17	8.81	0.19	464.31	5.6	357.02	0.64	
Se	0	0.01	0.01	0	0.61	0.01	0.47	0	
Min	1	7.11	7.11	0	0.16	-2.88	56	4.01	
Max	21	169.93	169.93	1.9	4998.34	24.57	3353	8.02	
Ν	576415								

R = number of species, d = diameter at breast height (cm), dq = quadratic mean diameter (cm), CVd = coefficient of variation of diameter, SDI = stand density index, Temp. = mean annual temperature, Precip. = annual precipitation, P = stand productivity (m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹).

2.1.3 Long-term experimental plot data

Long-term experimental plot data

The unique and well-studied set of long-term experimental plots (Pretzsch et al., 2013) used for exploring the effect of development stage on structure-productivity relationships were located mostly in Central Europe, with a high number of them being based in Bavaria, Germany. The plots were artificially regenerated, unmanaged and fully stocked. Between 1927 and 2014, 291 measurements were conducted on average every 7 years in the 192 different plots (Table 5). The plots contain six different species groups in different compositions with a range of tree species diversity (Shannon index) between 0 and 0.4. The plots are located in a climatic range of a mean annual temperature between 5.5 °C and 10.5 °C with an annual precipitation range of 550 mm and 1350 mm.

	n meas.	n species	dbh (cm)	dq (cm)	ba (m²	h (m)	h100 (m)	vol (m ³	ivol (m ³
					ha-1)			ha ⁻¹)	ha^{-1}
									year ⁻¹)
Mean	1.5	2.31	27.81	30.82	31.20	25.39	29.18	508.77	15.70
Sd	1.79	1.25	10.16	10.78	13.25	6.47	6.53	222.11	6.27
Min	1.00	1.00	8.36	8.43	5.11	7.63	9.70	35.00	2.60
Max	10.00	6.00	61.39	64.10	70.80	45.85	53.30	1388.00	44.96
total meas.					291				
n plots					192				

Table 5: Summary of experimental plots (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019)

Mean = mean value, sd = standard deviation, min = minimum value, max = maximum value, meas. = measurement, n = number, dbh = diameter at breast height, dq = quadratic mean diameter, h = height, h100 = height of 100 largest trees, vol = volume, ivol volume increment.

2.1.4 Virtual forest stand data

Based on the German National Forest Inventory a stratification was conducted leading to real forest types that occur in Bavaria and are representative for large parts of European forest. The 8 examined virtual forest stands mainly consist of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) in equal shares, and a very low number of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and sessile oak (*Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.*). An age-class and an uneven-aged stand of each of the 4 types of species composition were set up: pure spruce (Figure 2 and Figure 3), pure beech (Figure 4 and Figure 5) a single-tree mixture of spruce and beech (Figure 6 and Figure 7), and a section-wise mixture of spruce and beech (Figure 8 and Figure 9). Each of the virtual stands measures 192 ha and contains 12 squares of different forest type patches (16 ha). The 8 virtually designed forest stands are comparable in their soil and growing conditions and mean tree size distribution (Table 6).



Figure 2: Age-class pure spruce stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 3: Uneven-aged pure spruce stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 4: Age-class pure beech stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 5: Uneven-aged pure beech stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 6: Age-class single-tree mixed stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 7: Uneven-aged single-tree mixed stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 8: Age-class section-wise mixed stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)



Figure 9: Uneven-aged section-wise mixed stand (Zeller et al., 20xx)

			dbh	(cm)			height (n	(u		tree	volume (n	(¹ 1)	tre	es (n ha ⁻¹) per fores (16 ha)	t type pat	ch	volume	(m ³ ha ⁻¹) patch (16	ber forest Sha)	type
mixgroup	Group	min	mean	max	ps	min	mean	max	ps	min	mean	max	sd	min	mean	max	ps	min	mean	max	ps
pure spruce	age-class	2	16	62	П	9	14	41	~	0	0	5	0.71	94	1711	2538	748	14	218	914	207
pure spruce	uneven-aged	L	19	82	13	4	17	42	8	0	0	8	0.80	789	1086	1706	297	246	483	636	117
pure beech	age-class	L	22	68	13	2	19	42	8	0	1	8	0.77	96	610	848	246	6	250	681	205
pure beech	uneven-aged	L	19	58	II	9	20	36	8	0	I	5	1.07	714	1045	1475	281	209	537	069	150
single-tree mix	age-class	8	24	70	13	2	18	37	8	0	-	9	0.85	259	692	992	276	28	308	815	248
single-tree mix	uneven-aged	L	21	80	13	ŝ	17	38	8	0	-	9	0.95	441	1082	1611	382	270	454	699	157
section-wise mix	age-class	14	23	19	1	14	19	28	4	0	0	5	0.44	232	1013	1588	460	243	352	470	16
section-wise mix	uneven-aged	٢	17	57	Ξ	9	17	36	~	0	0	4	0.61	714	1194	1706	350	209	470	594	145

Table 6: Characteristics of the initial virtual forest stands (Zeller et al., 20xx)

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Comparison of pure and mixed stands

Tree ring width and tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech were measured using a LIGNOSTATIONTM, thus by high-frequency densitometry and were calibrated through comparison with the water displacement method (Kemmerer, 2016). High-frequency densitometry is non-destructive and time-efficient (Schinker et al., 2003) compared to X-ray densitometry (Wassenberg et al., 2014). It works by measuring how much of a transmitted electromagnetic signal is received through the wood on the other side of a shield (Schinker et al., 2003). For the statistical analysis, linear mixed effects models were applied by using the lme function of nlme package in R (Pinheiro et al., 2018). The following model functions were set up to examine the difference in tree ring width and tree ring wood density between pure and mixed stands while considering stand density:

$$RW_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + a_4 * SDI_{ij} + a_6 * Mix_{ij} * SDI_{ij} + b_i + \varepsilon_{ij}$$
(Eq. 1)

$$MD_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + a_2 * DBH_{ij} + a_4 * SDI_{ij} + a_5 * Mix_{ij} * DBH_{ij} + a_6 * Mix_{ij} * SDI_{ij} * b_i + \varepsilon_{ij}$$
(Eq. 2)

In all equations, RW_{ij} is the mean ring width per tree j on triplet i and MD_{ij} is the mean tree ring wood density per tree j on triplet i. The effect of mixing on tree ring width or tree ring wood density for tree j on triplet i is described by Mix_{ij} . SDI_{ij} covers effects induced by stand density on tree j on triplet i. The random effect b_i for triplet i considers differences in site characteristics between the triplets and the error term ε_{ij} covers remaining unexplained variation. In stepwise reduction, non-significant variables and three-way or two-way interactions were eliminated. The obtained tree ring width and tree ring wood density values were then used to calculate and compare the biomass of Scots pine and European beech in pure and mixed stands.

2.2.2 Spatial analysis and interaction between species richness and tree size heterogeneity

Two Generalized additive models (GAMs) (Crawley, 2007; Zuur, 2009) were set up using the mgcv package (Wood, 2011) in R (R Development Core Team, 2008) to analyze the effects of tree species richness, stand structure, and climate on stand productivity.

$$P_i = a + f_1(Lon_i, Lat_i) + f_2(Temperature_i, Precipitation_i) +$$

In the model, productivity P on inventory plot i is explained by the geographical location Longitude Lon and Latitude Lat species richness R, stand structural heterogeneity CVd, stand density SDI, the quadratic mean diameter dq, mean annual temperature and annual precipitation. The model's intercept is a and $f_1,...,f_4$ are non-linear smoothers to be fitted. Remaining errors are contained in the random error term ε .

$$CVd_i = a + f_1(Lon_i, Lat_i) + f_2(Temperature_i, Precipitation_i) + f_3(SDI_i, dq_i) + f_4(R_i) + \varepsilon_i$$
(Eq. 4)

CVd is the dependent variable and therefore eliminated from the interactive smoother f₄. The lowest AIC values and highest R², compared to reduced versions of the models, were achieved in the full model functions, which were therefore used as final model functions.

2.2.3 Effect of developmental stage

Indices

Stand productivity (m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), stand density index (SDI) (Reineke, 1933), coefficient of variation of dbh and Gini coefficient of dbh (Binkley et al., 2006), diameter differentiation index, and aggregation index (del Río et al., 2015) were used to analyze the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity in the different developmental stages at tree level and plot level.

Model

Two linear mixed models were used to test the interactive effect of tree species diversity and structural heterogeneity on stand productivity at stand level (Eq. 5) and tree level (Eq. 6).

$$\log(ivol_i) = a + \log(f_1(vol_i)) * (f_2(str_i) + f_3(SDI_i)) * f_4(shan_i) + \varepsilon_i$$
(Eq. 5)

$$\log(ivol_i) = a + \log(f_1(vol_i)) * (f_2(ddif_i) + f_3(SDI_i)) * f_4(shan_i) + \varepsilon_i$$
(Eq. 6)

Ivol_i represents the stand productivity (m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) on plot i. The developmental stage is represented by the standing volume (m³ ha⁻¹), the structural coefficient str_i in Eq. 5 represents different structural parameters that led to similar results. The parameter ddif_i (Eq. 6) is the diameter

differentiation at tree level. Stand density index (SDI) and Shannon index (shan) serve as additional explaining variables and ε is the random error term containing further unexplained information.

2.2.4 Effect of silvicultural management, time, and spatial scale

A multifunctional and a production-oriented scenario were applied to show the differences in management impact, depending on the different initial structures. As reference, a set-aside scenario was used where no management was conducted.

The management scenarios include silvicultural practices that are representative for the current challenges in forest management (Pretzsch et al., 2007). These contain details for every target tree species modelled in SILVA (Pretzsch et al., 2002). Depending on the dominant species of each stand, the silvicultural interventions were defined for each height phase, i.e. stand development stage. The simulations cover a range of 100 years.

Then, the coefficient of variation of dbh (dbh.cv) (del Río et al., 2015; Pretzsch, 2009) was selected to characterize the structural heterogeneity of the forest stands. Both dbh.cv and stand productivity were standardized (str and prod, both ranging from 0 to 1) for the setup of the trade-off:

$$t_{i,j,k} = \frac{str_{i,j,k}}{prod_{i,j,2000}}$$
(Eq. 7)

The trade-off $t_{i,j,k}$ is the ratio between the standardized structural heterogeneity str on stand i in year j on the spatial scale k and the standardized productivity prod of stand i in year j. It ranges from 0 to 1. A higher t shows that a stand provides a higher structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity. The trade-off t was calculated for each stand i, point in time j, spatial scale k and for each of the 3 management scenarios.

For analyzing the trade-off t on different spatial scales, a growing window technique was used. Around each of 30 random point per stand, circles were drawn with increasing radius (5, 10, 25, 50, 75, 100, 150, 250, 500, 750, 1000, and 2000 m). The examined increasing area around each random point therefore ranged from 79 m² up to the maximum area of the virtual forest stand (192 ha). One mean value per virtual forest stand, point in time and radius was then calculated and used for further analysis. Generalized additive mixed models (GAMM) (R Core Team, 2018) were then set up to examine how the standardized structural heterogeneity str per unit of productivity (prod) developed over time and spatial scale under different management scenarios (Eq. 8) and depending on the initial stand structure (age-class vs. uneven-aged) (Eq. 9):

$$t_{group} = scen * (f(SDI_i) + f(year_j) + f(radius_k)) + \epsilon$$
(Eq. 8)

 t_{group} describes the trade-off str/prod inside the group (age-class and uneven-aged) as dependent variable, influenced by time (year) j, and spatial scale (radius) k. The three different management scenarios applied to each stand i are contained in the factor variable scen. The random error term ε covers the remaining unexplained variation. The model function was applied separately to the spruce stand, beech stand, single-tree mixture and patch-wise mixture, comparing the three different management scenarios.

$$t_{scen} = group * (f(SDI_i) + f(year_j) + f(radius_k)) + \epsilon$$
(Eq. 9)

 t_{scen} describes the trade-off str/prod and tests the difference between the two groups of age-class vs. uneven-aged stands in each of the three scenarios scen. Further variables as described above.

3 Results

3.1 QI: Are stand productivity and wood quality in terms of tree ring width and tree ring wood density different in pure and mixed stands?

We found the tree ring width of Scots pine in mixed stands to be by 14% higher than in pure stands, whereas European beech in mixed stands had a by 5% lower tree ring width. The tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech was by 12% and 8% lower, respectively, in mixed stands compared to pure stands (Figure 10). When extending the model function and also considering the structural parameters tree size and stand density index (SDI), the tree ring width of European beech was still not significantly different in pure and mixed stands. The tree ring width of Scots pine was found to be by 16% higher in mixed stands compared to pure stands. Tree ring wood density of Scots pine was still found to be by 12% lower in mixed compared to pure stands after considering tree size and stand density. Also European beech showed a by 7% lower tree ring wood density in first and in the extended model function.



Figure 10: Differences between pure and mixed stands in mean tree ring width of Scots pine (a) p < 0.05, R2 = 0.07 and European beech (b) n.s. and differences in mean tree ring wood density of Scots pine (c) p < 0.001, R2 = 0.39 and European beech (d) p < 0.001, R2 = 0.09 (Zeller et al., 2017).

Tree ring wood density values and volume measurements from previous studies on the same triplets (Pretzsch et al., 2015) were then used to calculate the biomass production of pure and mixed Scots pine and European beech stands. Scots pine was found to produce 11% more biomass, whereas European beech produced 8% less biomass in mixed stands compared to pure stands.

3.2 QII: How do tree species richness, tree size heterogeneity, mean annual temperature, and precipitation influence stand productivity?

When looking at forest growth on a larger geographical range, forest productivity was increasing towards the north of Germany, from ~10 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ to ~13 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Figure 11, a). SDI was positively influencing productivity (Figure 11, c) and tree size (dq) had only a small effect on productivity. Species richness and structural heterogeneity, however, had a significant influence on productivity (Figure 11, d). For stands of up to two tree species, a higher structural heterogeneity led to a drop in stand productivity from 14 to 12 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. For forest stands with more than three tree species, stand productivity was positively influenced by structural heterogeneity, leading to a productivity of ~ 16 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for stands with eight tree species. A combination of a low tree species diversity and a high structural heterogeneity was therefore least productive, whereas additional tree species could lessen the negative effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity.

The highest productivity in the USA was found in the southeastern part (Figure 12, a). The location and climatic conditions (Figure 12, b) explained the largest part (up to $\sim 4 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$) of the variation in productivity among the inventory plots. Tree size (dq) and SDI had only small positive effects on productivity (Figure 12, c). On plots of up to 10 different tree species, species richness had a positive effect on productivity. This trend reversed in case of more than 10 tree species. Structural heterogeneity CVd had only a small positive effect on productivity (Figure 12, d).

How is forest productivity influenced by precipitation and temperature?

In Germany, the amount of precipitation was positively influencing productivity and explained an increase in productivity from ~ 8 to 13 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for an increase in annual precipitation of 400 to 1000 mm (Figure 11, b). Only for an annual precipitation larger than 1000 mm, productivity was negatively influenced. Mean annual temperature had a positive effect on productivity. The interaction between precipitation and temperature showed, that especially a low amount of precipitation in combination with high temperatures had a negative effect on stand productivity. Temperature could only positively influence productivity in case of the optimum amount of precipitation of around 1000 mm.

In the USA, productivity was mostly influenced by annual precipitation (Figure 12, b). Along the range of precipitation up to 2000 mm, stand productivity increased from 5 to \sim 7 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻

¹. Along the range of the mean annual temperature from ~6.5 °C to 20 °C, stand productivity was decreasing from 6.5 to 5.5 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

Does growth limitation due to water scarcity or low temperature enhance structural heterogeneity?

In Germany, precipitation and temperature and species richness were leading to a higher tree size heterogeneity (Figure 13, b). Only for more than eight tree species, tree size heterogeneity was negatively influenced (Figure 13, d). In the USA, the highest structural heterogeneity was found on plots with a low annual precipitation, whereas temperature did not have a clear effect on structural heterogeneity (Figure 14, b). Tree species richness was clearly positively correlated with structural heterogeneity (Figure 14, d).



Figure 11: Effects of longitude (a), latitude (b), annual precipitation (c), mean annual temperature (d), tree species richness (e), and tree size heterogeneity (f) on stand productivity of German inventory plots. Each variable was tested on its own while other variables were set to the mean (Zeller et al., 2018).

Figure 12: Effects of longitude (a), latitude (b), annual precipitation (c), mean annual temperature (d), tree species richness (e), and tree size heterogeneity (f) on stand productivity of US inventory plots. Each variable was tested on its own while other variables were set to the mean (Zeller et al., 2018).



Figure 13: Effects of location (a), climate (b), and stand density and tree species richness (c) on tree size heterogeneity of German inventory plots. Yellow = positive effect on productivity, red = negative effect on productivity. Blue contour lines show where the function has a constant value (Zeller et al., 2018).

Figure 14: Effects of location (a), climate (b), and stand density and tree species richness (c) on tree size heterogeneity of US inventory plots. Yellow = positive effect on productivity, red = negative effect on productivity. Blue contour lines show where the function has a constant value (Zeller et al., 2018).

3.3 QIII: Does the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity depend on tree species richness and the forest developmental stage?

Structural heterogeneity was found to influence stand productivity in different ways, depending on tree species diversity and the developmental status of a forest. In this case, climatic and other site-dependent effects could be excluded. The diameter differentiation index (tree level) showed that in early developmental stages of a forest (standing volume $< 200 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$), structural heterogeneity had a negative effect on stand productivity (Figure 15, a). This negative effect was strongest in species-diverse stands, which were also found to be more productive than monocultures. In older developmental stages (standing volume 600-800 m³ ha-1 and $> 800 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$), stand structural heterogeneity was positively influencing productivity and this effect was strongest in mixed stands (Figure 15, d and e).



Figure 15: Effect of structural heterogeneity at tree level on stand productivity between developmental stages (a)–(e). Structural heterogeneity at tree level quantified by diameter differentiation. Developmental stages (a)–(e) were quantified by standing volume ($m^3 ha^{-1}$). Ivol stand volume increment ($m^3 ha^{-1} year^{-1}$). Dotted line pure stands, dashed line highest tree species diversity, solid line mean tree species diversity. Tree species diversity was quantified by the Shannon index. Diameter differentiation increasing with increasing tree size heterogeneity. Each graph contains data points of developmental stage and model function at mean standing volume of developmental stage (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019).

3.4 QIV: How does stand structural heterogeneity in age-class vs. unevenaged stands develop over time and spatial scale in different management scenarios?

First, structural heterogeneity dbh.cv and the relative productivity rel.ivol in age-class and uneven-aged stands in the three different management scenarios were descriptively presented (Figure 16).

In the age-class stands (Figure 16, I) the rel.ivol and dbh.cv were mostly stable over time in all management scenarios. In the uneven-aged stands, however, the production-oriented scenario led to contradicting trends of dbh.cv and rel.ivol (Figure 16, II). The conflicting trade-off between a high structural heterogeneity and a high stand productivity in the uneven-aged stands is already visible in the descriptive part of the results. A further investigation of this opposite trend was conducted based on GAMMs.



-multifunctional -production-oriented -set-aside

Figure 16: coefficient of variation of dbh (dbh.cv) and the relative ivol rel.ivol (%) in (I) age-class stands and (II) unevenaged stands over time in the multifunctional (blue), production-oriented (red), and set-aside scenario (green). Confidence intervals at 95% (Zeller et al., 20xx).
The applied GAMMs analyze the difference in the trade-off between the standardized structural heterogeneity str and the standardized productivity prod (str/prod) over time, spatial scale and between the three different management scenarios and between age-class and uneven-aged stands. SDI covered potential dependencies of stand productivity on stand density.

The most important finding was the difference between age-class stands and uneven-aged stands concerning the production-oriented scenario. In the uneven-aged stands did the production-oriented scenario lead to a decrease in structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity (str/prod) (Figure 17, II, row 2, b), whereas this was not the case in age-class stands (Figure 17, I, row 2, b). With increasing spatial scale did str/prod increase more strongly in the production-oriented scenario than in the multifunctional and the set-aside scenario in both age-class stands (Figure 17, I, row 3) and uneven-aged stands (Figure 17, II, row 3). With increasing spatial scale stronger in age-class stands compared to uneven-aged stands.



Figure 17: GAMM results showing development of the trade-off coefficient of variation/ivol in the examined area in (I) age-class stands and (II) uneven-aged stands depending on SDI (row 1), over time (row 2) and spatial scale (row 3) in a (a) multifunctional, (b) production-oriented, and (c) set-aside scenario. Confidence intervals at 95% (Zeller et al., 20xx).

4 Discussion

QI: Are stand productivity and wood quality in terms of tree ring width and tree ring wood density different in pure and mixed stands?

In mixed stands, the tree ring width of Scots pine was found to be higher than in pure stands, which is in line with findings of volume overyielding in volume in mixed stands (Pretzsch et al., 2015; Steckel et al., 2019). As soon as not only wood volume, but also its quality is of interest, tree ring wood density becomes an important factor. We found tree ring wood density of both Scots pine and European beech to be lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands. For Scots pine, that resulted in a by 7 % higher biomass in mixed stands whereas the biomass of European beech was by 10 % lower in mixed compared to pure stands. In total, a by 8% lower biomass in mixed stands compared to pure stands was found, despite the volume overyielding in mixed stands. The effect of mixing on wood quality, i.e. a lower tree ring wood density, therefore has to be considered in forest management as it can lower the overall biomass, the mechanical stability (Anten and Schieving, 2010), the hardness and abrasiveness of the produced wood (Bacher and Krzosek, 2014; Pretzsch and Rais, 2016), and the amount of stored carbon (Aryal et al., 2013). Apart from species mixing, stand structure has been found to influence tree ring wood density (Bues, 1985; Grammel, 1990; Hapla, 1985; Moore et al., 2015), and as a consequence also stand productivity. It is expected that tree species mixing and forest stand structure are strongly connected (Silva Pedro et al., 2017). Since the partial effects of mixing and stand structure are often difficult to detect, the interaction between tree species richness and tree size heterogeneity and their effect on stand productivity was analyzed in the second part of this thesis.

QII: How do tree species richness, tree size heterogeneity, mean annual temperature and precipitation influence forest productivity?

Both tree size heterogeneity and tree species richness influenced stand productivity in the national forest inventory plots of Germany and the USA. In Germany, tree size heterogeneity had a negative effect on stand productivity. In the USA, a slightly higher stand productivity was found in structurally more diverse stands.

For the German plots, the productivity was lower in two-species plots than in monocultures, as stated by others (Binkley, 1984; Chen and Klinka, 2003; Soares et al., 2016). A possible reason can be the generally high productivity of the previously established monocultures in Germany.

In times of changing growing conditions, this high productivity of monocultures is expected to decrease due to a higher risk of biotic and abiotic disturbance (Felton et al., 2016; Morin et al., 2014). Not only tree species richness, but also forest structure, and the interaction between the two, are influencing forest productivity (Silva Pedro et al., 2017). A negative influence of a high structural heterogeneity on productivity was found for the German plots. This negative relationship between tree species richness and productivity was less strong in stands of more than one tree species. This effect can result from the different shade-tolerance of some species (Bourdier et al., 2016), leading to a better niche exploitation and resource use in case of structured, multi-layered stands (Lei et al., 2009; Pretzsch, 2005; Zeide, 1987). In monocultures, a higher structural heterogeneity can rather lead to an increased competition load and a decrease in productivity, especially in young stands, were a vertical stratification might not be possible yet (Zeide, 1987; Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019).

The inventory plots in the USA showed a positive effect of tree species richness on productivity for up to 10 tree species. This positive diversity-productivity relationship has also been stated by others (Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Kelty, 2006; Liang et al., 2016). Structural heterogeneity had a slightly positive effect on productivity. In the US inventory plots, the effects of structural heterogeneity and species diversity on productivity were small as most of the variation in productivity was explained by the location and climate of the plots.

The differences in the diversity-structure-productivity relationship between the German and the US inventory plots might be explained by their location on different parts of a gradient concerning lattitude, annual precipitation, temperature, stand structure, and productivity.

The results suggest that if a high structural heterogeneity is aimed for due to its beneficial reasons on different ecosystems functions and services (Danescu et al., 2016; Díaz-Yáñez et al., 2017), a potential negative effect on stand productivity (Bourdier et al., 2016) might be mitigated by a higher tree species richness. Still, conflicting results on the effect of stand structure on stand productivity, as one of the most important forest service, are found (Ali, 2019) which exhibited the need for further clarification. The developmental stage was therefore expected to have a strong influence on the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity and was tested in the third study of this thesis, based on long-term experimental plot data.

QIII: Does the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity depend on tree species richness and the forest developmental stage?

Our approach showed that an increase in structural heterogeneity led to a lower stand productivity in young stands, even more so in case of a high tree species diversity. In advanced developmental stages, however, structural heterogeneity had a positive effect on stand productivity in monocultures, and an even stronger positive effect in species-diverse stands. This finding provides an explanation for the conflicting results on the interdependencies among those variables in other studies (Bourdier et al., 2016; Danescu et al., 2016; Zeller et al., 2018) after excluding other context-related effects (Vanhellemont et al., 2018). Although structural heterogeneity can lead to niche complementarity resulting in a higher productivity (Lei et al., 2009), this might not be the case in all developmental stages (Pretzsch, 2013). It situations where trees compete mainly for light, as other resources are sufficiently provided (Pretzsch and Biber, 2010; Schwinning and Weiner, 1998), a complementary light use might only be possible in case of a larger vertical stratification. In young stands this stratification might not yet be possible due to the lower tree height. In later developmental stages, a strong stratification through multiple layers can result in a better light use efficiency, leading to a positive effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity (Silva Pedro et al., 2017). The effect can be even stronger in mixed stands, due to a complementary resources use of different tree species (Richards and Schmidt, 2010).

The finding of the developmental stage as an important factor for structure-productivity relationships is vital for forest management. In commercially used forests, as in most forests in Central Europe, there is the possibility of modifying forest structure through silvicultural interventions.

QIV: How do the trade-offs between different biodiversity-relevant structural indicators and productivity change over time and spatial scale depending on silvicultural management?

Based on a descriptive and statistical analyses, the differences between management scenarios, as well as between age-class and uneven-aged stands were shown. In uneven-aged stands, but not the age-class stands, the production-oriented scenario was leading to a decrease in the structural heterogeneity per unit productivity. In uneven-aged stands, the multifunctional scenario was more suitable to cover a high structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity. A possible explanation is that the applied thinnings homogenized the uneven-aged forest stands, whereas in the age-class stands each thinning was only applied to a certain age-class. A higher structural heterogeneity could thus be maintained in a mosaic of different age-classes (Schall et al., 2018), at least when measured at a larger spatial scale. Also in terms of the species composition, which

closely influences stand structure, a mosaic landscape mixture can have advantages compared to a single-tree mixture (Heinrichs et al., 2019). In uneven-aged stands, light-demanding species might not have enough habitat species due to the continuous crown cover. In age-class stands, the younger age-classes provide different growing conditions compared to the old age-classes and can therefore offer a broader range of different habitats, which is the basis for the benefits of a high structural heterogeneity and species diversity. Still, the old-growth phase of forests is missing in most commercial forests. An inclusion of set-aside patches could help as those are important for fauna (Gärtner and Reif, 2004; MacArthur and MacArthur, 1961), flora (Benítez et al., 2015) and other ecosystem functions and services (Fedrowitz et al., 2014; Mensah et al., 2018).

5 Conclusions and Outlook

In the challenging times for forest ecosystems in Europe and worldwide, a holistic view on the interactions between different factors that influence the performance of multifunctional forests is needed. A more detailed consideration of the interactions between forest stand structure and other factors analyzed in the present thesis therefore contributes to seeing and managing forests as complex systems (Filotas et al., 2014; Messier et al., 2013). By using different types of data and considering different aspects like wood density and biomass (Zeller et al., 2017) geographical location and climate (Zeller et al., 2018), stand development (Zeller and Pretzsch, 2019), as well as spatial scale and silvicultural management (Zeller et al., 20xx), this thesis contributes to that overarching understanding. It helps to clarify the role of forest structure by showing that the effect of a high structural heterogeneity on forest productivity can have different shapes, depending on the context. The utilized data and the holistic approach seem to be reasonable in order to understand and manage forest ecosystems in times of climatic and socio-economic challenges. Through the testing of silvicultural management scenarios, it adds a practical aspect to the knowledge on forest ecosystems and can support decision-makers to modify forest stand structure with the aim of fostering the multifunctionality of forest ecosystems in the long-term.

For a complete understanding of the role of forest structure, research can focus on examining the partial effects of each influencing factor. Apart from the geographical location, tree species composition, developmental stage and silvicultural management, also changing climatic conditions and altered growing conditions should be considered. Changing climatic conditions might be incorporated through climate-sensitive models (Härkönen et al., 2019; Trasobares et al., 2016) in combination with simulations by a growth simulator, e.g. SILVA. Through the design of virtual initial forest stands of different stand structure, the effect of a certain stand structure on various output variables supporting different ecosystem functions and services in the future can be tested. Also long-term experimental plot data from regions that correspond with the climatic conditions of Germany in the future can be further used for estimating the role of forest structure in the performance of forest ecosystem under future growing conditions.

In times of big data (Lokers et al., 2016), forest research can benefit from new technologies that enable the collection and analysis of different types and large amounts of data from around the world (Global Forest Biodiversity Initiative, 2016; Henry et al., 2015). Also forest structure might then be more easily captured and analyzed in the future. In this thesis mostly structural indices were used that are based on measured tree sizes that represents horizontal and vertical stand structure. Further indices combining horizontal and vertical tree size distribution with further stand characteristics (Pastorella and Paletto, 2013; Storch et al., 2018) can be added. In the future, airborne laser scanning (Mura et al., 2015) and terrestrial laser scanning (Pascu et al., 2019; Seidel et al., 2019a) can be used more and more to quantify the 3-dimensional stand structure more efficiently. Still, an automatized recognition of single trees remains a challenge (Othmani et al., 2013) and often requires additional traditional inventory methods. As soon as an automatized recognition of single trees also in structurally complex and dense mixed stands is achieved, stand structure and tree species composition might be more easily captured in inventories and included in analyses of stand characteristics. A combination of terrestrial laser scanning and fractal analysis might then be the next step for a better quantification and understanding of forest structure in further detail (Dorji et al., 2019; Seidel et al., 2019b).

In the present thesis, stand productivity was quantified through the volume increment per ha and year. This is of course a general quantification ending at the border to a potential economic quantification. A higher productivity in terms of a higher volume growth might imply a higher carbon storage and production of fuel wood. In case of a lower wood density (Zeller et al., 2017) or lower wood quality (Pretzsch and Rais, 2016) this higher productivity can lead to lower economic yields. This effect might contradict an economic optimization were certain valuable assortments are needed. In future studies, not only overall volume growth, but also a more specific characterization of assortments and how those are influenced by a low or high structural heterogeneity could be included. Experimental plots that are treated with different types and intensities of silvicultural interventions can help to estimate the effect of silvicultural management on forest stand structure.

Thinning interventions are one way to modify stand structure. Thinning from below can homogenize a forest stand, while thinning from the top can enhance structural heterogeneity (Pretzsch, 1998). The aim of silvicultural management also shapes the performance of a forest in terms of the different ecosystem functions and services. Production-oriented management that implies a stronger thinning intensity than a multifunctional management, can lower structural heterogeneity and stability (Yücesan et al., 2015). In the present thesis, silvicultural management was tested depending on different initial stands, that can help to create comparable starting situations (Zeller et al., 20xx). Both on experimental plots where different management has been applied, as well as through the simulation of silvicultural interventions can the longterm effects on stand structure and productivity be estimated. Even in managed forests, a conscious forest structure management, e.g. in terms of a close-to-nature silviculture (Schütz et al., 2016) can foster the provision of a broad range of forest ecosystem functions and services.

For the quantification of structural effects on specific ecosystem functions and services, a backwards approach of providing a list of attributes of structural characteristics that foster the habitats of trees and plants and that support further ecosystem functions and services might be a useful contribution. A broad literature review and the incorporation of experts could be a way to further quantify the needed stand structure for certain functions and services. Those key structures can then be set as a goal to reach through silvicultural management.

6 Original Publications

6.1 Contributions of the candidate to concept, data sampling, and analysis

The candidate and the supervisor Hans Pretzsch designed the concepts for the present publications. The candidate prepared and processed the German national forest inventory data for publication 2 with the help of Susanne Brandl. During a research stay in the USA, the candidate retrieved and prepared the national forest inventory data of the USA in cooperation with Jingjing Liang. The candidate prepared and processed the long-term experimental plot data for publication 1 and 3. Astor Toraño Caicoya and Hans Pretzsch supported the candidate in conceptualizing publication 4. The candidate set up the virtual forest stands, and the structural indicators for publication 4 and Astor Toraño Caicoya conducted the simulation runs for the strata in SILVA. The candidate calculated the structural indices and conducted the data analyses, interpretation of results and writing of the publications 1-4. Hans Pretzsch supervised all publications.

6.2 Lead authorships

6.2.1 Publication 1

Titel: Tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech lower in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures

Authors: Zeller, Laura; Ammer, Christian; Annighöfer, Peter; Biber, Peter; Marshall, John; Schütze, Gerhard; del Río Gaztelurrutia, Miren; Pretzsch, Hans

Year: 2017

Journal: Forest Ecology and Management

5-year Impact Factor: 3.601

DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.018

Authors' contributions: The candidate and the supervisor Hans Pretzsch designed the concept for the study. The candidate prepared and analysed the sample cores and conducted the statistical analyses with the support of Peter Biber. Christian Ammer, Peter Annighöfer, John Marshall, Gerhard Schütze, and Miren del Río Gaztelurrutia provided data and supported the writing of the manuscript.

Abstract: Mixed species stands are on the advance in Central Europe and many recently published studies have reported that they can overyield monocultures in terms of volume growth. However, as forest research has in the past been focused on monocultures, knowledge of how mixed-species stands and monocultures compare in terms of wood quality remains limited. Based on five triplets of fully stocked monocultures and mixed stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.), we analyzed whether tree species mixing modifies wood quality and, more precisely, tree ring wood density.

From a total of 322 trees we sampled increment cores for the analyses of tree ring width and tree ring wood density using a lignostationTM. We found that tree ring width of Scots pine was, on average, 14% wider in mixed compared with pure stands. Tree ring width of European beech did not differ between pure and mixed stands. Tree ring wood density was lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands for both Scots pine (-12%) and European beech (-8%). Tree ring wood density and tree ring width were negatively correlated in the case of Scots pine and positively correlated for European beech.

When considering tree size and Stand density index, it was found that only tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density of European beech were influenced by stand density. Tree size had a significant effect only on tree ring wood density of European beech. The overall result of larger tree rings of Scots pine in mixed stands and a lower tree ring wood density of both species in mixed stands compared to pure stands was not influenced by stand density or tree size.

Based on the measured values of tree ring wood density we conducted estimates of how mixed stands performed in terms of biomass. We found stem biomass to be 8% lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands. Reasons for the revealed differences in tree ring wood density and consequences for, among others, overyielding, carbon storage, and wood quality are discussed.

Forest Ecology and Management 400 (2017) 363-374



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Forest Ecology and Management

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

Tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech lower in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures



CrossMark

L. Zeller^a, Ch. Ammer^b, P. Annighöfer^b, P. Biber^a, J. Marshall^c, G. Schütze^a, M. del Río Gaztelurrutia^{d,e}, H. Pretzsch^{a,*}

^a Chair for Forest Growth and Yield Science, Technische Universität München, Germany

^b Abteilung Waldbau und Waldökologie der gemäβigten Zonen, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Germany

^c Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden

^d Department of Silviculture and Forest Systems Management, INIA-CIFOR, Madrid, Spain

 $^{\rm e}$ Sustainable Forest Management Research Institute, University of Valladolid & INIA, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 January 2017 Received in revised form 2 June 2017 Accepted 5 June 2017

Keywords: Tree ring wood density Lignostation High-frequency densitometry Overyielding Morphological plasticity Wood quality Biomass

ABSTRACT

Mixed species stands are on the advance in Central Europe and many recently published studies have reported that they can overyield monocultures in terms of volume growth. However, as forest research has in the past been focused on monocultures, knowledge of how mixed-species stands and monocultures compare in terms of wood quality remains limited. Based on five triplets of fully stocked monocultures and mixed stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.), we analysed whether tree species mixing modifies wood quality and, more precisely, tree ring wood density.

From a total of 322 trees we sampled increment cores for the analyses of tree ring width and tree ring wood density using a LIGNOSTATION^M. We found that tree ring width of Scots pine was, on average, 14% wider in mixed compared with pure stands. Tree ring width of European beech did not differ between pure and mixed stands. Tree ring wood density was lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands for both Scots pine (-12%) and European beech (-8%). Tree ring wood density and tree ring width were negatively correlated in the case of Scots pine and positively correlated for European beech.

When considering tree size and Stand density index, it was found that only tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density of European beech were influenced by stand density. Tree size had a significant effect only on tree ring wood density of European beech. The overall result of larger tree rings of Scots pine in mixed stands and a lower tree ring wood density of both species in mixed stands compared to pure stands was not influenced by stand density or tree size.

Based on the measured values of tree ring wood density we conducted estimates of how mixed stands performed in terms of biomass. We found stem biomass to be 8% lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands. Reasons for the revealed differences in tree ring wood density and consequences for, among others, overyielding, carbon storage, and wood quality are discussed.

© 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Many recent studies provide evidence that mixed-species stands can overyield monocultures by up to 30% (Bielak et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012). Such comparisons can be based on basal area growth (Hein and Dhôte, 2006), stem volume growth (Pretzsch et al., 2015), stem biomass growth (Thurm et al., 2016), or total above-ground biomass (Pretzsch et al., 2010). On a series

of 32 triplets in pure and mixed-species stands of Scots pine and European beech along a gradient through Europe, Pretzsch et al. (2015) and Pretzsch et al. (2016) found an average overyielding of 12% in basal area and 8% in volume growth on mixed stands. Concerning the five triplets examined in this study (Pretzsch et al., 2015), volume growth and basal area growth were found to be about equal in pure and mixed stands. Scots pine was more productive in mixed stands in terms of basal area growth (+18%) and volume growth (+18%) while European beech was negatively influenced by the mixing (basal area growth -21%, volume growth -12%) when compared to the neighbouring pure stands (Table A5).

The mean overyielding in volume growth of mixed stands found on the 32 triplets and possibly the higher productivity of Scots pine

^{*} Corresponding author at: Chair for Forest Growth and Yield Science, Technische Universität München, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, D-85354 Freising, Bavaria, Germany.

E-mail address: H.Pretzsch@lrz.tum.de (H. Pretzsch).

in mixed stands found on the selection of five triplets may result from a more complex structure in mixed stands - both above and below ground (Pretzsch, 2014) – leading to a complementary resource use by the associated species (Richards et al., 2010) and a resulting reduction in competition (Vandermeer, 1989). Positive effects of a more complex structure on productivity can additionally result from e.g., hydraulic lift, atmospheric nitrogen fixation or frost protection, potentially leading to a facilitation (Callaway and Walker, 1997) of one or more species in mixture and can result in an overyielding (Forrester et al., 2006; Vandermeer, 1989). Such an overyielding is often achieved through morphological acclimation to inter-specific environments (Metz et al., 2013; Pretzsch and Dieler, 2012) where mixing can modify e.g. crown morphology (Bayer et al., 2013; Pretzsch, 2014) and root-shoot relationship (Bolte et al., 2004; Robinson et al., 2010). However, not much is known about how wood properties may be influenced by interspecific neighbourhoods.

When exploring structural differences between pure and mixed stands and the performance of species in a mixture, tree ring width and tree ring wood density can reveal more information on the processes behind mixing effects. In the case of drought, Metz et al. (2016) found wider tree rings for European beech in mixed stands compared to pure stands; this is explained by an enhanced water supply for Beech in mixed stands, which is consistent with their analysis of stable isotopes. Wider tree rings in coniferous trees are known to result in a lower tree ring wood density (DeBell et al., 1994; Franceschini et al., 2013). For European beech, tree ring wood density is not particularly influenced by tree ring width (Diaconu et al., 2016). The actual effect of tree ring width on tree ring wood density might furthermore depend on the timing of climatic events influencing growth throughout the growing season (Bouriaud et al., 2004; Franceschini et al., 2013) and the general fertility of sites (Diaconu et al., 2016). Dutilleul et al. (1998) found that the negatively correlated tree ring width and tree ring wood density in Spruce was no longer valid for very high growth rates induced by site fertility or climatically favourable conditions.

A reduction in tree ring wood density might be an appropriate indicator for reduced stress from drought events. Schuldt et al. (2016) recently showed that the vessel diameter of European beech increased and the vessel number decreased on sites with high precipitation, while the contrary was found on dry sites. As vessel density was negatively related to tree ring wood density (Schuldt et al., 2016) and Beech was found to be less water stressed in the neighbourhood of Pine (Metz et al., 2016), one may expect lower tree ring wood density in mixtures of Pine and Beech.

However, other than by Kennel (1965), the effect of mixing on tree ring wood density has hardly been explored. This is a significant lack of knowledge, as tree ring wood density has a strong effect on stem stability, wood quality, carbon content and storage, as well as on decomposition rates. If tree ring wood density differs between monocultures and mixed-species stands, it can also change how mixed stands perform in terms of dry mass productivity and C-fixation compared with monocultures.

In order to address this topic, we sampled tree ring wood density on five triplets of fully stocked monocultures and mixed stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) at different locations in Europe in order to analyse whether tree species mixing modifies wood quality. As it has the advantage of being non-destructive and time-saving, we applied highfrequency densitometry to measure tree ring width and tree ring wood density.

By further exploring the previously found overyielding in volume of mixed stands of Scots pine and European beech, we tried to find out: if tree ring width and tree ring wood density are, on average, different in pure and mixed stands (QI); if tree ring wood density is independent of tree ring width (QII); and if tree ring width and tree ring wood density in pure and mixed stands are different for equal tree size and at equal stand density (QIII). Based on QI–QIII we developed the following hypotheses:

HI: Mean tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density in pure and mixed stands are equal.

HII: Tree ring width and tree ring wood density are independent.

HIII: For trees of equal size and at equal stand density, mean tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density in pure and mixed stands are equal.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Material

2.1.1. Study area

Each of the five locations examined in this study consists of a triplet containing one mixed stand of Scots pine and European beech and one pure stand of each species. Three of the triplets are located in the south of Germany (Alzenau, Bamberg and Steigerwald), one in eastern Germany (Teupitzer Forst) and one in northern Spain (Huerta de abajo) (Fig. 1). Their similarity in terms of stand characteristics (Pretzsch et al., 2015) provides the basis for comparisons between pure and mixed stands. Geographical data of the five triplets is presented in Table 1.

2.1.2. Data

In this study we measured the tree ring width and tree ring wood density of 163 tree cores of Scots pine and 159 tree cores of European beech, sampled in 2015. Only dominant trees were sampled. Among those, random sampling was applied. The stands are between 40 and 80 years old (Pretzsch et al., 2015), when relating to total tree age. All tree cores (one per tree) were taken either from the northern or the eastern side of the trees at breast height. The latest fully built tree ring valid for our analysis is from 2014. Due to a decreasing sample size when going back further in time, we included only tree rings from 1950 and later. Since only a few samples contained juvenile wood and did not change model outcomes significantly in test runs, all tree ring data from 1950 until 2014 was included. There has been no thinning on the plots in recent years, which is why stand density index (SDI) is close to maximum (Pretzsch et al., 2015).

SDI values of the mixed stands were calculated by adding up individual SDI values per species in the mixture in order to obtain one SDI value per mixed stand and triplet.

Table A1 shows the most important characteristics of the five locations and their pure and mixed stands of Scots pine and European beech examined in this study. For a more detailed overview of the trees examined in this study see Table A2.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. High-frequency densitometry

For the measurements of ring width and tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech, we used a LIGNOSTATION[™]. The use of high-frequency densitometry allows for non-destructive and quick measurements (Schinker et al., 2003) compared to the commonly used X-ray densitometry (Wassenberg et al., 2014).

For the measurements using a LIGNOSTATION[™], a probe moves along the wood surface with a pressure of 1 N, which is needed to prevent the measurement of air between the probe and wood sample material (Schinker et al., 2003). The tip of the probe contains a transmitting electrode as well as a receiving electrode; the two being separated from each other by a metal shield to avoid direct



Fig. 1. The analysed triplets Alzenau (Ger 2), Bamberg (Ger 3), Steigerwald (Ger 5), Teupitzer Forst (Ger 7), Huerta de abajo (Sp 1).

Table 1	
Geographical information about the triplets.	

Name	Code	Latitude N	Longitude E	Altitude a.s.l. (m)	Precipitation (mm year ⁻¹)	Temperature (°C)	Geological substrate
Alzenau	Ger 2	50°06′48.74″	09°03′54.36″	250	720	9.0	Slightly loamy sand
Bamberg	Ger 3	49°53′11.64″	10°58′13.12″	250	650	8.0	Loamy sand
Steigerwald	Ger 5	10°38'10.10''	49°47′55.91′'	125	713	9.5	Slightly loamy sand
Teupitzer Forst	Ger 7	52°04′45.55″	13°37'06.05"	60	520	8.6	Sandy
Huerta de abajo	Sp 1	42°05′57.00″	$-03^{\circ}-10'-19.00''$	1290	860	8.9	Sandy loam

Reference period for climate data: 1994-2013.

'flow' of the electromagnetic field. The dielectric properties of wood are determined by the ratio of cell wall material and air. By measuring the amount of the transmitted signal received on the other side of the shield, the tree ring wood density of the sample material is calculated automatically (Schinker et al., 2003).

All tree cores were stored in the same room prior to the scanning process to avoid big differences in humidity and temperature. If no diamond fly cutter is available, Wassenberg et al. (2015) suggest sanding for sample preparation as the best solution. We sanded the sampled tree cores with 180-, 400- and 800-grid sanding paper using a belt sander and 1200-grid sanding paper in manually applied sanding in order to achieve an adequately smooth surface to ensure an accurate and uninterrupted scan (Wassenberg et al., 2015, p. 11). Even though the absolute values of tree ring wood density obtained in this way may differ from other measuring methods, relative comparisons are still possible because all samples were measured under the same conditions and adjustments. The only alteration we applied was to reduce the adjustments for height by 1 mm for European beach leading to a higher pressure of the probe on the wood surface for the samples of this species. We did so because using the same height adjustments for European beech as for Scots pine did not yield any reasonable measurement results. We assumed that the higher tree ring wood density of European beech created the need to apply a higher pressure on the sample surface.

When comparing values for tree ring wood density measured in this study to mean values per species generated by water displacement measurements in other studies, the differences between values produced by the two methods, especially for European beech, become visible. Further calibration of the LIGNOSTATION[™] would be needed to generate absolute values in tree ring wood density. We assumed that our samples had a humidity of about 12% after they had been stored at room temperature. When comparing high-frequency densitometry and water displacement measurements from different untreated stands, Kemmerer (2016) and Räbel (2016) found values from high-frequency densitometry to be 4% higher for Scots pine and 20% lower for European beech compared to water displacement measurements. Correction factors of 0.92 for Scots pine and 1.19 for European beech (Table A6) deduced from this comparison were used in our study to convert measured values of the LIGNOSTATIONTM into absolute tree ring wood density values. These were then used for biomass calculations (Table A5).

Since the focus of our study was to compare pure and mixed stands, measuring relative differences in tree ring wood density was the main objective. In order to estimate the difference between our results measured and real values of tree ring wood density (Table A6), we compared our results to 30 samples of Scots pine and 30 samples of European beech analysed in water in displacement measurements (Saranpää, 2003b). The samples come

from different sites and are aggregated into a mean value which serves as a reference.

2.2.2. Linear mixed effects model

Dealing with hierarchical or nested data means taking into consideration that samples are not independent from each other. Samples belonging to one group or repeated measures of a certain location or individual might have the same random effects (Crawley, 2009, p. 627). The sampling data does therefore not meet the assumption of independence which would be necessary in linear regression models (Zuur et al., 2009, p. 102). By including not only fixed effects but also random effects, linear mixed effects models are applied in order to avoid the so-called 'pseudoreplica tion' (Crawley, 2009, p. 629). The random effect included in our models addresses intercorrelation of the samples caused by being part of the same triplet as well as tree rings belonging to one tree.

In order to address hypotheses HI-HIII, we set up model functions to describe the effect of mixing, diameter at breast height (DBH) and stand density index (SDI) on ring width and tree ring wood density using linear mixed effects models. Non-significant factors in the initial model functions were then eliminated in stepwise reduction resulting in final model functions ([1.a], [1.b], [2], [3.*a*], [3.*b*]). Stepwise reduction is used in order to acquire a model function with correct p-values describing the effect of different factors on a variable (Crawley, 2009, p. 635). For HI, only the mixing effect and the nested design of the data are considered ([1.a], [1. b]) and predictions for operational decisions concerning mean ring width and mean tree ring wood density per tree over all examined triplets are made. For HII, using single tree ring data was necessary for analysing the influence of ring width on tree ring wood density ([2]). The model functions for HIII are supposed to analyse the effects of mixing on mean ring width and mean tree ring wood density in pure and mixed stands for equal tree size and stand density ([3.a], [3.b]). Here, as for HI, we used mean values per tree to enable values of stand density to be included in the model function.

For the application of linear mixed-effects models we used the lme function of the nlme package in R (Pinheiro et al., 2016).

We set up the following model functions in order to address questions QI–QIII:

QI: Are mean tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density equal in monocultures and mixed-species stands?

The following model functions describe the mixing effect on mean ring width and mean tree ring wood density, respectively, in order to examine if there are significant differences between pure and mixed stands.

$$RW_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + b_i + \varepsilon_{ij} \tag{1.a}$$

$$MD_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + b_i + \varepsilon_{ij}$$

$$(1.b)$$

 RW_{ij} is the mean ring width per tree j on triplet i. MD_{ij} is the mean tree ring wood density per tree j on triplet i. Mix_{ij} is the effect of mixing on tree ring width or tree ring wood density for tree j on triplet i. Parameter a_0 is the intercept, thus tree ring width or tree ring wood density in pure stands, i.e. the mixing factor equals 0. Potential differences in site characteristics on the different triplets are addressed by a random effect b_i for triplet i. The error term ε_{ij} contains the remaining unexplained variation for tree j on triplet i.

QII: Is tree ring wood density independent from tree ring width?

The influence of tree ring width on tree ring wood density is defined by the following model function.

$$D_{ijk} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + a_3 * RW_{ijk} + b_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$

$$\tag{2}$$

 D_{ijk} is the tree ring wood density of a tree ring k (according to the calendar year) of tree j on triplet i. RW_{ijk} is the width of a tree ring k of tree j on triplet i and is examined as the main effect. Differences between the triplets due to site characteristics and the nested design of tree rings belonging to one tree are addressed by random effect b_{ij} . All remaining variation that is not explained by the model is contained in ϵ_{iijk} .

QIII: Are tree ring width and tree ring wood density equal in pure and mixed stands for equal tree size and stand density?

In order to analyse if the effect of mixing on tree ring width depends on stand characteristics, we included stand density index in the model. As tree ring width and DBH in even-aged stands represent the same information, DBH was not included in this model function.

$$RW_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + a_4 * SDI_{ij} + a_6 * Mix_{ij} * SDI_{ij} + b_i + \varepsilon_{ij} \quad (3.a)$$

For analysing the mixing effect on tree ring wood density for equal tree size and at equal stand density we chose to include diameter at breast height (DBH) and stand density index (SDI). Even though values of individual tree rings were used for the analysis under HII, we used mean values per tree for tree ring width and tree ring wood density in this case in order to enable the expansion of the model by the static SDI values. Non-significant factors, such as threeway and most of the potential two-way interactions were eliminated in stepwise reduction. The interaction term of a main effect with the mixing factor Mix_{ij} addresses the influence of a main effect in the mixed stand. Model functions were only applied if a visual precheck of the data was considered meaningful.

$$MD_{ij} = a_0 + a_1 * Mix_{ij} + a_2 * DBH_{ij} + a_4 * SDI_{ij} + a_5 * Mix_{ij} * DBH_{ij} + a_6 * Mix_{ij} * SDI_{ij} * b_i + \varepsilon_{ij}$$
(3.b)

We then applied a correction factor to the tree ring wood density values measured in this study (Table A6) and used volume measurements from previous studies on the same triplets (Pretzsch et al., 2015) for a rough calculation of biomass of both species in order to compare their performance in pure and mixed stands (Table A5).

3. Results

Tree ring width in Scots pine and European beech declined over time (Fig. 2). Tree ring wood density was more constant over time and was lower in mixture than in pure stands for both species.

3.1. QI: Are mean tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density equal in pure and mixed stands?

First, when only examining the effect of mixing, Scots pine appeared to have a 14% higher tree ring width in mixed stands compared to pure stands. Tree ring width of European beech showed an opposite trend in mixed stands (-5%) compared to pure stands but the difference was non-significant. Tree ring wood density of Scots pine was 12% lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands. For European beech, tree ring wood density was 8% lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands (Fig. 3 and Table 2).

3.2. QII: Is tree ring wood density independent from tree ring width?

When looking at all tree rings, tree ring wood density of Scots pine was negatively correlated with tree ring width and thus significantly decreased with increasing tree ring width (Fig. 4 and Table 2). Tree ring wood density in European beech was positively correlated with tree ring width and therefore significantly



Fig. 2. Tree ring width of Scots pine (a) and European beech (b) and tree ring wood density of Scots pine (c) and European beech (d) in pure and mixed stands from 1950 to 2014.



Fig. 3. Differences between pure and mixed stands in mean tree ring width of Scots pine (a) p < 0.05, R² = 0.07 and European beech (b) n.s. and differences in mean tree ring wood density of Scots pine (c) p < 0.001, R² = 0.39 and European beech (d) p < 0.001, R² = 0.09.

Tat	ole 2	2		
-		C 11		

Results of linear mixed-effects model functions QI-QIII.

Model function	Depend. var.	Species	Value	Intercept	Mix	DBH	RW	SDI	Mix * DBH	Mix * SDI	Mixing effect (%)	R ² (conditional)
				a ₀	a ₁	a ₂	a ₃	a ₄	a ₅	a ₆		
		Sc.p. E.be.	Mean Mean			239.3 227.00	219.90 186.96	986.50 815.70				
QI	Mean ring width	Sc. p.	Value SE p-value	206.80 6.25 .000	29.03 8.92 .001						14.04	0.07
	Mean ring width	E. be.	Value SE p-value	191.38 10.33 .000	-10.21 8.81 .248						-5.33	0.07
	Mean wood density	Sc. p.	Value SE p-value	595.63 28.16 .000	- 72.87 15.79 .000						-12.23	0.39
	Mean wood density	E. be.	Value SE p-value	665.43 11.09 .000	- 50.1 13.35 .000						-7.53	0.09
QII	Wood density	Sc. p.	Value SE p-value	629.27 38.98 .000	- 95.85 3.13 .000		- 0.10 0.01 .000					0.79
	Wood density	E. be.	Value SE p-value	637.93 8.05 .000	- 12.00 2.95 .000		0.048 0.008 .000					0.66
QIII	Mean ring width	Sc. p.	Value SE p-value	190.8 22.88 .000	30.44 9.11 .001			n.s.		n.s.	15.95	0.07
	Mean ring width	E. be.	Value SE p-value	254.99 28.57 .000	n.s.			- 0.08 0.03 .017		n.s.	0.00	0.12
	Mean wood density	Sc. p.	Value SE p-value	not analysed ^a								
	Mean wood density	E. be.	Value SE p-value	490.17 46.61 .000	- 48.14 12.98 .000	0.27 0.09 .003		0.14 0.04 .001	n.s.	n.s.	-7.23	0.18

Scots pine, Sc. P.; European beech, E. be.; grey parts, not included in model; non-significant effects eliminated in stepwise reduction, n.s.

Values in bold significant at p < 0.05.

Calculation of mixing effect (%) by inserting mean values in linear mixed-effects model function. ^a Visual pre-check showed no meaningful dependency of data.



Fig. 4. Correlation of tree ring width and tree ring wood density in pure and mixed stands of Scots pine (a) p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.79$ and European beech (b) p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.66$. Total number of observations/tree rings: 13301.

increased with increasing tree ring width. Interaction effects with mixture were eliminated due to non-significance.

3.3. *QIII: Are mean tree ring width and mean tree ring wood density equal in monocultures and mixed-species stands of equal tree size and equal stand density?*

When examining not only mixing, but also stand density index (SDI) as potential effects on tree ring width, it was found that SDI did not have any effect on tree ring width of Scots pine. For European beech, tree ring width and stand density index were negatively correlated. After considering the effect of stand density index, it was shown that mixing still did not have any effect on tree ring width in European beech (Fig. 5 and Table 2).

When calculating tree ring width using the expanded model function (Tables 2 and A3), it was found that tree ring width of Scots pine in mixed stands was 16% higher than in pure stands. For European beech no difference in tree ring width between pure and mixed stands was found. These values differ slightly from HI due to different model functions used for their calculation. Nevertheless, the results show that when considering tree size and stand density, the mixing effect found under HI for Scots pine remains valid.

The effects of mixture, DBH and SDI on tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech are presented in Fig. 7 and Table 2.



Fig. 5. Effect of stand density index on tree ring width of Scots pine and European beech. For Scots pine (R² = 0.07): SDI (a) n.s. For European beech (R² = 0.12): SDI (b) p < 0.05.



Fig. 6. Tree ring wood density, SDI and DBH in pure and mixed stands of Scots pine. No model was fitted to the data.



Fig. 7. Tree ring wood density, SDI and DBH in pure and mixed stands of European beech. (a) and (b) Mixing effect, SDI and DBH significant p < 0.005, R² = 0.18.

For Scots pine, testing of possible relationships between DBH, SDI and tree ring wood density were not considered after a visual pretest showed that in the given data no relationships can be found (Fig. 6). The 12% lower tree ring wood density of Scots pine in mixed stands found under HI therefore remains valuable and demonstrates that the mixing effect is reliable and does not change with stand density or tree size. The negative relationship between tree ring wood density and tree ring width is not visible in DBH since mean DBH values per tree are used.

For European beech, SDI and DBH significantly influenced tree ring wood density, but the size of the effect was equal in pure and mixed stands. In the mixture, tree ring wood density of European beech was found to be 7% lower than in pure stands. This shows that the mixing effect found under HI (-8%) is still present and significant after excluding the effects of tree size and stand density index (Tables 2 and A4).

After measuring mean tree ring wood density of pure and mixed stands, we used the generated values from HI to calculate how mixed stands were performing compared to pure stands in terms of biomass production (Table A5). Scots pine was producing 11% more biomass in mixed stands than in pure stands. European beech in mixed stands produced 10% less biomass. In total, biomass was 8% lower in mixed stands compared to pure stands. To calculate biomass we applied correction factors of 0.92 for Scots pine and 1.19 for European beech in order to enable comparisons of tree ring wood density values between the two species. Correction factors were derived from an internal study comparing high-frequency densitometry and water displacement measurements (Table A6) and help to overcome the issue of high-frequency measurements not providing absolute tree ring wood density values (see Methods).

4. Discussion

4.1. Interpretation of results

Tree ring width of Scots pine was found to be significantly higher in mixed stands versus pure stands, whereas tree ring width of European beech was not significantly influenced by the mixing with Scots pine. Tree ring wood density was lower in mixed stands for both species.

The results can contribute to understanding the differences between pure and mixed stands in terms of basal area growth and volume growth. When trying to explain mixing effects on volume growth, significant variations in allometric variables between species can play an important role and should therefore be considered (Monserud and Marshall, 1999).

Studies about tree ring wood density are still rare but Kennel (1965) found that tree ring wood density of European beech was not affected by the mixing with Norway spruce when examining

fully stocked mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech. Norway spruce, however, had a significantly higher tree ring wood density in the mixed stands. Pretzsch and Rais (2016) found that in seven of the nine reported comparative studies concerning complex and homogeneous stands, tree ring wood density was not influenced by the mixing of species even though tree ring width variability seems to increase in complex stands.

We hypothesise that the differences in tree ring wood density between the pure and mixed stands of our study are a result of acclimatisation to an inter-specific neighbourhood. For that purpose, tree species may change their growth partitioning in mixed-species stands. The internal tree resource allocation may prioritise growth and expansion at the expense of stability and defence when coping with inter-specific competition. The size growth of a tree enhances its access to light and, consequently, both species will follow the strategy of growth rather than defence (Matyssek et al., 2005, 2012).

Most of the comparisons of productivity in mixed and pure stands are based on stem volume production (Liang et al., 2016; Pretzsch et al., 2015). Comparisons based on total biomass production may produce different results, as tree species mixing can change stem-crown allometry (Bayer et al., 2013), root-shoot relationship (Thurm et al., 2017) and also tree ring width and tree ring wood density (Pretzsch and Rais, 2016). An increase in crown size in relation to stem size in mixed-species stands as reported by Dieler and Pretzsch (2013) and Pretzsch (2014) would mean that the overyielding is even higher when calculated for the total above-ground volume of mixed versus pure stands. However, the decrease in root in relation to shoot growth as reported by Thurm et al. (2017) and the lower tree ring wood density in mixed stands revealed in our study can consequently modify the overyielding of mixed stands as soon as total biomass is taken into account. In our study, biomass in mixed stands calculated from stem volume and tree ring wood density is lower than in pure stands despite the measured overyielding in volume on mixed stands.

When examining the relation between tree ring width and tree ring wood density, we found tree ring wood density of both Scots pine and European beech to be clearly dependent on tree ring width, negatively related in the case Scots pine and positively related in the case of European beech. Supporting our findings, Genet et al. (2012) state that the way in which tree ring width and tree ring wood density are related depends on whether the tree is a conifer, ring-porous hardwood or diffuse-porous hardwood. In ring-porous trees like oak or ash, growth rate and tree ring wood density were found to be positively correlated, whereas softwood species like Pine show a decreasing tree ring wood density with increasing growth rate. Tree ring wood density in diffuseporous hardwood species, like beech, acer or birch is usually not influenced by tree ring width (Diaconu et al., 2016; Hakkila, 1989). Finally, when also considering tree size and stand density for HIII in order to test if the differences between pure and mixed stands found for HI represent real mixing effects, the mixing effect on tree ring width were shown to still be significant for Scots pine.

Tree ring width of European beech remained unaffected by mixing for equal tree size and stand density as found under HI.

When looking at tree ring wood density, the non-existing influence of stand density and tree size on tree ring wood density of Scots pine show that the mixing effects found under HI are valid.

For European beech, we found a 7% lower tree ring wood density in mixed compared to pure stands. Differing values in the results found under HI come from an only approximate means of calculating tree ring wood density involving the insertion of mean values in the final model function. Nevertheless, the significantly lower tree ring wood density of European beech in mixed stands compared to pure stands is visible even though stand density is considered in HIII.

The fact that stand structure can influence tree ring wood density is also stated by Bues (1985), Grammel (1990), Hapla (1985), Todaro and Macchioni (2011), Brazier and Mobbs (1993), Larocque and Marshall (1995), Moore et al. (2015) and Zhang et al. (2006) who found a reduction in tree ring wood density of coniferous trees with increasing spacing and thinning which could not be shown in our study. Tree ring wood density of deciduous trees is rather known to remain unaffected in most cases (Metzger, 1998; Pérez and Kanninen, 2005). This differs from the results of our study which showed a significant effect of SDI on tree ring wood density for European beech. These findings still suggest that stand density should be taken into account when examining mixing effects in order to exclude potential dependencies of tree ring wood density on stand density. Apart from stand structure and species-specific traits, climatic conditions and site characteristics can have an impact on the correlation of tree ring width and tree ring wood density (Bernhart, 1964; Krempl, 1977).

4.2. Relevance for forest management

The consequences of a reduction in tree ring wood density could include e.g. a loss of mechanical stability (Anten and Schieving, 2010) against e.g. breakage by wind or snow since tree ring wood density is strongly correlated with timber strength (Saranpää, 2003b), hardness and abrasiveness (Bacher and Krosek, 2014; Pretzsch and Rais, 2016). It still remains to be proven whether or not the reduction in tree ring wood density in mixed stands found in this study negatively influences stability.

When it comes to carbon storage, a lower tree ring wood density results in lower carbon content in a given stock of standing volume. Our finding that tree ring wood density of both species in mixed stands is lower than in pure stands indicates a lower amount of carbon storage under ceteris paribus conditions; i.e. if other characteristics such as stem shape, root-shoot and stem-crown allometry are similar in pure and mixed stands. As the proportion of crown, branches and twigs in relation to stem is higher in mixed than in pure stands (Dieler and Pretzsch, 2013) part of the lower biomass associated with tree ring wood density reduction may be cancelled out or overcompensated by a higher branch fraction. Allometric functions made for pure stands will have to be adapted to mixed stands and include differences in allometric traits of individual trees in mixture and interaction effects (Pretzsch, 2014) in order to estimate and compare productivity of pure and mixed stands.

When the resource-use efficiency of a forest (Binkley, 2012), e.g. biomass per ha of forest, is calculated, an overyielding in volume of mixed forests can lead to the conclusion that resource-use efficiency is higher. When focussing on the production of quality timber only, an overyielding in stem volume found on mixed stands can be an advantage disregarding a lower tree ring wood density, given that stability is still sufficient despite reductions in tree ring

wood density. Ongoing studies on within-tree growth partitioning in mixed versus pure stands will clarify how mixed stands perform compared to pure stands. Here, results depend on whether stand productivity is defined by stem volume productivity, which is of primary interest for forestry, or by total biomass production, which is relevant for ecosystem understanding and carbon balance.

4.3. Methodological considerations

The analysis of tree ring wood density in this study is especially interesting as it is usually measured by weight and volume or X-ray scanning (Beall, 2007; Saranpää, 2003a). The new method used in our analysis, high-frequency densitometry, offers an alternative to these time-consuming and destructive methods. When comparing high-frequency densitometry and X-ray densitometry, Schinker et al. (2003, p. 235) found similar results for tree ring wood density of Norway spruce. Until now, high-frequency densitometry has mostly been used to calculate relative values and variations in tree ring wood density. To achieve absolute mass density values, a more accurate calibration for each tree species would be necessary (Wassenberg et al., 2014).

Concerning sample preparation, an extra device – when using a belt sander instead of a diamond fly cutter – can be useful for a more precise alignment of the sample on the belt sander. Manually induced contact of the sample on the belt sander can lead to a lower geometrical accuracy of the surface. Reducing the grain size of the sanding paper in order to reduce problems caused by sanding dust on the wood surface could also be considered to improve scanning results (Wassenberg et al., 2015, p. 14). More studies on the precision of high-frequency densitometry are currently being conducted.

Concerning the statistical method in our study, a larger sample size and stands with more homogenous stand densities could help to clarify the effect of SDI on tree ring width and tree ring wood density. Biomass calculated in this study also varied between locations. This suggests the need to verify correction factors through an expansion of this study to the whole set of 32 triplets and also to measure tree ring wood density of all examined triplets also in water displacement measurements. Since some of the tree rings included in this analysis were juvenile wood and thus not as representative as a normal tree ring, we also ran parts of the analysis for the last 30 years only and compared results. As results were not significantly different from the dataset containing all 65 years from 1950, the data was still included in the analysis thereby providing a larger sample pool.

4.4. Perspectives

This study is based on a limited dataset. In further studies, more triplets could be included in order to find out if the outcome of this study applies to other triplets, different site characteristics and climatic conditions. Also, inter-annual climatic conditions, which can influence tree ring width and tree ring wood density tested on pure and mixed stands (Bouriaud et al., 2004; Miina, 2000; Olivar et al., 2015; Ponton et al., 2001), might have to be considered. Additionally, different species compositions could be tested for inter-species reactions, potential competition or niche separation and resulting differences in tree ring width or tree ring wood density. In ongoing research, mixing effects on tree ring wood density are also being analysed in greater detail by taking tree cores not only from breast height, but also from different heights across the tree stem.

Another relevant topic is the effect of inter-annual climatic conditions on tree ring wood density. Since the triplets examined in this study have not undergone any silvicultural treatments in recent years, similar studies on more intensively managed and productively used sites could provide further results. In particular, the combination of initial stand structure and short-term and longterm silvicultural treatments that imply changes in stand structure seems to be an interesting topic in the investigation of mixing effects and should be analysed more intensively in this context. In any case, tree ring wood density should be examined further in order to improve estimates of biomass production, carbon storage, stem stability and decomposition rates in mixed-species forests. These factors may be especially important when trying to gather a more complete estimate of forest resources and the question of how to manage them sustainably in the long term.

Acknowledgements

Table A1

The networking in this study was supported by COST Action FP1206 EuMIXFOR. All contributors thank their national funding institutions and the woodland owners for agreeing to establish, measure, and analyse data from the triplets.

The first and last author also thank the Bayerischen Staatsforsten (BaySF) for supporting the establishment of the plots in Bavaria, the Bavarian State Ministry for Food, Agriculture and Forestry for ongoing support of the project W 07 'Long-term experimental plots for forest growth and yield research' (# 7831-23953 W07), and the German Science foundation for funding the project 'Structure and growth of mixed Scots pine/European beech stands compared with pure stands analyzed along an ecological gradient through Europe.' (GZ: PR 292/15-1, AOBJ: 623444). Finally we thank the anonymous reviewers for their constructive criticism.

Appendix A.

See Tables A1-A6.

Stand characteristics of pure and mixed stands of Scots pine and European beech. Triplet Species n Stand age (years) N (trees ha⁻¹) d_q (cm) $h_{q}(m)$ SDI (ha⁻¹) $V (m^3 ha^{-1})$ $IV (m^3 ha^{-1} year^{-1})$ Ger 2 Sc p. mono 22 55 1461 21.21 25.28 1122 581 21.90 26.83 329 10.50 Sc p. mixed 22 55 471 27.39 528 E. be. mono 21 55 2022 16.46 22.39 1034 474 21.50 20 55 490 300 E. be. mixed 604 21.94 25.98 13.73 Ger 3 Sc p. mono 21 47 2054 16.81 20.69 1086 407 19.99 Sc p. mixed 13 47 1529 15 56 20 59 714 255 12 97 E. be. mono 19 47 2090 14.22 20.95 845 334 16.87 E. be. mixed 13 47 1099 13.49 19.29 408 144 7.19 22.31 1103 517 19 57 1324 22 43 17 69 Sc p. mono Ger 5 Sc p. mixed 19 57 346 29 55 26.15 452 256 7.27 17.48 921 22.50 E. be. mono 14 57 1635 23.88 482 372 E. be. mixed 16 57 489 21.07 24.99 219 8.76 Sp 1 Sc p. mono 9 40 1667 20.24 1620 1188 399 12.40 Sc p. mixed 6 40 1082 21.32 17.33 838 310 11.65 E be mono 40 2542 12.75 1638 862 248 15 34 6 E. be. mixed 5 40 1477 11.20 15.22 407 99 5.23 Ger 7 Sc p. mono 16 80 1579 13.75 15.49 605 162 7.77 25 94 Sc p. mixed 6 80 82 21.79 87 44 1 94 E. be. mono 18 80 300 29.54 24.40 392 266 9.36 250 E. be. mixed 20 80 327 21.17 17.31 105 5.04

Five triplets were included consisting of one mixed-species stand and two mono-specific stands each.

Scots pine, Sc. P.; European beech, E. be.; monocultures, mono; mixed-species stands, mixed.

Tree number (trees ha^{-1}), N; quadratic mean diameter (cm), dq; height of the tree with quadratic mean diameter (m), hq; stand density index (trees ha^{-1}), SDI; standing volume (m³ ha^{-1}), V; periodic annual volume increment (m³ ha^{-1} year⁻¹), IV.

Table A2

Sample trees of Scots pine and European beech in pure and mixed stands.

Sc. p. mono (n = 87) Diameter at breast height mm 218.06 40.69 Crown radius ^a m 1.49 0.54 Crown ratio m m ⁻¹ 0.29 0.06 Tree ring width mm/100 207.24 55.40
Diameter at breast height mm 218.06 40.69 Crown radius ^a m 1.49 0.54 Crown ratio m m ⁻¹ 0.29 0.06 Tree ring width mm/100 207.24 55.40
Crown radius ^a m 1.49 0.54 Crown ratio m m ⁻¹ 0.29 0.06 Tree ring width mm/100 207.24 55.40
Crown ratio m m ⁻¹ 0.29 0.06 Tree ring width mm/100 207.24 55.40 Sc. p. mixed (n = 66) 55.40 55.40
Tree ring width mm/100 207.24 55.40 Sc. p. mixed (n = 66) 55.40 <t< td=""></t<>
Sc. p. mixed (n = 66)
Diameter at breast height mm 267.27 61.02
Crown radius ^a m 1.44 0.53
Crown ratio $m m^{-1}$ 0.28 0.08
Tree ring width mm/100 236.51 53.69
E. be. mono (n = 78)
Diameter at breast height mm 237.16 110.35
Crown radius ^a m 1.79 0.6
Crown ratio $m m^{-1}$ 0.52 0.17
Tree ring width mm/100 191.67 53.14
E. be. mixed (n = 74)
Diameter at breast height mm 216.39 89.71
Crown radius ^a m 2.22 0.94
Crown ratio m m ⁻¹ 0.61 0.17
Tree ring width mm/100 182.01 60.04

Five triplets were included consisting of one mixed-species stand and two mono-specific stands each.

Scots pine, Sc. P.; European beech, E. be.; monocultures, mono; mixed-species stands, mixed

^a No data available for triplet Ger 7.

Table A3 Calculations of overall tree ring width resulting from linear mixed effects model QIII.

	Intercept	Mix	DBH	SDI	Mix * DBH	Mix * SDI	Result	Diff. absolut	Diff. in%
	a ₀	a ₁	a ₂	a4	a 5	a ₆			
Results Ime Sc. P. Mean value Ring width Sc. p. pure Ring width Sc. p. mixed Results Ime E. be. Mean value Ring width E. be. pure	190.8 254.99	30.44		-0.08 815.70			190.80 221.24 189.73	30.44	15.95
Ring width E. be. pure Ring width E. be. mixed							189.73 189.73	0.00	0.

Scots pine, Sc. p.; European beech, E. be.; linear mixed-effects model, lme.

Table A4

Calculations of overall tree ring wood density resulting from linear mixed effects model QIII.

	Intercept	Mix	DBH	SDI	Mix * DBH	Mix * SDI	Result	Diff. absolut	Diff. in%
	a ₀	a ₁	a ₃	a4	a ₅	a ₆			
Results Ime Sc. P. Mean value Wood density Sc. p. pure Wood density Sc. p. mixed Results Ime E. be. Mean value Wood density E. be. pure Wood density E. be. mixed	Not analysed ⁴ 490.17	-48.14	0.27 227	0.14 815.7			665.66 617.52	-48.14	-7.23

Scots pine, Sc. p.; European beech, E. be.; linear mixed-effects model, lme. ^a Visual pre-check showed no meaningful dependency of data.

Table A5

Calculation of basal area, volume and biomass on the five triplets examined in this study and the difference between pure and mixed stands.

Stand variable	Mixed _{obs/} Mixed	d _{exp}	Sc.p. _m /Sc.p. _p		E.be. _m /E.be. _p		
	Mean	SE	Mean	SE	Mean	SE	
BA	1.03	0.10	1.13	0.20	0.92	0.05	
V	1.07	0.10	1.22	0.18	0.91	0.08	
PAIBA (m ² ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)	0.98	0.08	1.18	0.35	0.79	0.19	
PAIV (m ³ ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)	1.02	0.09	1.18	0.25	0.88	0.10	
Biomass (kg)	0.92	0.12	1.11	0.13	0.90	0.13	

Variables listed include basal area (BA), volume (V), periodic annual basal area increment (PAIBA) and periodic annual volume increment (PAIV).

Table A6

Correction factors deduced from study on the comparison of water displacement measurements and high-frequency densitometry.

Species	Wood density (kg m ⁻³))	Correction factor
	Water displacement	High frequency	
Sc. p. E. be.	554.25 701.85	609.74 592.70	0.92 1.19

Scots pine, Sc. P.; European beech, E. be., mean values from internal study on comparison of water displacement method and high-frequency densitometry.

References

- Anten, N.P., Schieving, F., 2010. The role of wood mass density and mechanical constraints in the economy of tree architecture. Am. Nat. 175, 250–260.
- Bacher, M., Krosek, S., 2014. Bending and tension strength classes in European standards. Annals of Warsaw University of Life Sciences - SGGW. Forestry and Wood Technology 88.
- Bayer, D., Seifert, S., Pretzsch, H., 2013. Structural crown properties of Norway spruce (Picea abies [L.] Karst.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica [L.]) in mixed versus pure stands revealed by terrestrial laser scanning. Trees 27, 1035– 1047.
- Beall, F.C., 2007. Industrial Applications and Opportunities for Nondestructive Evaluation of Structural Wood Members. Ciencia y tecnología, Maderas, pp. 127–134.
- Bernhart, A.N., 1964. Untersuchungen über Rohdichte und Struktur von Fichtenholz aus dem Bayerischen Wald. München, Staatswirtsch. F., Diss. v. 17. Juli 1964 (Nur in beschr. Anz. f. d. Aust.), München.

- Bielak, K., Dudzińska, M., Pretzsch, H., 2014. Mixed stands of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and Norway spruce [Picea abies (L.) Karst] can be more productive than monocultures. Evidence from over 100 years of observation of long-term experiments. Forest Syst. 23, 573.
- Binkley, D., 2012. Understanding the role of resource use efficiency in determining the growth of trees and forests. In: Schlichter, T., Montes, L. (Eds.), Forests in Development: A Vital Balance. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 13–26.
- Bolte, A., Rahmann, T., Kuhr, M., Pogoda, P., Murach, D., Gadow, K.v., 2004. Relationships between tree dimension and coarse root biomass in mixed stands of European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) and Norway spruce (Picea abies[L.] Karst.). Plant Soil 264, 1–11.
- Bouriaud, O., Bréda, N., Le Moguédec, G., Nepveu, G., 2004. Modelling variability of wood density in beech as affected by ring age, radial growth and climate. Trees 18, 264–276.
- Brazier, J.D., Mobbs, I.D., 1993. The influence of planting distance on structural wood yields of unthinned Sitka spruce. Forestry 66, 333–352.
- Bues, C.T., 1985. Der Einfluß von Bestockungsgrad und Durchforstung auf die Rohdichte von südafrikanischer Pinus radiata. Holz als Roh-und Werkstoff 43, 69–73.
- Callaway, R.M., Walker, L.R., 1997. Competition and facilitation: a synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities. Ecology 78, 1958–1965.
- Crawley, M.J., 2009. The R book, Reprint. with Corr. Wiley, Chichester [u.a.]. DeBell, J.D., Tappeiner II, J.C., Krahmer, R.L., 1994. Wood density of western
- hemlock: Effect of ring width. Can. J. For. Res. 24, 638–641.
- Diaconu, D., Wassenberg, M., Spiecker, H., 2016. Variability of European beech wood density as influenced by interactions between tree-ring growth and aspect. For. Ecosyst. 3, 1.
- Dieler, J., Pretzsch, H., 2013. Morphological Plasticity of European Beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) in Pure and Mixed-Species Stands 295, pp. 97–108.
- Dutilleul, P., Herman, M., Avella-Shaw, T., 1998. Growth rate effects on correlations among ring width, wood density, and mean tracheid length in Norway spruce (Picea abies). Can. J. For. Res. 28, 56–68.

Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Cowie, A.L., Vanclay, J.K., 2006. Mixed-species plantations of Eucalyptus with nitrogen-fixing trees: a review. For. Ecol. Manage. 233, 211–230.

Franceschini, T., Longuetaud, F., Bontemps, J.-D., Bouriaud, O., Caritey, B.-D., Leban, J.-M., 2013. Effect of ring width, cambial age, and climatic variables on the within-ring wood density profile of Norway spruce Picea abies (L.) Karst. Trees 27, 913–925.

Genet, A., Auty, D., Achim, A., Bernier, M., Pothier, D., Cogliastro, A., 2012. Consequences of faster growth for wood density in northern red oak (Quercus rubra Liebl.). Forestry 86, 99–110.

- Grammel, R., 1990. Zusammenhänge zwischen Wachstumsbedingungen und holztechnologischen Eigenschaften der Fichte. Forst. Central. 109, 119–129.
- Hakkila, P., 1989. Utilization of Residual Forest Biomass. Springer Series in Wood Science, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Hapla, F., 1985. Radiographisch-densitometrische Holzeigenschaftsuntersuchungen an Douglasien aus unterschiedlich durchforsteten Versuchsflächen. Holz als Roh-und Werkstoff 43, 9–15.
- Hein, S., Dhôte, J.F., 2006. Effect of species composition, stand density and site index on the basal area increment of oak trees (Quercus sp.) in mixed stands with beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) in northern France. Ann. For. Sci. 63, 457–467.
- Kemmerer, J., 2016. Zeitliche Variation der Holzdichte von Kiefer und Eiche in den letzten 100 Jahren: Masterarbeit, Freising.
- Kennel, R., 1965. Untersuchungen über die Leistung von Fichte und Buche im Reinund Mischbestand. Allg. Forst- u. Jagdztg. 136 (149–161), 173–189.

Krempl, H., 1977. Gewicht des fichtenholzes in osterreich. Allg. Forst. 88, 76-81.

- Larocque, G.R., Marshall, P., 1995. Wood relative density development in red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.) stands as affected by different initial spacings. For. Sci. 41, 709–728(20).
- Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G., et al., 2016. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354.
- Matyssek, R., Agerer, R., Ernst, D., Munch, J.-C., Osswald, W., Pretzsch, H., et al., 2005. The plant's capacity in regulating resource demand. Plant Biol. 7, 560–580.
- Matyssek, R., Schnyder, H., Osswald, W., Ernst, D., Munch, J.C., Pretzsch, H. (Eds.), 2012. Growth and Defence in Plants: Resource Allocation at Multiple Scales. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. Ecological Studies, Analysis and Synthesis, vol. 220.
- Metz, J., Annighofer, P., Schall, P., Zimmermann, J., Kahl, T., Schulze, E.-D., et al., 2016. Site-adapted admixed tree species reduce drought susceptibility of mature European beech. Glob. Change Biol. 22, 903–920.
- Metz, J., Seidel, D., Schall, P., Scheffer, D., Schulze, E.D., Ammer, C., 2013. Crown modeling by terrestrial laser scanning as an approach to assess the effect of aboveground intra- and interspecific competition on tree growth. For. Ecol. Manage. 310, 275–288.
- Metzger, M.L., 1998. Qualitätseigenschaften des Holzes von Traubeneichen (Quercus petreae Liebl.) aus drei süddeutschen Beständen in Abhängigkeit von der Jahrringbreite. Univ., Forstwiss. Fak., Diss.–Freiburg, 1998. Kovač, Hamburg. Schriftenreihe agrarwissenschaftliche Forschungsergebnisse 16.
- Miina, J., 2000. Dependence of tree-ring, earlywood and latewood indices of Scots pine and Norway spruce on climatic factors in eastern Finland. Ecol. Model. 132, 259–273.
- Monserud, R.A., Marshall, J.D., 1999. Allometric crown relations in three northern Idaho conifer species. Can. J. For. Res. 29, 521–535.
- Moore, J.R., Cown, D.J., McKinley, R.B., Sabatia, C.O., 2015. Effects of stand density and seedlot on three wood properties of young radiata pine grown at a dry-land site in New Zealand. N.Z. J. For. Sci. 45, 209.
- Olivar, J., Bravo, F., Rathgeber, C., 2015. Climate change, tree-ring width and wood density of pines in mediterranean envionments. IAWA J. 36, 257–269.
- Pérez, D., Kanninen, M., 2005. Effect of thinning on stem form and wood characteristics of teak (Tectona grandis) in a humid tropical site in Costa Rica. Silva Fenn. 39.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., R Core Team, 2016. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Model.
- Ponton, S., Dupouey, J.-L., Breda, N., Feuillat, F., Bodenes, C., Dreyer, E., 2001. Carbon isotope discrimination and wood anatomy variations in mixed stands of Quercus robur and Quercus petraea. Plant Cell Environ. 24, 861–868.

- Pretzsch, H., 2014. Canopy space filling and tree crown morphology in mixedspecies stands compared with monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 327, 251–264.
- Pretzsch, H., Block, J., Dieler, J., Dong, P.H., Kohnle, U., Nagel, J., et al., 2010. Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient. Ann. For. Sci. 67.
- Pretzsch, H., del Río, M., Ammer, C., Avdagic, A., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., et al., 2015. Growth and yield of mixed versus pure stands of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) analysed along a productivity gradient through Europe. Eur. J. Forest Res. 134, 927–947.
- Pretzsch, H., del Río, M., Schütze, G., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P., Avdagic, A., et al., 2016. Mixing of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) enhances structural heterogeneity, and the effect increases with water availability. For. Ecol. Manage. 373, 149–166.
- Pretzsch, H., Dieler, J., 2012. Evidence of variant intra- and interspecific scaling of tree crown structure and relevance for allometric theory. Oecologia 169, 637–649.
- Pretzsch, H., Rais, A., 2016. Wood quality in complex forests versus even-aged monocultures: review and perspectives. Wood Sci. Technol. 50, 845–880.
- Räbel, M., 2016. Effekte der Klimaänderungen auf Jahrringbreite und Holzdichte von Fichte und Buche: Master Thesis, Freising.
- Richards, A.E., Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2010. The influence of mixed tree plantations on the nutrition of individual species: a review. Tree Physiol. 30, 1192–1208.
- Robinson, D., Davidson, H., Trinder, C., Brooker, R., 2010. Root–shoot growth responses during interspecific competition quantified using allometric modelling. Ann. Bot. 106, 921–926.
- Saranpää, P., 2003a. Wood density and growth. Wood Qual. Biol. Basis, 87–113.
- Saranpää, P., 2003b. Wood density and growth. In: Barnett, J.R., Jeronimidis, G. (Eds.), Wood Quality and Its Biological Basis. Blackwell; Published in the USA/ Canada by CRC Press, Oxford, Boca Raton, FL, Biological Sciences Series, pp. 87– 113.
- Schinker, M., Hansen, N., Spiecker, H., 2003. High-frequency densitometry: a new method for the rapid evaluation of wood density variations. LAWA J. 24 (3), 231–239.
- Schuldt, B., Knutzen, F., Delzon, S., Jansen, S., Muller-Haubold, H., Burlett, R., et al., 2016. How adaptable is the hydraulic system of European beech in the face of climate change-related precipitation reduction? New Phytol. 210, 443–458.
- Thurm, E.A., Biber, P., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Stem growth is favored at expenses of root growth in mixed stands and humid conditions for Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica). Trees 31, 349–365.
- Thurm, E.A., Uhl, E., Pretzsch, H., 2016. Mixture reduces climate sensitivity of Douglas-fir stem growth. For. Ecol. Manage. 376, 205–220.
- Todaro, L., Macchioni, N., 2011. Wood properties of young Douglas-fir in Southern Italy: results over a 12-year post-thinning period. Eur. J. Forest Res. 130, 251– 261.
- Vandermeer, J.H., 1989. The Ecology of Intercropping. Cambridge Univ. Pr., Cambridge u.a.
- Wassenberg, M., Montwé, D., Kahle, H.P., Spiecker, H., 2014. Exploring high frequency densitometry calibration functions for different tree species. Dendrochronologia 32, 273–281.
- Wassenberg, M., Schinker, M., Spiecker, H., 2015. Technical aspects of applying high frequency densitometry: probe-sample contact, sample surface preparation and integration width of different dielectric probes. Dendrochronologia 34, 10–18.
- Zhang, S.Y., Chauret, G., Swift, D.E., Duchesne, I., 2006. Effects of precommercial thinning on tree growth and lumber quality in a jack pine stand in New Brunswick, Canada. Can. J. For. Res. 36, 945–952.
- Zhang, Y., Chen, H.Y.H., Reich, P.B., 2012. Forest productivity increases with evenness, species richness and trait variation: a global meta-analysis. J. Ecol. 100, 742–749.
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N.J., Saveliev, A.A., Smith, G.M., 2009. Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology With R. Springer, New York, NY.

6.2.2 Publication 2

Titel: Tree species richness enhances stand productivity while stand structure can have opposite effects, based on forest inventory data from Germany and the United States of America

Authors: Zeller, Laura; Liang, Jingjing; Pretzsch, Hans

Year: 2018

Journal: Forest Ecosystems

2-year Impact Factor: 1.852

DOI: 10.1186/s40663-017-0127-6

Authors' contributions: The candidate and Jingjing Liang compiled the US inventory data sets and conducted the big data analysis. Hans Pretzsch established the direction and hypothesis of the study, and contributed to the interpretation of the results. The candidate drafted the manuscript, conducted data preparation and statistical analyses. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

Abstract: Background: In recent studies, mixed forests were found to be more productive than monocultures with everything else remaining the same. Methods: To find out if this productivity is caused by tree species richness, by a more heterogeneous stand structure or both, we analyzed the effects of forest structure and tree species richness on stand productivity, based on inventory data of temperate forests in the United States of America and Germany. Results: Having accounted for effects such as tree size and stand density, we found that: (I) tree species richness increased stand productivity in both countries while the effect of tree size heterogeneity on productivity was negative in Germany but positive in the USA; (II) productivity was highest at sites with an intermediate amount of precipitation; and (III) growth limitations due water scarcity or low temperature may enhance structural heterogeneity.

Conclusions: In the context of forest ecosystem goods and services, as well as future sustainable forest resource management, the associated implications would be:

- Tree species richness is vital for maintaining forest productivity.
- As an optimum amount of precipitation is accompanied by the highest productivity, changes in climatic conditions should be considered when planning.

• Resource limitations enhance structural heterogeneity, which in turn can have positive or negative effects on stand productivity.

Furthermore, we discuss the difficulties encountered when analyzing different national forest inventories and large data sets.





Tree species richness enhances stand productivity while stand structure can have opposite effects, based on forest inventory data from Germany and the United States of America

Laura Zeller^{1*}, Jingjing Liang² and Hans Pretzsch¹

Abstract

Background: In recent studies, mixed forests were found to be more productive than monocultures with everything else remaining the same.

Methods: To find out if this productivity is caused by tree species richness, by a more heterogeneous stand structure or both, we analyzed the effects of forest structure and tree species richness on stand productivity, based on inventory data of temperate forests in the United States of America and Germany.

Results: Having accounted for effects such as tree size and stand density, we found that: (I) tree species richness increased stand productivity in both countries while the effect of tree size heterogeneity on productivity was negative in Germany but positive in the USA; (II) productivity was highest at sites with an intermediate amount of precipitation; and (III) growth limitations due water scarcity or low temperature may enhance structural heterogeneity.

Conclusions: In the context of forest ecosystem goods and services, as well as future sustainable forest resource management, the associated implications would be:

- Tree species richness is vital for maintaining forest productivity.
- As an optimum amount of precipitation is accompanied by the highest productivity, changes in climatic conditions should be considered when planning.
- Resource limitations enhance structural heterogeneity, which in turn can have positive or negative effects on stand productivity.

Furthermore, we discuss the difficulties encountered when analyzing different national forest inventories and large data sets.

Keywords: Big data, Overyielding, Tree size heterogeneity, Tree species mixing, Climate, Biodiversity–productivity relationship

* Correspondence: laura.zeller@tum.de

¹Center of Life and Food Sciences Weihenstephan, Technical University of Munich, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, 85354 Freising, Germany

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



[©] The Author(s). 2018 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

Background

Economic and political relationships, environmental issues, and the network of supply and demand for wood products and ecosystem services have become more global. Meanwhile, the pressure on forest ecosystems is increasing due to climate change (Schröter et al. 2005; Wohlgemuth 2015) and a growing world population. Therefore, the need for globalizing and connecting forest research from different parts of the world to use synergy effects and combine knowledge is therefore becoming more and more important. Many countries are already advanced in forest research and are conducting national forest inventories to monitor the status, as well as to predict the future development, of forests. The Global Forest Biodiversity Initiative (GFBI) aims to connect the knowledge and data worldwide on forest biodiversity while spreading and using the available data more effectively for sustainable forest ecosystem management (Global Forest Biodiversity Initiative 2016).

The joint analysis of forest structure, tree species richness and stand productivity is becoming more relevant as recent studies have shown the different relationships among these attributes (Bohn and Huth 2017), which can now be analyzed on a global scale thanks to the so-called "big data era" (Lokers et al. 2016).

There are many current silvicultural programs that are restoring, stabilizing, and diversifying forests in terms of tree species and stand structure to render forests more productive, resilient, and sustainable in the long run (Ammer 2008; Knoke et al. 2008). In particular, a broader supply of forest ecosystem goods and services will be provided by more natural forest ecosystems. Not only would the provision of wood products be ensured, but the stabilizing function of water and nutrient cycles, the maintenance of different habitats, possibilities for hunting, the lowering of the risks of fire, wind throw, and land degradation, as well as the recreational and educational functions of forest areas, would also be secured (UN General Assembly 1987; MCPFE 1993; The Montréal Process 2015).

Forest management has been criticized for demolishing forest structure, diversity of habitats, and tree size heterogeneity by focusing only on timber production (Dieler et al. 2017). As counteracting strategy, mixing and structuring forests has become a common measure in the transition of mainly timber-oriented forestry toward more sustainable management. The goal is a multifunctional forestry that ideally covers all ecosystem goods and services while striving to reduce risk (Puettmann et al. 2009; Paquette and Messier 2011; Puettmann et al. 2015; Lindenmayer et al. 2016). Those tendencies, however, raise the question whether the achievement of a wider scope of functions and services would result in a reduction of forest productivity.

Not only is the paradigm of a multi-functional forest reinforcing the interest in the relationship among productivity, species richness, and structural diversity, but also the evidence that species mixing and structural diversity can increase productivity. Liang et al. (2016), for example, found positive relationships between tree species richness and forest productivity on a global scale. Pretzsch et al. (2015, 2017) made the same discovery with long-term mixed-species experimental plots of mixed species. Morin et al. (2014) showed that increasing tree species richness could also increase the continuity of forest productivity over time, as different species respond differently to disturbances, and so, can mitigate drops in productivity. Other researchers have also found positive relationships between forest structure and tree species diversity (Ishii et al. 2004; Hakkenberg et al. 2016) or between forest productivity and biodiversity in general (Paquette and Messier 2011). However, Wang et al. (2016) state that depending on the spatial scale of the analysis, both positive and negative diversityproductivity relationships can be found.

Many concepts of mixing and structuring forests are targeting a diversification at the stand level to provide multiple types of habitats (Dieler 2013). Under which conditions could the combination of tree species diversity and forest structure increase or decrease productivity, is still being debated. Answering this question would enable forest management to explore the advantages and disadvantages, as well as quantify the costs and benefits, of structural diversification. At the tree level, Danescu et al. (2016) showed that structural diversity had a significant influence on tree productivity while species diversity had no effect. At the stand level, however, both species diversity and structural heterogeneity were found to have a positive effect on productivity and ecosystem dynamics. Bourdier et al. (2016) discovered that a negative relationship between tree size heterogeneity and productivity could result from lower light interception and use efficiency in the case of an enhanced stand structure. Others have discovered negative relationships between structural diversity and productivity (Edgar and Burk 2001) in temperate forests or tropical Eucalyptus stands when structural diversity is present, but genetic and species diversity are absent (Soares et al. 2016). Chen and Klinka (2003) however, did not find any relationship between structure and productivity.

To differentiate among structural, diversity and climatic effects when analyzing forest productivity, the interaction between structural diversity and tree species richness, as well as the effects of climatic factors on structural traits, is important. Structural effects may occur only in certain types of mixtures, or within a certain range of temperature or precipitation. A potential overyielding in productivity by mixed forest stands could be eliminated or even augmented by structural diversification.

This study collected big data selected from the national forest inventory data in the US national forest inventory FIA (O'Connell et al. 2014), which was provided and unified by GFBI, as well as in the German national forest inventory BWI (BMEL - Bundesministerium for Ernährung und Landwirtschaft 2014). The aim of this study was to discover how forest productivity is determined by tree species richness, climate and forest structure, i.e., tree size heterogeneity. Productivity was defined as the mean annual increment of the stem volume of a forest stand in $m^3 {\cdot} ha^{-1} {\cdot} yr.^{-1}.$ Forest structure was quantified by indices based on diameter at breast height, which was available for all sample plots. The location of each plot and climatic characteristics were also included in the analysis. The effect of increasing temperature can have a mainly positive effect on forest productivity, as long as the water supply is not decreasing due to the higher temperature, as in the process of evapotranspiration (Yang 2005; Boivenue and Running 2006). Chertov (2010) suggests that productivity is increasing in times of global warming. Thus, climatic conditions should thus be considered when examining the effects of tree species mixing and structural diversification on productivity.

In regard to the above-mentioned background, we formulated the following questions that were to be answered by this study:

QI: How is forest productivity dependent on tree species richness and tree size heterogeneity when other effects, such as tree size and stand density, have been accounted for?

QII: How is forest productivity influenced by temperature and precipitation?

QIII: Do limitations to growth resulting from water scarcity or low temperatures enhance structural heterogeneity?

Material and methods Material

Inventory data

The data set used in this study partly consists of nearly 56,000 inventory plots of the third national forest inventory data of Germany (BMEL - Bundesministerium for Ernährung und Landwirtschaft 2014). Additionally, ~ 576,000 plots belonging to the national forest inventory of the United States of America were used (O'Connell et al. 2014). All plots were located in the conterminous USA, because the Pacific islands and Alaska represent climatic zones quite different from the rest of the country. Different conditions along a climatic gradient for temperate forests on both the North American and the European continents were represented.

Both inventories were conducted using the angle count sampling method and only trees with a diameter

of 7 cm or more at breast height were included. For Germany, we used the third national forest inventory from 2012, which was the latest inventory conducted (BMEL - Bundesministerium for Ernährung und Landwirtschaft 2014). The latest USA national inventory data, taken between 2012 and 2016, was used (O'Connell et al. 2014).

Both inventories contain only approximate coordinates due to national legislation protecting the privacy of forest owners. The real locations of the inventory plots can differ by up to 1 km in Germany (Henning 2016) and by 0.8–11.6 km in the USA (O'Connell et al. 2014).

The German inventory is based on a 4 km × 4 km grid (base grid), but a smaller grid size (2.83 km × 2.83 km or 2 km × 2 km) was used in some regions. Each inventory plot is a square of 150 m × 150 m, of which each corner represents a subplot when an angle count sampling with a counting factor of 4 is applied. We treated the independent subplots as individual plots, as the subplots could be part of different forest types, and so, cannot be correlated.

The US inventory plots are 0.04 ha in size and are placed on a hexagonal grid so that one plot represents every 2428 ha of forested land (O'Connell et al. 2014). Each plot consists of a cluster of four circular subplots spaced out in a fixed pattern. As most tree measurements are taken at the level of the subplots, we also treated the US inventory subplots as individual plots. Spatial correlation, in general, was covered in the generalized additive model.

US inventory plots having large stand density index (*SDI*) values of more than 5000 were omitted from the analysis because the high numbers had obviously been created by the calculation method of *SDI*, which used small sample plots and deduced the number of stems per hectare. The maximum *SDI* of the German data set was just above 5000, so that we did not set an additional limit.

Productivity

For the German data, the tree and stand growths from the national inventories, BWI II and BWI III, collected in 2002 and 2012, respectively, were used. Stand volumes in $m^3 \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot yr$.⁻¹ were calculated for the second and the third inventories, as well as for the group of trees present in the third inventory, but not in the second. The stand volume of the second inventory was subtracted from that of the third, then the volume of the removal stand was added. The resulting values in $m^3 \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot yr$.⁻¹ divided by the length of time between the inventories represent the productivity of each stand.

Stand productivity for the US plots was derived from the periodic annual increment growth between the two inventories for the US inventory plots where more than one inventory was conducted (Liang et al. 2016). The original worldwide map of stand productivity was downscaled from a 53 km \times 53 km to a 3 km \times 3 km resolution using geospatial interpolation (Liang et al. work-in-progress). For improved accuracy, we extracted productivity values from the downscaled map to the locations of the US inventory plots used in this analysis.

Climate data

The annual precipitation and mean annual temperature for 1970–2000 from the WorldClim data Version 2 were used with a resolution of 2.5 min (Fick and Hijmans 2017).

The mean annual temperatures of the inventory plots for 1970–2000 were 8.3 °C and 11.6 °C for the Germany and US data, respectively. The mean annual precipitation were 830 and 1054 mm for the German and US plots, respectively (Tables 1 and 2).

Tree and stand characteristics

The data sets of the tree and stand characteristics in Germany and the USA are presented in Tables 1 and 2, respectively.

Species richness R is lower in Germany than in the USA due to, firstly, the lower number of existing tree species, and secondly, the very common one- and two-species stands in Germany. The mean diameter d and quadratic mean diameter dq are higher in Germany, possibly due to a higher stand age or different silvicultural treatment as compared to the inventory plots in the USA. Tree size heterogeneity CVd is higher in the USA, whereas the *SDI* is higher in Germany. The overall climate is warmer and wetter in the USA, but productivity is higher in Germany.

Methods

Quantifying stand structure and tree species richness

To quantify forest structure, the quadratic mean diameter (dq), coefficient of variation of the tree diameter at breast height (CVd), and stand density index (SDI) were calculated for each inventory plot (Eq. (1)). Single tree positions that would allow for the calculation of the

Iddle I Descriptive data of inventory plots (German	escriptive data of inventory plots (Germany)	
---	--	--

	R	d	dq	CVd	SDI	Temp	Precip	Р
mean	2.02	27.14	28.59	0.32	1158.02	8.32	842.12	12.24
sd	1.06	12.2	12.18	0.19	603.3	0.93	250.52	8.96
se	0	0.05	0.05	0	2.54	0	1.05	0.04
min	1	7	7	0	38.67	0.31	467	0
max	9	165	165	1.46	5375.02	10.83	1984	103.59
n	56,44	9						

R number of species, *d* diameter at breast height (cm), *dq* quadratic mean diameter (cm), *CVd* coefficient of variation of diameter, *SDI* stand density index, *Temp* mean annual temperature, *Precip* annual precipitation, *P* stand productivity ($m^3 \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot yr$.⁻¹)

	R	d	dq	CVd	SDI	Temp	Precip	Р
mean	4.67	19.91	21.97	0.44	522.63	11.56	1055.95	6.22
sd	2.82	8.17	8.81	0.19	464.31	5.6	357.02	0.64
se	0	0.01	0.01	0	0.61	0.01	0.47	0
min	1	7.11	7.11	0	0.16	-2.88	56	4.01
max	21	169.93	169.93	1.9	4998.34	24.57	3353	8.02
n				57	76,415			

R number of species, *d* diameter at breast height (cm), *dq* quadratic mean diameter (cm), *CVd* coefficient of variation of diameter, *SDI* stand density index, *Temp* mean annual temperature, *Precip* annual precipitation, *P* stand productivity ($m^3 \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot yr$.⁻¹)

spatial structure indicators were not available for the data sets used in this study.

Quadratic mean diameter (*dq*) As the inventory data were angle count samples, *dq* was calculated by:

$$dq = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} d_i^2 \cdot n_i}{\sum_i^N n_i}} \tag{1}$$

Equation 1 includes the number of trees counted per inventory plot *N*, the diameter at breast height of the i^{th} tree per plot, d_i , and the number of stems per ha represented by the i^{th} tree, n_i .

Stand density index (SDI) The SDI by Reineke (1933) was calculated using a plot's total stem number per ha, $N_p = \sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i$, and dq:

$$SDI = N_p \cdot \left(\frac{25}{dq}\right)^{-1.605} \tag{2}$$

.

SDI was used in this study because it produces stand density information that allows for the comparison of forest stands of any age or stage of development. We used the generalized allometric exponent by Reineke (1933), as species-specific exponents were not available for many of the included tree species.

Coefficient of variation of tree diameters (*CVd*) The coefficient *CVd*, of variation of tree diameters relates their standard deviation *sd* to their arithmetic mean \overline{d} :

$$CVd = sd\overline{d}$$
 (3)

This coefficient serves as a relative measure of tree size heterogeneity per inventory plot. However, due to angle count sampling, the representative stem number n_i , of each tree *i* per inventory plot had to be taken into account when calculating *sd* and \overline{d} :

$$\overline{d} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} d_i \cdot n_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i}$$
(3a)

$$sd = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(d_i - \overline{d}\right)^2 \cdot n_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i - 1}}$$
(3b)

Equations (3), (3a) and (3b) use the same notation meanings as does Eq. (1).

Tree species richness Tree species richness as used in this study is the absolute number of different tree species on a plot (Pretzsch 2009, p. 279).

Generalized additive model (GAM)

To investigate the effect of climate on forest structure, we used parts of the same model but exchanged productivity as the dependent variable with the coefficient of variation of diameter at breast height.

Model function for QI + QII To answer the research questions, QI (the effects of tree species richness and stand structure on stand productivity and QII (the effect of climate on stand productivity), we formulated a GAM function (4):

$$\begin{aligned} P_{i} &= a + f_{1}(Lon_{i}, Lat_{i}) \\ &+ f_{2}(Temperature_{i}, Precipitation_{i}) \\ &+ f_{3}(SDI_{i}, dq_{i}) + f_{4}(R_{i}, CVd_{i}) + \varepsilon_{i} \end{aligned} \tag{4}$$

This model seeks to explain stand productivity P as a function of species richness R, the stand structural heterogeneity expressed by the diameters' coefficient of variation, CVd, stand density, SDI, mean tree size, represented by mean tree diameter, dq, mean annual temperature and annual precipitation. The index *i* represents an inventory point, ε represents the remaining errors, *a* is the model's intercept, which is to be estimated, and f_1, \dots, f_4 are non-linear smoothers to be fitted. These smoothers are two-dimensional, i.e., they cover the possible interactions between two explanatory variables each. Here, smoother f_1 is based on geographical longitude Lon and latitude Lat, and is intended to cover the effects of unobservable influence variables connected with the geographical position of a plot. Smoother f_2 covers the climate effect, f_3 covers a stand density effect, which may be size-dependent. Such effects would bias the findings on the influence variables of interest if the smoothers were not used. The variables of interest, accounted for by the smoother f_4 , are the effects of tree species richness and structural diversity.

To check for the effect of climate on forest structure (QIII), we used a similar function but with the coefficient of variation of diameter as the dependent variable.

Finally, we set up the model function (5):

$$CVd_{i} = a + f_{1}(Lon_{i}, Lat_{i}) + f_{2}(Temperature_{i}, Precipitation_{i}) + f_{3}(SDI_{i}, dq_{i}) + f_{4}(R_{i}) + \varepsilon_{i}$$
(5)

Equation (5) uses the same meaning of notation as does Eq. (4). The smoothers, f_1 for geographical longitude and latitude, f_2 for climate effects, and f_3 for a potentially size-dependent stand density effect, were included in the model to cover those effects not explained by species richness *R*.

All variables tested in the GAMs of our study were significant. We compared the full model functions to their reduced versions by eliminating the smoothers. In our case, the full model functions yielded lower AIC values and higher R^2 as compared to the reduced versions, and so, were thus selected as the final model functions.

For our analysis we set up the generalized additive models (GAM) (Crawley 2007; Zuur 2009) using the mgcv package (Wood 2011) in R (R Development Core Team 2008).

Results

Statistical analysis

When applying our models, the full model versions always yielded the lowest AIC, and so, were chosen as the final models. To interpret the GAM results, twodimensional heat maps were used and the effect of each variable was isolated while all other variables were set to their mean values. When testing each variable by varying its value from the minimum to the maximum, its isolated effects on the dependent variable were observed.

QI: How is forest productivity influenced by tree species richness and tree size heterogeneity?

Germany

Location The effect of location covered by the interaction term for longitude and latitude showed mostly a strong positive effect of latitude on stand productivity. Our model showed that stand productivity increased from ~10 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ to ~13 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ along the range of 47.33° N up to 54.92° N (Fig. 1b), indicating that productivity was increasing toward the northern part of Germany (Fig. 2a).

Stand density and tree size *SDI* clearly explains part of the variation in stand productivity. An increase in *SDI* up to 2000 stems-ha⁻¹ (where most of the data was represented) made productivity rise from 7 to 17 m³·ha ⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ (Fig. 1e). Tree size (*dq*) had only a small negative effect (Fig. 2c). For an increase in *dq* from 0 to 100 cm,



the effect on stand productivity explains a variation of \sim 3 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ in productivity (Fig. 1f).

Species richness and structure For up to two different species, stand productivity decreased with increasing tree species richness from about 14 to about 12 m³·ha ⁻¹·yr.⁻¹, which means that inventory plots with two species on average had a ~2 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ lower stand productivity than did monocultures. For more than three tree species the trend was the opposite and stand productivity increased again up to ~ 16 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ for stands with eight tree species (Figs. 1g and 2d).

Since the mean number of tree species in the German plots was two, stands with a high number of species were represented only by a small sample size. The effect of structural heterogeneity was negative. With a mean CVd of ~0.32 and most of the data occurring around this value, the valid part of the model still describes a

negative effect of structure on stand productivity by $\sim 2 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{ha}^{-1} \cdot \text{yr.}^{-1}$ along the range of *CVd* from 0 to ~ 1.0 , covering most of the data (Figs. 1h and 2d).

The least productive combination was a low number of tree species with a high tree size heterogeneity. Additional tree species could partly mitigate the negative effect of tree size heterogeneity on stand productivity.

USA

Location Most of the productivity in our model was determined by location and climatic conditions, which together explained up to ~4 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ of the variation among the plots. From the western part (-124.7° E) to the most eastern part of the conterminous USA (-67° E), productivity increased from ~5 to more than 6 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ (Fig. 3a). Latitude explained a drop of more than 1.5 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ in productivity from the most southern



part $(25.07^{\circ} \text{ N})$ to the most northern part $(49.35^{\circ} \text{ N})$ (Fig. 3b). Productivity was, therefore, highest in the southeastern part of the US (Fig. 4a).

Stand density and tree size Tree size had a small but positive effect and explained about 0.2 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ of the variation in stand productivity (Fig. 3f). Stand density had a small positive influence on stand productivity up to an *SDI* of ~500. For an *SDI* > 500, the effect was contrary (Fig. 3e). Figure 4c shows the combination of both effects.

Species richness and structure The number of species showed a small but positive effect on stand productivity for up to 10 different tree species. For more than 10 species the relationship between species richness and stand productivity was found to be negative (Fig. 3g). Tree size heterogeneity dq had a slightly positive influence on stand productivity (Fig. 3h). As most of the variation was already by location and climatic influence, the effects of tree species richness and tree size heterogeneity were small but still evident. The combination of both effects is shown in Fig. 4c.

QII: How is forest productivity influenced by precipitation and temperature?

Germany

Stand productivity was mainly enhanced by, and so, is positively correlated with the amount of precipitation. For up to 1000 mm, the effect of precipitation was clearly positive and explained productivity's increase from ~8 to 13 m³·ha⁻¹·yr.⁻¹ with annual precipitation's increase from ~400 to 1000 mm. For more than 1000 mm per year, the influence of precipitation on stand productivity was reverse, thus negative (Fig. 1c). Mean annual temperature had a positive effect on productivity. By increasing mean annual temperature from 0 °C to 10 °C, stand productivity increased from ~11 to ~13 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{ha}^{-1} \cdot \text{yr}$. explaining up to 2 $m^3 \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot yr$.⁻¹ of the variation in the productivity of the German plots (Fig. 1d). The main finding concerning climate was the negative effect of a dry climate especially in combination with high temperatures. Only in the case of an optimum amount of annual precipitation did temperature show positive effects (Fig. 2b).



USA

Precipitation was the main climatic driver for stand productivity in the USA, leading to an increase in stand productivity from 5 to nearly 7 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{ha}^{-1} \cdot \text{yr.}^{-1}$ along the range of precipitation up to 2000 mm (Fig. 3c). Temperature had a negative effect. Along the range from ~6.5 °C to 20 °C, stand productivity decreased from 6.5 to 5.5 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{ha}^{-1} \cdot \text{yr.}^{-1}$ (Fig. 3d). Our model showed that a warm and dry climate was negatively influencing stand productivity (Fig. 4b).

QIII: Do growth limitations due to water scarcity or low temperatures enhance structural heterogeneity?

Germany

Location Neither longitude nor latitude had any large effect on tree size heterogeneity, meaning that stand structure was rather homogeneous from south to north. Only toward the most northern part of Germany did

tree size heterogeneity show a slight increase (Figs. 5a, b and 6a).

Climate Annual precipitation and mean annual temperature had small positive effects on tree size heterogeneity *CVd*. Increasing precipitation from ~600 to 1400 mm·yr.⁻¹ showed an increase in *CVd* from ~0.35 to 0.4 (Fig. 5c). *CVd* was increasing from 0.26 to 0.3 along a range of a mean annual temperatures from 0 °C up to 10 °C (Fig. 5d). In Germany, the analyzed forest inventory plots were more heterogeneous in tree size at warm and wet sites (Fig. 6b).

Stand density and tree size *SDI* only showed a positive effect on tree size heterogeneity up to an *SDI* of ~500 (Fig. 5e). With increasing tree size dq from 10 to 80 cm, tree size heterogeneity decreased from ~0.45 to ~0.2 (Fig. 5f), indicating that stands with larger trees on average were less heterogeneous in tree size. Forest stands



with a combination of a high *SDI* and a lower dq showed the highest tree size heterogeneity (Fig. 6c).

Tree species richness The number of species was clearly positively related to stand heterogeneity CVd, which increased from 0.3 up to 0.6 along a range of species richness of 2 to ~7 species per plot (Fig. 5g). For more than ~8 tree species, species richness had a negative effect on tree size heterogeneity. The graphical representation of species richness R as a single variable shows its effect on CVd on the *y*-axis (Fig. 6d).

USA

Location Structural heterogeneity increased from the eastern part to the western parts of the USA with a coefficient of variation (*CVd*) of 0.4 to about 0.6 (Fig. 7a). The effect of location on a north-south gradient had a lower effect on tree size heterogeneity, showing the highest tree size heterogeneity between 35° N and 40° N (Fig. 7b). On sample plots that were more northerly, stand structure was less heterogeneous. The overall variation explained by location is shown in Fig. 8a.

Climate The effect of climate was not very pronounced but a slightly lowering effect of annual precipitation on structure was found (Fig. 7c). Mean annual temperature did not show any clear effect on tree size heterogeneity CVd (Fig. 7d). The combination of precipitation and temperature highlights the strong role of precipitation as a driver of tree size heterogeneity (Fig. 8b). Thus, structural heterogeneity was highest at sites with low precipitation.

Stand density and tree size Stand density and tree size heterogeneity CVd were positively correlated. CVd increased from ~0.30 to ~0.7 for an increase in *SDI* along a range from 0 up to 5000 (Figs. 7e and 8c). Tree size had a slightly negative effect on CVd (Figs. 7f and 8c).

Species richness The number of tree species had a vital effect on tree size heterogeneity. An increase in tree species richness from 1 to 20 led to a more heterogeneous stand structure CVd, increasing from ~0.4 to ~0.6 (Fig. 7g). The single effect of species richness R on CVd is presented on the *y*-axis (Fig. 8d).

The results of using the GAMs are presented in Tables 3 and 4. They show the intercept a of the model function, its standard error, the significance of each



model, and the R-square (adjusted). Based on AIC, the full versions of the models were selected.

Discussion

Stand productivity

Tree size heterogeneity did not have a stronger positive effect on stand productivity than did tree species richness (QI), which was found to influence stand productivity, as well as tree size heterogeneity, in both the German and US inventory plots. In Germany, structure had a negative effect on stand productivity, whereas, in the USA, structurally more diverse stands were slightly more productive.

In the German inventory plots, we found the lowest stand productivity in the case of two tree species. Comparing monocultures to the two-species mixed stands showed lower productivity for the two-species plots, as explained by others (Binkley 1984; Chen and Klinka 2003), possibly due to the more efficient use of resources by the highly productive monocultures. For more than two tree species, a positive biodiversity-productivity relationship appeared. For the US data set, there was a similar trend seen of increasing productivity with increasing tree species richness. Despite the findings of Binkley (1984) and Chen and Klinka (2003), the US inventory plots having up to 10 different tree species showed an increase in productivity. The positive relationship of tree species richness with stand productivity found in US and German inventory plots with more than two tree species matches the positive biodiversityproductivity relationships described by Kelty (2006), Gamfeldt et al. (2013), Vilà et al. (2013), Pretzsch et al. (2015), Liang et al. (2016) and Pretzsch et al. (2017).

We wanted to test the interaction of tree species richness and structure in particular. Silva Pedro et al. (2017) found that species composition and stand structure are strongly connected, and that their combination could quite influence forest productivity. In the case of a lower productivity due to a lower crown cover in mixedspecies stands, a more heterogeneous stand structure



could mitigate the potential loss. In our case, as most of the variation in productivity among the sample plots was already explained by location and climate, for the US inventory plots, effects of species and structure were very small but still present. This finding matched those by Bohn and Huth (2017), who had discovered a positive correlation between structure and productivity. Potential benefits of a higher structural heterogeneity, which leads to overyielding can result from more efficient use of resources through multiple forest layers and a better exploitation of niches. However, contrary results were found for the German inventory plots. The negative effect of structure on stand productivity was strongest on stands with about two to four tree species. Mitigated by tree species richness, mono-specific stands and stands with more than four tree species experienced weaker negative effects of structure. Similar trends were also found by Bourdier et al. (2016), who show that tree size heterogeneity would also decrease productivity, depending on the shade-tolerance of the tree species. Also, Luu et al. (2013) and Soares et al. (2016) reported a negative effect of tree size heterogeneity on stand productivity.

Stand productivity can also be negatively or positively correlated with stand density (Uhl et al. 2015). Stand

density and tree size were, therefore, considered in our model. In the German plots, productivity was positively correlated with stand density, whereas the effect of tree size was very small. In the US plots, the influence of stand density on productivity was less clear and tree size did not show any effect. A lower mean stand density and lower productivity in the US plots compared to a higher stand density and a higher stand productivity in the German plots is in line with findings of higher yields in mixed stands resulting from a higher stand density (Pretzsch and Biber 2016).

Explaining the opposite effects of structure on stand productivity in Germany and the USA, we hypothesize that the two countries are located along a gradient concerning latitude, annual precipitation, temperature, and also productivity, and structure. Possibly, the inventory plots from the two inventories are at different development stages with consequently different structureproductivity relationships. Tree size heterogeneity, here CVd, in the German inventory plots (0.32) was already lower than in the US plots (0.44), and stand productivity was higher in Germany (12.24) than in the USA (6.22). Precipitation and temperature were lower in Germany (842 mm, 8.3 °C) than in the USA (1056 mm, 11.6 °C).



This would mean that Germany is located at the northern end of the gradient and adjacent to the USA. The lower number of tree species and temperatures in the German plots can lead to a lower structure while highly productive even-aged monoculture-type forest stands are still present with combined high productivity and low tree size heterogeneity. The forest stands in Germany are much longer and more intensively shaped by even-aged management (Paillet et al. 2010; Schall et al. 2017), while in the USA structural heterogeneity is still higher due to disturbances and climatic shifts (Oliver 1980; Dolanc et al. 2014; McIntyre et al. 2015).

Climate

Apart from the location which already explains a large part of the variation in stand productivity, climate played a major role. We found that a warm and dry climate can especially decrease stand productivity (QII) but only with regard to precipitation, which was a strong predictor of stand productivity, as the latter is restricted by lower annual precipitation. This trend has also been described by others (Toledo et al. 2011; Żywiec et al. 2017). We found that for both countries, there is an optimum amount of annual precipitation beyond which additional units of precipitation were rather counterproductive. In Germany this effect could come from large quantities of precipitation, especially in the mountain areas and along the coastline, with counterproductive effects due to a shorter vegetation period in the mountainous areas and strong winds along the coast (Friend and Woodward 1990; Pretzsch et al. 2015). In the USA, we also saw a similar pattern where the Pacific Coast was generally lower in forest productivity than was the Atlantic Coast, despite the Pacific's greater annual precipitation. Regardless of the differences in biomes and other underlying silvicultural and environmental factors, our findings of an optimum beyond which additional annual precipitation could not lead to a higher stand productivity supported the saturation effect inherent in the biodiversity-productivity relationship (Liang et al. 2015).


Mean annual temperature's effect on stand productivity in Germany was opposite to those in the USA. Trees in the German inventory plots were benefiting from the warmer climate, whereas in the US plots, higher temperatures in combination with a low amount of precipitation were leading to lower growth rates. We speculate that the effects of temperature in the US could come from a less flexible situation of inventory plots, which are situated in

Table 3 Results of GAMs applied to inventory data from theUSA

		USA			
	Term	Intercept a	Std. error	Sig.	R-sq. (adj)
QI/QII	f_1 (Lon × Lat)	6.22	0.00	***	0.90
	f_2 (Precip $ imes$ Temp)			***	
	$f_3 (R \times CVd)$			***	
	f_4 (SDI $ imes$ dq)			***	
QIII	f_1 (Lon × Lat)	0.44	0.00	***	0.37
	f_2 (Precip $ imes$ Temp)			***	
	f_3 (SDI \times R)			***	

Lon longitude, *Lat* latitude, *Precip* annual precipitation, *Temp* mean annual temperature, *R* species richness, *CVd* coefficient of variation of diameter, *SDI* stand density index, *dq* quadratic mean diameter (cm). *Sig.* Significance values: 0 '***', 0.001 '**', 0.01 '**', 0.05

regions where temperature cannot increase productivity anymore because trees, e.g., tropical trees, are already growing at their optimum temperature. Any additional temperature would be rather counter-productive (Way and Oren 2010). In Germany, trees are rather growing on sites below their temperature optimum, so a higher mean annual temperature consequently can lead to higher growth rates as compared to colder sites. Our speculation

Table 4 Results of GAMs applied to inventory data fromGermany

		Germany			
	Term	Intercept a	Std. error	Sig.	<i>R</i> -sq. (adj)
QI/QII	f_1 (Lon × Lat)	12.24	0.04	***	0.19
	f_2 (Precip \times Temp)			***	
	$f_3 (R \times CVd)$			***	
	f_4 (SDI $ imes$ dq)			***	
QIII	f_1 (Lon × Lat)	0.32	0.00	***	0.29
	f_2 (Precip \times Temp)			***	
	f_3 (SDI \times R)			***	

Lon longitude, *Lat* latitude, *Precip* annual precipitation, *Temp* mean annual temperature, *R* species richness, *CVd* coefficient of variation of diameter, *SDI* stand density index, *dq* quadratic mean diameter (cm). *Sig.* Significance values: 0 '***', 0.001 '**', 0.01 '**', 0.05

is supported by the acceleration of growth due to effects of the climate changes found in Europe (Pretzsch et al. 2014), as well as in boreal Canada (Wu et al. 2014), but not in the USA (Silva et al. 2010). Especially if higher temperatures occur in combination with higher amounts of precipitation, the effect on growth can be positive (Gustafson et al. 2017). Moreover, species traits, species composition, forest structure (Bohn and Huth 2017) and forest type (Vilà et al. 2013) determine how forest productivity is influenced by climate and could have shaped the relationships found in our study.

Stand structure

Finally, we also tested if water scarcity or low temperatures could enhance structural heterogeneity through the limitation of growth (QIII). Stand structure quantified by tree size heterogeneity was found to be highest in German plots with a high annual precipitation and high temperatures, and in US plots with low and intermediate amounts of annual precipitation.

Water limitation may foster the growth of small trees at the expense of their taller neighbors and reduce the size-asymmetry of competition. This phenomenon may be due to tall trees' being more exposed to the sun in sites with low water availability, especially during dry years. The tall trees close their stomata earlier and cannot make longer use of their preferential access to light. In contrast, under warm and dry conditions, the small trees in contrast may be less affected by or may even benefit from the reduced water consumption of their taller neighbors. So, the growth partitioning between the trees in stands on water-limited sites may favor the smaller members of the population, keeping them in the play, thereby fostering the diameter variation and structural heterogeneity (Pretzsch et al. 2012).

In both the German and the US plots, with more species, more structural heterogeneity was found. This effect could potentially result from the different allometry and functions of tree species, so that niches could be filled with a certain species, thereby creating more stand structure. Also, stand density was positively correlated with structure. These trends are well described in the European and Anglo-American literature (Zeide 2001; Pretzsch 2005).

Considering that species richness fosters structural heterogeneity and structure, which, in turn can increase stand productivity even more, the combination of tree species richness and structure would be recommended while keeping in mind that other ecosystem services also benefit from species richness and structure, e.g., stability and the distribution of risk. Furthermore, a characterization of forest stands by species can still result in different outputs (all ecosystem goods and services) depending on regional peculiarities or the genetic variation of each species (Boyden et al. 2008). Higher productivity in mixed stands could be related to the species' traits more than to tree diversity in general (Jacob et al. 2010). Forming groups of species according to their functional traits rather than their taxonomy could, therefore, be useful. Analyzing the effect of species richness on stand productivity, as done in this study, could then potentially yield much clearer results, as the effects may not be hidden by intra-specific variation in traits.

Methods

Applying GAM models to large data sets, as performed in our study, will automatically lead to high significance values, which mean that the interpretation of *p*-values should be completed by analyzing the single effects of each variable. The size of the effect of each independent variable on the dependent variable must still be tested to estimate if the effect is only a slight trend. The major problem in our analysis was the use of different methods to obtain productivity values for each plot in Germany and the US. Conducting large inventories such as the one in the USA is an expensive endeavor and not all sample plots can be measured regularly. If productivity on inventory plots is calculated only for the ones measured more often and interpolated to all the other inventory plots, very different plots can become assigned to the similar productivity value. The variation in productivity as a dependent variable may then not be large enough to be explained by variables other than location or climate. Considering that the effects of species richness and structure on productivity in our model can only be very small, we can still take them seriously and interpret their trends. The US inventory data can be expected to comprise a comparable high degree of inexplicable variation due to the method of estimating and interpolating productivity.

Including successional stages through stand age would have been useful as well but no reliable data was available as the stand ages given in the inventories were roughly estimated without considering the different ages of the different layers. Therefore, we used *SDI* and tree size to cover the potential effects of development stages. Assuming that a higher stand density results from a higher number of smaller trees that yield higher relative growth rates and a lower stand density can be explained by fewer larger trees with a lower relative growth (Caspersen et al. 2011), our model promotes the choice of *SDI* as a substitute for the lack of information on stand age. Analyzing the relationship of structure, species mixing and productivity along the developmental stages in terms of stand age could be a worthwhile study for the future.

Conclusion

Our results do not include aspects such as the stability, resilience or biodiversity of other plant species other

than trees. Our study focused on productivity and tree species richness rather than overall ecosystem productivity and biodiversity. However, knowing how tree species richness, structure and productivity are correlated helps us understand the whole forest ecosystem. Apart from climate and site conditions, tree species richness can be the most important driver for productivity. Hence, biodiversity and productivity can complement each other and enable the provision of multiple forest ecosystem goods and services. In the case of a negative structureproductivity relationship, as found in the German inventory plots, in combination with the need for forest structure (e.g., as a stabilizing function or for the aim of conservation), species richness can mitigate the potentially negative effects of structure on stand productivity. In our case, favoring forest stands with more than four species over monocultures would be a solution for the trade-off of combining structural heterogeneity and high yields. In the case of a positive structure-productivity relationship, as found in the US inventory plots, an increase in structural heterogeneity implies a boost in productivity while enhancing other structure-related forest ecosystem functions. All in all, there is no need to disapprove of structural heterogeneity, because a combination of high productivity and the benefits of a structurally diverse stand can be achieved.

Knowing the climatic influence on productivity, e.g., an optimum range of precipitation where productivity peaks, can help to adjust forest management to the expected climatic conditions of the future. This knowledge could be especially valuable for estimating the consequences of shifting climatic conditions for a forest ecosystem that includes certain species and is already located in its optimum range of precipitation and temperature or is at the border of a climatic zone.

The collection and use of global inventory data will enable big data research to contribute to better management and use of forest ecosystems worldwide, as well as to find out more about the relationships between the different characteristics of a forest. The major problems faced by this study when using inventory data were the different ways of achieving productivity values, which led to partly vague model outcomes. The more often national inventories are conducted, the more precisely can volume increment, and consequently, stand productivity, be calculated. On the downside, conducting forest inventories is cost intensive, especially if much detailed information must be collected frequently. Therefore, the collection and combination of worldwide inventory data as done by GFBI is crucial and will help research conducted on forest ecosystems be easier, more universal, and more efficient.

Acknowledgements

This study has been supported in parts by the BiodivERsA project,

"GreenFutureForests" (#01LC1610B), the FORD project Biotip (#01LC1716D)

promoted by the German Aerospace Center (DLR) and the Federal Ministry of Education and Research, the project Sumforest – REFORM Risk Resilient Forest Management (#2816ERA02S), and by the West Virginia University, and the USDA McIntire-Stennis Funds WVA00126. We thank the Global Forest Biodiversity Initiative for establishing the data standards and collaborative framework. The first and third authors also thank the Bavarian State Ministry of Nutrition, Agriculture, and Forestry for permanent support of the project W 07 "Long-term experimental plots for forest growth and yield research" (#7831-22209-2013).

Authors' contributions

LZ and JL compiled the US inventory data sets and conducted big data analysis. HP established the direction and hypothesis of the study, as well as contributed to the interpretation of the results. LZ drafted the manuscript, conducted data preparation and statistical analyses. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Center of Life and Food Sciences Weihenstephan, Technical University of Munich, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, 85354 Freising, Germany. ²Division of Forestry and Natural Resources, Davis College of Agriculture, Natural Resources & Design, West Virginia University, 340 Percival Hall, Morgantown, WV 26506-6108, USA.

Received: 21 July 2017 Accepted: 20 December 2017 Published online: 11 February 2018

References

- Ammer C (2008) Converting Norway spruce stands with beech a review of arguments and techniques. Austr J Forest Sci 125:3–26
- Binkley D (1984) Importance of size—density relationships in mixed stands of douglas-fir and red alder. For Ecol Manag 9:81–85
- BMEL Bundesministerium for Ernährung und Landwirtschaft (2014) Der Wald in Deutschland. Ausgewählte Ergebnisse der dritten Bundeswaldinventur, Berlin
- Bohn FJ, Huth A (2017) The importance of forest structure to biodiversityproductivity relationships. The Royal Society. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos. 160521
- Boivenue C, Running S (2006) Impacts of climate change on natural forest productivity evidence since the middle of the 20th century. Glob Chang Biol 12:862–882
- Bourdier T, Cordonnier T, Kunstler G, Piedallu C, Lagarrigues G, Courbaud B (2016) Tree size inequality reduces forest productivity: an analysis combining inventory data for ten European species and a light competition model. PLoS One 11:e0151852
- Boyden S, Binkley D, Stape JL (2008) Competition among eucalyptus trees depends on genetic variation and resource supply. Ecology 89:2850–2859
- Caspersen JP, Vanderwel MC, Cole WG, Purves DW (2011) How stand productivity results from size- and competition-dependent growth and mortality. PLoS One 6:e28660
- Chen HYH, Klinka K (2003) Aboveground productivity of western hemlock and western redcedar mixed-species stands in southern coastal British Columbia. For Ecol Manag 184:55–64
- Chertov O (2010) Impact of temperature increase and precipitation alteration at climate change on forest productivity and soil carbon in boreal forest ecosystems in Canada and Russia: simulation approach with the EFIMOD model. In: Rodriguez-Morales A, Risquez A, Echezuria L (eds) Impact of climate change on health and disease in Latin America. InTech Open Access Publisher, London
- Crawley MJ (2007) The R book. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK
- Danescu A, Albrecht AT, Bauhus J (2016) Structural diversity promotes productivity of mixed, uneven-aged forests in southwestern Germany. Oecologia 182:319–333
- R Development Core Team (2008) R: A language and environment for statistical computing, Vienna. http://www.R-project.org. Accessed 15 July 2017
- Dieler J (2013) Biodiversität und Waldbewirtschaftung Auswirkungen auf Artenvielfalt, Strukturdiversität und Produktivität. Tagungsband der Sektion Ertragskunde, DVFFA, pp 25–34

- Dieler J, Uhl E, Biber P, Müller J, Rötzer T, Pretzsch H (2017) Effect of forest stand management on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe. Eur J Forest Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10342-017-1056-1
- Dolanc CR, Safford HD, Thorne JH, Dobrowski SZ (2014) Changing forest structure across the landscape of the sierra Nevada, CA, USA, since the 1930s. Ecosphere 5:art101
- Edgar CB, Burk TE (2001) Productivity of aspen forests in northeastern Minnesota, U.S.A., as related to stand composition and canopy structure. Can J For Res 31:1019–1029
- Fick SE, Hijmans RJ (2017) WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. Int J Climatol 21:455
- Friend AD, Woodward FI (1990) Evolutionary and ecophysiological responses of mountain plants to the growing season environment. In: Fitter A, Macfadyen A, Begon M (eds) Advances in ecological research, vol 20. Academic Press, New York, pp 59–124
- Gamfeldt L, Snäll T, Bagchi R, Jonsson M, Gustafsson L, Kjellander P, Ruiz-Jaen MC, Froberg M, Stendahl J, Philipson CD, Mikusinski G, Andersson E, Westerlund B, Andren H, Moberg F, Moen J, Bengtsson J (2013) Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat Commun 4:1340
- Global Forest Biodiversity Initiative (2016) People, nature, world, diversity. http:// www.gfbinitiative.org/. Accessed 15 July 2017
- Gustafson EJ, Miranda BR, De Bruijn AMG, Sturtevant BR, Kubiske ME (2017) Do rising temperatures always increase forest productivity? Interacting effects of temperature, precipitation, cloudiness and soil texture on tree species growth and competition. Environm Model Software 97:171–183
- Hakkenberg CR, Song C, Peet RK, White PS, Rocchini D (2016) Forest structure as a predictor of tree species diversity in the North Carolina piedmont. J Veg Sci 27:1151–1163
- Henning P (2016) Die Bundeswaldinventur in der Geodateninfrastruktur des Thünen-Instituts. https://bwi.info/Download/de/BWI-Basisdaten/ThuenenGDI/ BundeswaldinventurInDerGeodateninfrastrukturDesThuenenInstitutes.pdf. Accessed 15 July 2017
- Ishii HT, Tanabe S, Hiura T (2004) Exploring the relationships among canopy structure, stand productivity, and biodiversity of temperate forest ecosystems. For Sci 50:342–355
- Jacob M, Leuschner C, Thomas FM (2010) Productivity of temperate broad-leaved forest stands differing in tree species diversity. Ann Forest Sci 67:503
- Kelty MJ (2006) The role of species mixtures in plantation forestry. For Ecol Manag 233:195–204
- Knoke T, Ammer C, Stimm B, Mosandl R (2008) Admixing broadleaved to coniferous tree species: a review on yield, ecological stability and economics. Eur J Forest Res 127:89–101
- Liang J, Crowther TW, Picard N, Wiser S, Zhou M, Alberti G, Schulze ED, McGuire AD, Bozzato F, Pretzsch H, de-Miguel S, Paquette A, Herault B, Scherer-Lorenzen M, Barrett CB, Glick HB, Hengeveld GM, Nabuurs GJ, Pfautsch S, Viana H, Vibrans AC, Ammer C, Schall P, Verbyla D, Tchebakova N, Fischer M, Watson JV, HYH C, Lei XD, Schelhaas MJ, Lu HC, Gianelle D, Parfenova EI, Salas C, Lee E, Lee B, Kim HS, Bruelheide H, Coomes DA, Piotto D, Sunderland T, Schmid B, Gourlet-Fleury S, Sonke B, Tavani R, Zhu J, Brandl S, Vayreda J, Kitahara F, Searle EB, Neldner VJ, Ngugi MR, Baraloto C, Frizzera L, Balazy R, Oleksyn J, Zawila-Niedzwiecki T, Bouriaud O, Bussotti F, Finer L, Jaroszewicz B, Jucker T, Valladares F, Jagodzinski AM, Peri PL, Gonmadje C, Marthy W, O'Brien T, Martin EH, Marshall AR, Rovero F, Bitariho R, Niklaus PA, Alvarez-Loayza P, Chamuya N, Valencia R, Mortier F, Wortel V, Engone-Obiang NL, Ferreira LV, Odeke DE, Vasquez RM, Lewis SL, Reich PB (2016) Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354:aaf8957
- Liang J, Zhou M, Tobin PC, McGuire AD, Reich PB (2015) Biodiversity influences plant productivity through niche-efficiency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112: 5738–5743
- Lindenmayer D, Messier C, Sato C (2016) Avoiding ecosystem collapse in managed forest ecosystems. Front Ecol Environ 14:561–568
- Lokers R, Knapen R, Janssen S, van Randen Y, Jansen J (2016) Analysis of big data technologies for use in agro-environmental science. Environm Model Software 84:494–504
- Luu TC, Binkley D, Stape JL (2013) Neighborhood uniformity increases growth of individual eucalyptus trees. For Ecol Manag 289:90–97
- McIntyre PJ, Thorne JH, Dolanc CR, Flint AL, Flint LE, Kelly M, Ackerly DD (2015) Twentieth-century shifts in forest structure in California: denser forests,

smaller trees, and increased dominance of oaks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(5):1458–1463

- MCPFE (1993) Resolution HI: general guidelines for the sustainable management of forests in Europe. Proceedings of the 2nd ministerial conference on the protection of forests in Europe, Helsinki. http://www.foresteurope.org/docs/ MC/MC_helsinki_resolutionH1.pdf. Accessed 2 Jan 2018
- Morin X, Fahse L, de Mazancourt C, Scherer-Lorenzen M, Bugmann H (2014) Temporal stability in forest productivity increases with tree diversity due to asynchrony in species dynamics. Ecol Lett 17:1526–1535
- O'Connell BM, LaPoint EB, Turner JA, Ridley T, Pugh SA, Wilson AM, Waddell KL, Conkling BL (2014) FIA database description and user guide for phase 2: version: 6.0.1. https://www.fia.fs.fed.us/library/database-documentation/ current/ver60/FIADB%20User%20Guide%20P3_6-0-1_final.pdf. Accessed 2 Jan 2018
- Oliver CD (1980) Forest development in North America following major disturbances. For Ecol Manag 3:153–168
- Paillet Y, Bergès L, Hjältén J, Odor P, Avon C, Bernhardt-Römermann M, Bijlsma RJ, De Bruyn L, Fuhr M, Grandin U, Kanka R, Lundin L, Luque S, Magura T, Matesanz S, Meszaros I, Sebastia MT, Schmidt W, Standovar T, Tothmeresz B, Uotila A, Valladares F, Vellak K, Virtanen R (2010) Biodiversity differences between managed and unmanaged forests: meta-analysis of species richness in Europe. Conserv Biol J Soc Conserv Biol 24:101–112
- Paquette A, Messier C (2011) The effect of biodiversity on tree productivity: from temperate to boreal forests. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 20:170–180
- Pretzsch H (2005) Stand density and growth of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.): evidence from long-term experimental plots. Eur J Forest Res 124:193–205
- Pretzsch H (2009) Forest dynamics, growth and yield: from measurement to model. Springer, Berlin
- Pretzsch H, Biber P (2016) Tree species mixing can increase maximum stand density. Can J For Res 46:1179–1193
- Pretzsch H, Biber P, Schütze G, Uhl E, Rötzer T (2014) Forest stand growth dynamics in Central Europe have accelerated since 1870. Nat Commun 5:4967
- Pretzsch H, Biber P, Uhl E, Dauber E (2015) Long-term stand dynamics of managed spruce–fir–beech mountain forests in Central Europe: structure, productivity and regeneration success. Forestry 88:407–428
- Pretzsch H, del Río M, Ammer C, Avdagic A, Barbeito I, Bielak K, Brazaitis G, Coll L, Dirnberger G, Drossler L, Fabrika M, Forrester D, Godvod K, Heym M, Hurt V, Kurylyak V, Lof M, Lombardi F, Matovic B, Mohren F, Motta R, den Ouden J, Pach M, Ponette Q, Schutze G, Schweig J, Skrzyszewski J, Sramek V, Sterba H, Stojanovic D, Svoboda M, Vanhellemont M, Verheyen K, Wellhausen K, Zlatanov T, Bravo-Oviedo A (2015) Growth and yield of mixed versus pure stands of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L) and European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L) analysed along a productivity gradient through Europe. Eur J Forest Res 134:927–947
- Pretzsch H, Dieler J, Rötzer T (2012) Principles of growth partitioning between trees in forest stands under stress. In: Matyssek R, Schnyder H, Osswald W, Ernst D, Munch JC, Pretzsch H (eds) Growth and Defence in plants. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 311–329
- Pretzsch H, Forrester DI, Bauhus J (2017) Mixed-species forests: ecology and management. Springer, Berlin, p 653
- Puettmann KJ, Coates KD, Messier C (2009) A critique of silviculture: managing for complexity. Island Press, Washington DC
- Puettmann KJ, Wilson SM, Baker SC, Donoso PJ, Drössler L, Amente G, Harvey BD, Knoke T, Lu Y, Nocentini S, Putz FE, Yoshida T, Bauhus J (2015) Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged Forest management - what limits global adoption? Forest. Ecosystems 2:8
- Reineke LH (1933) Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. J Agricult Res 46:627–638
- Schall P, Gossner MM, Heinrichs S, Fischer M, Boch S, Prati D, Jung K, Baumgartner V, Blaser S, Böhm S, Buscot F, Daniel R, Goldmann K, Kaiser K, Kahl T, Lange M, Müller J, Overmann J, Renner SC, Schulze ED, Sikorski J, Tschapka M, Türke M, Weisser WW, Wemheuer B, Wubet T, Ammer C (2017) The impact of even-aged and uneven-aged forest management on regional biodiversity of multiple taxa in European beech forests. J Appl Ecol 109:17495
- Schröter D, Cramer W, Leemans R, Prentice IC, Araújo MB, Arnell NW, Bondeau A, Bugmann H, Carter TR, Gracia CA, de la Vega-Leinert AC, Erhard M, Ewert F, Glendining M, House JI, Kankaanpaa S, Klein RJT, Lavorel S, Lindner M, Metzger MJ, Meyer J, Mitchell TD, Reginster I, Rounsevell M, Sabate S, Sitch S,

Smith B, Smith J, Smith P, Sykes MT, Thonicke K, Thuiller W, Tuck G, Zaehle S, Zierl B (2005) Ecosystem service supply and vulnerability to global change in Europe. Science (New York, NY) 310:1333–1337

- Silva LCR, Anand M, Leithead MD (2010) Recent widespread tree growth decline despite increasing atmospheric CO₂. PLoS One 5:e11543
- Silva Pedro M, Rammer W, Seidl R, Roxburgh S (2017) Disentangling the effects of compositional and structural diversity on forest productivity. J Veg Sci 28:649–658
- Soares AAV, Leite HG, Souza AL, Silva SR, Lourenço HM, Forrester DI (2016) Increasing stand structural heterogeneity reduces productivity in Brazilian eucalyptus monoclonal stands. For Ecol Manag 373:26–32
- The Montréal Process (2015) Criteria and indicators for the conservation and sustainable Management of Temperate and Boreal Forests. http://www.mpci. org. Accessed 15 July 2017
- Toledo M, Poorter L, Peña-Claros M, Alarcón A, Balcázar J, Leaño C, Licona JC, Llanque O, Vroomans V, Zuidema P, Bongers F (2011) Climate is a stronger driver of tree and forest growth rates than soil and disturbance. J Ecol 99:254–264
- Uhl E, Biber P, Ulbricht M, Heym M, Horváth T, Lakatos F, Gál J, Steinacker L, Tonon G, Ventura M, Pretzsch H (2015) Analysing the effect of stand density and site conditions on structure and growth of oak species using Nelder trials along an environmental gradient: experimental design, evaluation methods, and results. Forest Ecosyst 2:17
- Vilà M, Carrillo-Gavilán A, Vayreda J, Bugmann H, Fridman J, Grodzki W, Haase J, Kunstler G, Schelhaas M, Trasobares A (2013) Disentangling biodiversity and climatic determinants of wood production. PLoS One 8:e53530
- Wang J, Cheng Y, Zhang C, Zhao Y, Zhao X, von Gadow K (2016) Relationships between tree biomass productivity and local species diversity. Ecosphere. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1562
- Way DA, Oren R (2010) Differential responses to changes in growth temperature between trees from different functional groups and biomes: a review and synthesis of data. Tree Physiol 30:669–688
- Wohlgemuth T (2015) Climate change and tree responses in central European forests. Ann Forest Sci 72:285–287
- Wood SN (2011) Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. J Roy Stat Soc (B) 73:3–36
- UN General Assembly (1987) Our common future. Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development.
- Wu C, Hember RA, Chen JM, Kurz WA, Price DT, Boisvenue C, Gonsamo A, WM J (2014) Accelerating forest growth enhancement due to climate and atmospheric changes in British Colombia, Canada over 1956-2001. Sci Rep 4:4461
- Yang Y (2005) Factors affecting forest growth and possible effects of climate change in the Taihang Mountains, northern China. Forestry 79:135–147
- Zeide B (2001) Thinning and growth: a full turnaround. J Forest 99:20–25 Zuur AF (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R (statistics for biology and health). Springer, New York
- Żywiec M, Muter E, Zielonka T, Delibes M, Calvo G, Fedriani JM (2017) Long-term effect of temperature and precipitation on radial growth in a threatened thermo-Mediterranean tree population. Trees-Struct Funct 31:491–501

Submit your manuscript to a SpringerOpen[®] journal and benefit from:

- Convenient online submission
- Rigorous peer review
- Open access: articles freely available online
- High visibility within the field
- Retaining the copyright to your article

Submit your next manuscript at > springeropen.com

6.2.3 Publication 3

Titel: Effect of forest structure on stand productivity in Central European forests depends on developmental stage and tree species diversity

Authors: Zeller, Laura; Pretzsch, Hans

Year: 2019

Journal: Forest Ecology and Management

5-year Impact Factor: 3.601

DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2018.12.024

Authors' contributions: Hans Pretzsch and the candidate elaborated the idea for the study. Hans Pretzsch provided the data of long-term experimental plots. The candidate conducted the statistical analysis and drafting of the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the interpretation and discussion of results.

Abstract: Recently, many studies have found positive biodiversity-productivity relationships in forests. In contrast, different types of correlations have been identified in the analyses of tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships. We suspect that these conflicting conclusions might result from the different developmental stages of the investigated forest stands. We therefore analyzed the development of tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships at the stand level and individual tree level in 192 long-term experimental plots in Central Europe. As a measure of stand productivity, we analyzed stand volume growth (m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹). Tree species diversity was quantified by the Shannon index and structural heterogeneity was represented by the Gini coefficient of basal area. For a more detailed analysis at the tree level using a smaller portion of the dataset, the tree position-dependent indices, diameter differentiation index, and aggregation index were used. Whether the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity was positive or negative depended on the stand development stage. In early developmental stages, high structural heterogeneity lowered productivity. In later developmental stages, however, stand structural heterogeneity had a positive effect on productivity. Our study might provide insights regarding the mechanisms underlying the contradictory findings obtained in recent studies dealing with tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships. This knowledge is vital for the adaptation of forest management to meet future demands on forest ecosystems.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Forest Ecology and Management



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

Effect of forest structure on stand productivity in Central European forests depends on developmental stage and tree species diversity



Laura Zeller*, Hans Pretzsch

Chair of Forest Growth and Yield Science, Center of Life and Food Sciences Weihenstephan, Technical University of Munich, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, 85354 Freising, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Age effect Biodiversity–productivity relationship Forest stand growth Gini coefficient Increment Long-term experiments Niche complementarity Structural complexity

ABSTRACT

Recently, many studies have found positive biodiversity–productivity relationships in forests. In contrast, different types of correlations have been identified in the analyses of tree diversity–structure–productivity relationships. We suspect that these conflicting conclusions might result from the different developmental stages of the investigated forest stands. We therefore analyzed the development of tree diversity–structure–productivity relationships at the stand level and individual tree level in 192 long-term experimental plots in Central Europe. As a measure of stand productivity, we analyzed stand volume growth ($m^3 ha^{-1} year^{-1}$). Tree species diversity was quantified by the Shannon index and structural heterogeneity was represented by the Gini coefficient of basal area. For a more detailed analysis at the tree level using a smaller portion of the dataset, the tree position–dependent indices, diameter differentiation index, and aggregation index were used. Whether the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity was positive or negative depended on the stand development stages, however, stand structural heterogeneity lowered productivity. Our study might provide insights regarding the mechanisms underlying the contradictory findings obtained in recent studies dealing with tree diversity–structure–productivity relationships. This knowledge is vital for the adaptation of forest management to meet future demands on forest ecosystems.

1. Introduction

Nowadays, it is expected that forests should not only produce a high amount of wood but also fulfill various ecosystem functions simultaneously and at the same stand. Therefore, the influence of forest structure and particularly the effect of tree species diversity on forest stand productivity has been examined in various studies. These studies show positive (Danescu et al., 2016; Liang et al., 2016; Morin et al., 2011; Paquette and Messier, 2011), negative (Jacob et al., 2010), neutral, or site-dependent (Pretzsch, 2013) biodiversity-productivity relationships and positive (Danescu et al., 2016) or negative effects (Bourdier et al., 2016; Soares et al., 2016) of stand structure on forest productivity. Others have found that neither compositional nor structural diversity had strong effects on productivity (Long and Shaw, 2010). Some studies have found that the stability of productivity (del Río et al., 2017; Jucker et al., 2014) or even the overall resilience (Morin et al., 2018) and stability of the plant community (De Boeck et al., 2018) over time can be enhanced by biodiversity. Additionally, species mixing is considered to bring further benefits, including a lower risk of climate-induced damage (Neuner et al., 2015) through drought, windthrow, and pests (Bauhus et al., 2017) while still ensuring high growth values (Dieler et al., 2017; Griess and Knoke, 2011; Roessiger et al., 2013). Other researchers have discovered that stand structural heterogeneity, more than species diversity, can determine forest productivity (Bohn and Huth, 2017; Danescu et al., 2016; Ercanli, 2018) and stability (Díaz-Yáñez et al., 2017).

The large number of studies on tree diversity or biodiversity-structure-productivity relationships and their conflicting results reflect the increasing interest in the topic in recent years and the need for further clarification. These studies are commonly based on simulated forest stand data (Bohn et al., 2018; Silva Pedro et al., 2017) or inventory data. The trend of globalizing forest inventory data is vital for research in global forest ecosystem dynamics and management (Liang et al., 2016; Serra-Diaz et al., 2017). However, studies using inventory data (Danescu et al., 2016; McIntyre et al., 2015; Young et al., 2017) are often based on measurements from only one or two points in time (Zeller et al., 2018). This approach does not completely show how forest stand dynamics change over time. When the results are

* Corresponding author. E-mail addresses: laura.zeller@tum.de (L. Zeller), H.Pretzsch@lrz.tum.de (H. Pretzsch).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.12.024

Received 16 October 2018; Received in revised form 8 December 2018; Accepted 13 December 2018 0378-1127/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



Fig. 1. Location of long-term experimental plots in Europe analyzed in this study. Long longitude, lat latitude.

compared, they can show contradictory tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships as these might depend on the context (Vanhellemont et al., 2018) and in particular, we suspect, on the developmental stage of the analyzed forest stand.

Therefore, the present analysis of structural traits in stands of different tree species composition over time shall complement the global overview. We tried to cover most of the expected context-related effects on stand productivity ($m^3 ha^{-1} year^{-1}$) by using data collected in a consistent way from well-known, long-term experimental plots (Pretzsch et al., 2013b) including stands at different stages of development and with different mixtures of tree species.

The most common species in the long-term experimental plots of this study were European beech (Fagus sylvatica), Norway spruce (Picea abies), sessile oak (Quercus petraea), Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), silver fir (Abies alba), European larch (Larix decidua), and some hardwood deciduous tree species. Silver fir and Douglas fir are potential surrogates for the sensitive Norway spruce as they are believed to be more resistant to biotic and abiotic stress (Netherer et al., 2015; van der Maaten-Theunissen et al., 2013; Vitali et al., 2017). Scots pine and sessile oak are known to be drought-resistant and therefore show great potential for a future in which the frequency and intensity of droughts may increase under climate change (Lévesque et al., 2013; Pretzsch et al., 2013a). European beech, beyond its natural ranges, is also of particular interest as it is expected to become more competitive than Norway spruce under climate change (Bolte et al., 2010), except in lowlands with severe drought events (Weigel et al., 2018). In Central Europe, an admixture of European beech is commonly used to reduce the risk of bark beetle attacks (Jactel and Brockerhoff, 2007) and to increase the productivity of Norway spruce stands (Ammer et al., 2008; Knoke et al., 2008). European beech might even expand further to the north, making this mixture more interesting in Scandinavian countries.

In particular, the interactions between neighboring trees (Fichtner et al., 2018) and their functional traits can affect the productivity of mixed-species stands (Ammer, 2018) due to inter- and intraspecific

competition or facilitation. We therefore used tree position-based indices to complete the analysis at individual tree level. Tree species diversity, structural heterogeneity, and stand productivity contribute to multiple ecosystem goods and services. Knowledge of their interactions and trade-offs is thus particularly relevant to forest management (Ammer et al., 2018; Schall et al., 2018).

The present research paper aims to provide further insight into tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships by answering the following questions:

- 1. Does the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity dependent on tree species diversity?
- 2. Does the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity change over the course of development of a forest?

Based on these questions, we developed the following hypotheses to be tested in our analysis:

H1. The effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity does not dependent on tree species diversity.

H2. The effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity remains unchanged over the course of development of a forest.

2. Material & methods

2.1. Material

2.1.1. Data

Most of the experimental plots analyzed in this study are located in Central Europe, with some areas, e.g., Bavaria, Germany, being overrepresented due to the unique availability of long-term experimental plots in those areas (Pretzsch et al., 2013b). Some of the experimental plots are located in close proximity to each other (Fig. 1). In the analysis, they were treated separately, with spatial autocorrelation being accounted for in the statistical model. All plots included in this study

Table 1		
Summary	of experimental plots (all plot	s)

	n meas.	n species	dbh (cm)	dq (cm)	ba (m^2 ha $-^1$)	h (m)	h100 (m)	vol (m ³ ha – ¹)	ivol (m 3 ha $^{-1}$ year $^{-1}$)
Mean	1.5	2.31	27.81	30.82	31.20	25.39	29.18	508.77	15.70
sd	1.79	1.25	10.16	10.78	13.25	6.47	6.53	222.11	6.27
min	1.00	1.00	8.36	8.43	5.11	7.63	9.70	35.00	2.60
max	10.00	6.00	61.39	64.10	70.80	45.85	53.30	1388.00	44.96
Total meas.	291								
n plots	192								

Mean mean value, sd standard deviation, min minimum value, max maximum value, meas. measurement, n number, dbh diameter at breast height, dq quadratic mean diameter, h height, h100 height of 100 largest trees, vol volume, ivol volume increment.

(Fig. 1) were designed and artificially regenerated but unmanaged with the intention of examining the natural development of stand density, competition, and facilitation between tree species. All included plots were fully stocked. In total, 291 measurements were taken in 192 different plots over time between 1927 and 2014 (Fig. A.1a). Plots were measured between 1 and 10 times and, in plots where multiple measurements were taken, on average every seven years. Each plot contained up to six species groups in different compositions (Table 1). Other species representing less than 1% of total trees were added to one of the six species groups according to their functional traits. Primary variables measured in the plots were diameter at breast height (dbh), tree height, crown height, and location of each tree, which were used to derive further variables at the plot level such as mean values and sums according to the DESER standard (Johann, 1993). The experimental plots used in the present study included stands with a range of tree species diversity, or more precisely, from monocultures up to a Shannon index value (based on individuals) of about 0.4 (Table 3). All measurements (291) were treated as separate plots, while repeated measurements were accounted for by the random error term, which also covered the remaining unexplained variation that was not accounted for by the explaining variables. The data distribution, which showed a high frequency of very low and very high Shannon index values, allowed for a representative model covering a large span of possible mixtures. Monocultures and mixed plots were evenly represented in the different regions; thus, a purely location-related effect on stand productivity in pure or mixed stands can be excluded.

While multiple studies face the problem of overrepresentation of monospecific stands, we aimed to use sample plots including the whole range of tree species diversity. The detailed measurements conducted in those plots enabled the calculation of structural indices based on dbh, height, and partly on individual tree positions.

Stands including European beech were checked for thinning operations as we suspected the potential release of other species. Special fostering of certain species in mixed stands including European beech can be excluded; the share of drop-outs per plot and species, which was more random than selective, showed only self-thinning without special fostering of one species or another. If any slight thinning operations were conducted, they would only have caused very slight reductions in stand volume growth (Franklin et al., 2009; Skovsgaard, 2009) and were therefore considered irrelevant.

For the second part of the analysis, we used only a subset of the experimental plots. The tree positions of all trees in each plot were used to examine the structural traits of forest stands at the individual tree level. The dataset for this analysis covered 142 plots and 199 measurements in total (Fig. A.1b). The number of measurements and measurement intervals were comparable to those of the whole dataset. (Table 2). The Shannon index ranged from 0.14 to 0.35 (Table 4).

The variables used in this study to quantify stand structure and tree species diversity were selected with the aim of using standardized, commonly-used indices that can be applied easily to other data, thus making different analyses comparable (del Río et al., 2015).

2.1.2. Climate and site conditions

The long-term experimental plots analyzed are located in Central Europe, where the altitude ranged from 20 m a.s.l. to around 1730 m a.s.l. The mean annual temperature ranged from about 5.5 °C to 10.5 °C and the annual precipitation ranged between 550 mm and 1350 mm (Table 5). The smaller dataset including tree positions covered a similar climatic range (Table 6).

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Indices

Productivity was calculated as volume growth of stems and branches (>7 cm at thinnest ending) per hectare and year (m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) based on dbh, height, and form factors following the DESER standard (Johann, 1993). Stand age for a whole forest stand, in which age may not be consistent throughout, is usually difficult to deduce. After identifying a clear relationship between standing volume and estimated forest age in our data (Fig. A.2), we used standing volume as an indicator of the developmental stage of forest stands. Since the experimental plots were only slightly thinned or even unmanaged, standing volume represents the mass accumulation and maturity of a forest stand and serves as a determinant for volume growth, further referred to as productivity. Stand density index (SDI), defined by Reineke (1933), was included in the model to account for the potential effect of stand density on productivity. To describe forest stand structure, we selected the Gini coefficient of basal area as suggested by Lexerød and Eid (2006), Binkley et al. (2006), and Kramer and Gussone (1988) to represent a whole group of indices showing the same trends (coefficient of variation of basal area, Gini coefficient of dbh, coefficient of variation of dbh). For the second part of the analysis, using solely the dataset including tree positions, we calculated structural indices using nearest neighbor distances for the plots for which the coordinates of all individual trees were available (Table 7). Nearest neighbor distance-based indices are commonly used to describe horizontal patterns of tree distribution (del Río et al., 2015); in our case, they were used to calculate the diameter differentiation index and aggregation index to explain the structural effects observed at the stand level. Due to the lack of existing coordinates of tree positions, only \sim 70% of the whole dataset was used to determine tree level indices (Figs. 2, 4, and Fig. A.1b). The experimental plots were not divided categorically into pure and mixed stands. Tree species diversity was accounted for by the continuous variable Shannon index to consider the effect of diversity on the structure-productivity relationship.

2.2.2. Linear mixed model

We set up a linear mixed model in order to examine the interactive effect of tree species diversity and structural heterogeneity on stand productivity. The logarithmic function of standing volume enabled us to determine the linear relationship between stand development and productivity (volume growth). Since several measurements were

Table 2

Summary of experimental plots (plots incl. tree positions).

	n meas.	n species	dbh (cm)	dq (cm)	ba (m ² ha ⁻¹)	h (m)	h100 (m)	vol ($m^3 ha^{-1}$)	ivol (m ³ ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹)
Mean	1.40	2.20	28.77	31.54	32.60	25.85	29.83	539.60	16.59
sd	1.40	1.18	10.64	10.95	13.14	6.35	6.25	221.74	6.14
min	1.00	1.00	8.41	8.70	10.00	13.21	14.60	108.00	5.30
max	10.00	6.00	61.39	64.10	70.80	45.85	53.30	1388.00	44.96
Total meas.	199								
n plots	142								

Mean mean value, sd standard deviation, min minimum value, max maximum value, meas. measurement, n number, dbh diameter at breast height, dq quadratic mean diameter, h height, h100 height of 100 largest trees, vol volume, ivol volume increment.

Table 3

Structure and mixing (all plots).

	shan	SDI	ba.gini	ba.cv	dbh.gini	dbh.cv	agg	ddif
Mean	0.14	744.28	0.37	0.70	0.21	0.38	1.08	0.29
sd	0.13	293.63	0.12	0.26	0.08	0.14	0.13	0.10
min	0.00	155.21	0.12	0.22	0.06	0.11	0.54	0.09
max	0.36	2276.15	0.76	1.85	0.47	1.04	1.41	0.48

Mean mean value, *sd* standard deviation, min minimum value, max maximum value, *shan* Shannon index, *ba.gini* Gini coefficient of basal area, *ba.cv* coefficient of variation of basal area, *dbh.cv* coefficient of variation of diameter at breast height, *agg* aggregation index, *ddif* diameter differentiation index.

Table 4

Structure and mixing (plots incl. tree positions).

	shan	SDI	ba.gini	ba.cv	dbh.gini	dbh.cv	agg	ddif
Mean	0.14	770.59	0.36	0.68	0.20	0.37	1.08	0.29
sd	0.13	283.37	0.12	0.26	0.08	0.14	0.13	0.10
min	0.00	217.48	0.12	0.22	0.06	0.11	0.54	0.09
max	0.35	2276.15	0.70	1.74	0.41	0.85	1.41	0.48

Mean mean value, *sd* standard deviation, min minimum value, max maximum value, *shan* Shannon index, *ba.gini* Gini coefficient of basal area, *ba.cv* coefficient of variation of basal area, *dbh.cv* coefficient of variation of diameter at breast height, *agg* aggregation index, *ddif* diameter differentiation index

Table 5

Climate and site conditions (all plots).

	Mean annual temperature (°C)	Annual precipitation (mm)	Elevation (m a.s.l.)
Mean	7.5	924	528
sd	1.3	219	270
min	5.5	552	20
max	10.5	1350	1734

Mean mean value, *sd* standard deviation, min minimum value, max maximum value, *m a.s.l.* meters above sea level.

Table 6

Climate	and	site	conditions	(plots	incl.	tree	positions).
onnate	ana	SILC	conditions	(piota	mer.	ucc	positions	۶.

	Mean annual temperature (°C)	Annual precipitation (mm)	Elevation (m a.s.l.)
Mean	7.5	916	486
sd	1.1	229	232
min	5.5	560	20
max	9.7	1350	1290

Mean mean value, sd standard deviation, min minimum value, max maximum value, m a.s.l. meters above sea level.

conducted over time and multiple plots were in one location, measurement year and location were treated as random effects, accounting for potential autocorrelation. The chosen model [Eq. (1)] showed the highest significances for all explaining variables relative to other models, including more, fewer, or other explaining variables with different interaction terms. This was achieved through backward elimination of non-significant variables. Eq. (1) was set as the final model.

$$\log(ivol_i) = a + \log(f_1(vol_i)) * (f_2(str_i) + f_3(SDI_i)) * f_4(shan_i) + \varepsilon_i$$
(1)

where *ivol*_i is the productivity (volume increment) per ha and year on plot i. The standing volume *vol*_i represents the developmental stage of stand i. The structural index *str*_i is the Gini coefficient GC_i of basal area, representative of other indices yielding the same results (Gini coefficient *GC*_i of dbh, variation coefficient *CV*_i of basal area or variation coefficient *CV*_i of dbh). The stand density index *SDI*_i and Shannon index *shan*_i are explaining variables, whereas the random error term ε_i contains all the remaining unexplained information due to repeated measurements and the spatial proximity of some of the experimental plots. The interaction terms indicated by asterisks ensure that the interdependencies between stand developmental stage, structural heterogeneity *str*_i and tree species diversity *shan*_i were considered in the model.

2.2.3. Additional analysis based on tree positions

In order to further explore the relationship between stand structure, the degree of mixing, and stand productivity, we used the part of the dataset including tree positions for quantifying stand structure based on nearest neighbor distances. Similar to Eqs. (1) and (2) was set up. The structural component *str_i* was replaced by the tree position–dependent diameter differentiation index $ddif_i$ [Eq. (2)].

$$\log(ivol_i) = a + \log(f_1(vol_i)) * (f_2(ddif_i) + f_3(SDI_i)) * f_4(shan_i) + \varepsilon_i$$
(2)

Additionally, the aggregation index *aggi* (Clark and Evans, 1954) over time was examined in a simple regression model to explain the development of stand structure in more detail (Fig. 4).

For the calculation of the nearest neighbor–based indices ddi_i and agg_b the four nearest neighbors of each tree were used. The border effect was addressed by reflecting trees from inside the plot to the outside (Monserud and Ek, 1974; Radtke and Burkhart, 1998). All reflected trees up to 7 m outside of the plot border were included to calculate indices for all trees inside the original plot.

For the application of linear mixed-effects models, we used the lme function of the nlme package in R (Pinheiro et al., 2018; R Core Team, 2014).

3. Results

We found that the effect of stand structure on stand productivity was modified by both the species diversity (Hypothesis 1) and the developmental stage (Hypothesis 2) of a forest. No climatic or other sitedependent effects on productivity were found and thus these were excluded from the model function, leaving unexplained variation between the experimental plots to the random error term.

Other indices based on plot level (GC_i of basal area, GC_i of dbh, CVi of basal area, CV_i of dbh) yielded similar results as the GC_i of ba and were therefore not treated separately but represented by the GC_i of basal area as the structural component str_i (Tables 8 and 9).

Non-spatial ar	nd spat	tial structural indices.		
Level	Code	Name	Equation	Description
Non-spatial	GC	Gini coefficient of ba	$GC_{ba}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N} ba_i - ba_j /2N\sum_{i=1}^{N}ba_i $	$G_{C_{ba}}$ (Dorfman, 1979) quantifies the heterogeneity of tree sizes at plot level based on ba
	S	Coefficient of variation coefficient of individual tree ba	$CV_{ba} = \frac{sd}{ba}$	CV_{la} (Brown, 1998, pp. 155–157) relates the standard deviation sd to the mean ba. It measures tree size heterogeneity in each plot based on ba or dbh.
	shan	Shannon index	shan = $-\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_i \cdot \ln p_i$	Shan (Shannon, 1948) is the species diversity in a plot, calculated by multiplying the proportion of species i by its logarithm. Rare species are weighted overproportionally
	IOS	Stand density index	$\text{SDI} = N \cdot \left(\frac{25}{dq}\right)^{-1.605}$	SDI by Reineke (1933), uses total stem number per ha, $N_p = \sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i$, and dq. SDI enables the comparison of forest stands of different ages
Spatial	agg	Aggregation index	$agg = \frac{\overline{b}obsensed}{\overline{b}expected}$	Agg uses four nearest neighbors and describes the ratio of observed mean distance to nearest neighbor tree $\tilde{v}_{obsened}$ and the expected mean distance in a random horizontal distribution $\tilde{v}_{opseted}$ (Clark and Evans, 1954)
	ddif	Diameter differentiation	$ddif = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n=4} \left(1 - \frac{\min(d_i,d_j)}{\max(d_b,d_j)} \right)$	ddif by Gadow and Füldner (1995) measures the size heterogeneity of each tree and its four nearest neighbors

Fable 7

3.1. Stand level indices

Structural heterogeneity strip represented by Gini coefficient of basal area, had a negative effect on stand productivity in early developmental stages for pure stands as well as for all types of mixed stands (Fig. 2a). The more species-diverse a forest stand, the higher the productivity and the stronger the negative effect of structural heterogeneity. In older stages, however, structural heterogeneity had a positive effect on productivity, which was equally strong in pure and tree species-diverse stands (Fig. 2d and e). All experimental plots, from monocultures to the highest tree species diversity measured, are shown between the dotted line (pure stands) and the dashed line (highest Shannon index) in Fig. 2. The developmental stages of the analyzed experimental plots are presented according to the standing volume per plot (Fig. 2). The model functions represent the data points per developmental stage. The model function considers random effects and interaction terms, which explain the visual deviation from the original data points when plotted together. The youngest experimental plots (Fig. 2a) with the lowest standing volume ($< 200 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) showed that structural heterogeneity had a negative effect on productivity; this effect was stronger in mixed stands than in pure stands. Stands of average age $(200-400 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1})$ are presented in Fig. 2b. At 334 m³ ha⁻¹, the effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity in pure stands was zero (dotted line) and switched from negative to positive. The model function showed a turning point at a standing volume of $450 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ in species-diverse stands (Fig. 2c) of average age (400–600 m^3 ha⁻¹), where the effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity switched from negative to positive (dashed line); this happened at a later developmental stage than in the pure stands. The more species-diverse a forest stand, the later the structural effect changed from negative to positive. In the developmental stage of $600-800 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$, the effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity became clearly positive (Fig. 2d) and no difference between pure and mixed stands was found. In the oldest experimental plots, characterized by a standing volume > 800 $m^3 ha^{-1}$, the positive effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity was even more pronounced and was equally strong in both pure and mixed stands (Fig. 2e).

The development of mean productivity (straight line) over the course of the development of the examined forest stands (Fig. 2) matched the trend described by Pretzsch (2009, p. 58), as expected. The highest productivity of up to $20 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$ was found in young stands (Fig. 2a). It then decreased throughout the developmental stages (Fig. 2b–d) until it reached ~ $10 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$ in the oldest plots (Fig. 2e). The results of the linear mixed-effects model applied at the stand level are shown in Table 8.

3.2. Tree position-based indices

For a more detailed exploration of the tree diversity–structure– productivity relationship, we analyzed the sample plots in terms of individual tree position–dependent structural indices.

By setting up Eq. (2) containing the diameter differentiation index $ddif_i$ as a structural component at the tree level, additional information on the structural effects on stand productivity was gained. While the effect of structural heterogeneity in terms of $ddif_i$ between each tree and its four nearest neighbors on stand productivity was negative in very young forest stands, it became more positive in pure and mixed stands over time and therefore supported the findings at the stand level.

The youngest experimental plots (Fig. 3a) with the lowest standing volume ($< 200 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) are represented by the model function at their mean standing volume of $140 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ (Fig. 3a). Here the effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity was negative. Average-aged stands in the developmental stage of $200-400 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ including the model function at their mean standing volume of $320 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ (Fig. 3b) still showed a negative effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity. The turning points of the effect of structural heterogeneity on



Fig. 2. Effect of structural heterogeneity at the stand level on stand productivity in various developmental stages (a)–(e). Structural heterogeneity at the tree level quantified by the Gini coefficient of basal area. Developmental stages (a)–(e) were quantified by standing volume (m^3 ha⁻¹). Ivol stand volume increment (m^3 ha⁻¹) active diversity, solid line mean tree species diversity. Tree species diversity was quantified by the Shannon index. Gini coefficient of basal area increasing with increasing tree size heterogeneity. Each graph shows data points of developmental stage and model function at the mean standing volume for each developmental stage.

Table 8 Results of linear mixed-effects model; structural indices at the stand level.

	value	std. error	p-value	Sig.
Intercept	6.13	0.25	0.0000	*
$f_1(\log(vol))$	-0.67	0.04	0.0000	*
f ₂ (str)	-5.67	0.32	0.0000	*
f ₃ (SDI)	0.00	0.00	0.0000	*
f ₄ (mix)	-12.61	1.76	0.0000	*
$f_5(log(vol) \times str)$	0.98	0.05	0.0000	*
$f_6(\log(vol) \times SDI)$	0.00	0.00	0.0000	*
$f7(log(vol) \times mix)$	2.25	0.29	0.0000	*
$f8(str \times mix)$	-11.85	3.05	0.0001	*
$f_9(SDI \times mix)$	0.03	0.00	0.0000	*
$f_{10}(\log(vol) \times str \times mix)$	1.81	0.49	0.0002	*
$f_{11}(\text{log(vol)} \times \text{SDI} \times \text{mix})$	-0.01	0.00	0.0000	*

log logarithmic function, *vol* standing volume in $m^3 ha^{-1}$, *str* structure quantified by the Gini coefficient of basal area, *SDI* stand density index, *mix* mixing quantified by the Shannon index. × interaction between variables. Sig. Significance values: 0 "*". R² of the model was 0.914.

Table 9

Results of linear mixed-effects model; structural indices at the tree level.

	value	std. error	p-value	Sig.
Intercept	9.34	0.33	0.0000	÷
f ₁ (log(vol))	-1.00	0.05	0.0000	*
f ₂ (str)	-4.31	0.68	0.0000	*
f ₃ (SDI)	-0.01	0.00	0.0000	*
f ₄ (mix)	9.55	2.08	0.0000	*
$f_5(log(vol) \times str)$	0.69	0.10	0.0000	*
$f_6(log(vol) \times SDI)$	0.00	0.00	0.0000	*
$f_7(\log(vol) \times mix)$	-1.71	0.33	0.0000	*
$f_8(str \times mix)$	-143.49	5.13	0.0000	*
$f_9(SDI \times mix)$	0.08	0.00	0.0000	*
$f_{10}(\log(vol) \times str \times mix)$	22.88	0.77	0.0000	*
$f_{11}(\text{log(vol)} \times \text{SDI} \times \text{mix})$	-0.01	0.00	0.0000	*

log logarithmic function, *vol* standing volume in m³ ha⁻¹, *str* structure quantified by diameter differentiation, *SDI* stand density index, *mix* mixing quantified by Shannon index. × interaction between variables. *Sig.* Significance values: 0 "*". R² of the model was 0.938.



Fig. 3. Effect of structural heterogeneity at tree level on stand productivity between developmental stages (a)–(e). Structural heterogeneity at tree level quantified by diameter differentiation. Developmental stages (a)–(e) were quantified by standing volume ($m^3 ha^{-1}$). Ivol stand volume increment ($m^3 ha^{-1} year^{-1}$). Dotted line pure stands, dashed line highest tree species diversity, solid line mean tree species diversity. Tree species diversity was quantified by the Shannon index. Diameter differentiation increasing with increasing tree size heterogeneity. Each graph contains data points of developmental stage and model function at mean standing volume of developmental stage.



Fig. 4. Aggregation index over stand development. Horizontal distribution of trees quantified by mean aggregation index per measurement over stand development [standing volume (m³ha⁻¹)]. Aggregation index > 1.0 regular distribution, 1.0 random distribution, < 1.0 clumped distribution.

productivity from negative to positive lay in the developmental stage of stands of average age $(400-600 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1})$, more precisely at $500 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ for pure stands and at $528 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ for mixed stands. The model function in Fig. 3c represents this developmental stage, including the model function at its mean standing volume $(498 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1})$. On stands of average to old age $(600-800 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1})$, the structural effect was positive, especially in mixed stands (Fig. 3d), and became more pronounced in the developmental stage of the oldest stands (> $800 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) (Fig. 3e). The negative structural effect measured at tree level in young stands and the positive structural effect in old stands, were stronger in mixed (dashed line) compared to pure stands (dotted line) (Fig. 3).

The development of mean productivity (straight line) over the developmental stages of the examined forest stands (Fig. 3) matched the trend described by Pretzsch (2009, p. 58), as expected. The results of the linear mixed-effects model applied at the stand level are shown in Table 9.

3.3. Horizontal distribution over time

For analyzing the development of stand structure over time, the

horizontal arrangement of trees was quantified by the nearest neighbor distance–based aggregation index agg_i . The aggregation index showed that the horizontal distribution of trees in the analyzed sample plots became more regular with ongoing stand development (aggregation index > 1 and increasing) (Fig. 4).

4. Discussion

Structural heterogeneity is thought to foster various ecosystem functions such as the biodiversity of flora and fauna (Dieler, 2013; McElhinny et al., 2005). Yet, studies often examine either species diversity or forest structure, but not the interdependencies between the two.

In the present study, Hypothesis I, which stated that the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity does not dependent on tree species diversity, was partly rejected. When analyzing stand structure on stand level, the negative effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity in young stands was stronger in mixed than in pure stands. In older stands the structural effect was equally strong in pure and mixed stands. At tree level, the effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity was stronger in mixed stands than in pure stands regardless of stand age.

Hypothesis II, stating that the effect of structural heterogeneity remains unchanged over the course of the development of a forest, could clearly be rejected. Our approach shows that an increase in structural heterogeneity led to a lower stand productivity in young stands, even more so in cases of high tree species diversity. In advanced developmental stages, however, structural heterogeneity had a positive effect on stand productivity in both monocultures and species-diverse stands (Figs. 2 and 3). This finding might help to explain the diverse and partly conflicting relationships among those variables in different studies (Bourdier et al., 2016; Danescu et al., 2016; Zeller et al., 2018) after excluding other potential context-related effects (Vanhellemont et al., 2018).

The turning point beyond which the effect of structural heterogeneity changed from negative to positive was later in species-diverse stands than in monocultures. We suspect that mixed stands may benefit from structural heterogeneity later than mixed stands due to higher interspecific competition up to a certain developmental stage.

Lei et al. (2009) found that structural heterogeneity can have positive effects on stand productivity throughout all developmental stages due to niche complementarity. Depending on the site conditions and competition, however, niche complementarity might not occur in all types of forest stands at all developmental stages (Pretzsch, 2013). According to Jactel et al. (2018), overyielding in mixed stands increases with increasing water supply, potentially due to a complementary light use. In case of a limited water or nutrient supply, trees might not be able to exploit a potential complementary light use. The experimental plots analyzed in our study were located on rather productive sites where competition for water or nutrients would be uncommon. If trees on our experimental plots experienced any kind of competition or complementarity it would thus be for light (Pretzsch and Biber, 2010; Schwinning and Weiner, 1998).

The smallest trees in young stands, while creating higher structural heterogeneity, are expected to be rather inefficient in their light use (Gspaltl et al., 2013) or resource use in general (Assmann, 1961, p. 34; Assmann, 1961, pp. 119–123; Binkley et al., 2010). Vertical diversification for a better use of niches might not yet be possible because the trees are still only occupying the lowest forest layers. High competition in young mixed forests between shade-tolerant species and light-demanding species (Vanhellemont et al., 2018), and the potential negative effect of small trees on larger trees (Mainwaring and Maguire, 2004) might have intensified the negative effect of structural heterogeneity on stand productivity in the sample plots of this study.

In contrast, large trees are known to use light more efficiently than small trees (Binkley et al., 2013), at least up to a certain age. In older

forest stands, after inefficient trees have dropped out—and have released nutrients (Rothe and Binkley, 2001) if not removed from the stand—gaps and niches left behind might be filled again by small trees, also shown in a more regular horizontal distribution of trees in older developmental stages (Fig. 4). Those do not directly compete with the largest trees due to vertical and horizontal stratification and their different sizes and shapes, but they can contribute additional productivity to the whole stand due to a more complete use of resources on the plot in later developmental stages (Silva Pedro et al., 2017). Not only spatial, but also temporal niche complementarity can consequently be an important determinant of forest growth (del Río et al., 2014; Sapijanskas et al., 2014).

When pursuing the idea of niche facilitation of functional groups of tree species in mixed stands, increased stand productivity due to structural diversification may result from one or more layers of shadetolerant species below the canopy layer. Even though shade tolerance might not be the (only) reason for a positive effect of stand structure on stand growth (Bourdier et al., 2016), e.g. if both species are light-demanding (Riofrío et al., 2017), interactions between species due to their special traits can lead to facilitation and enhanced stand growth (Morin et al., 2011; Sapijanskas et al., 2014). Vanhellemont et al. (2018) discovered a positive influence of structural heterogeneity in close proximity for the growth of large oak trees and suspects crown plasticity to be the reason for that effect. Additionally, the occupation of space belowground and differences in rooting depth can play an important role in facilitation (Bolte et al., 2013), separate from the aboveground distribution of resources and space. Potential facilitation of different tree species due to spatial, temporal, or species-specific complementarity is also of considerable interest as it can foster other ecosystem services, such as carbon storage (Ruiz-Jaen and Potvin, 2010), biomass production (Callaway, 1998; Cardinale et al., 2007; Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2011), resistance (Dhôte, 2005; Pretzsch et al., 2013a; Schütz et al., 2006), and resilience (Silva Pedro et al., 2015). Structure must therefore be addressed not only horizontally or vertically, but in a threedimensional way to cover all aspects of niche occupation in the structure-productivity relationship, especially crown dimensions and canopy space filling (Juchheim et al., 2017; Pretzsch, 2014; Sumida, 1995), which can play an important role in competition and facilitation processes.

With this study, we intended to include an additional factor in the analysis of diversity-structure-productivity relationships-stand age. The effect of the developmental stage of forest stands on tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships has rarely been investigated. Silva Pedro et al. (2017), contributing one of the few studies considering the effect of developmental status, found a positive effect of structural heterogeneity on stand growth for all examined developmental stages (100-500-year old stands). The growth-enhancing effect of structure became even more important over time, while the effect of species diversity on stand growth was stronger in younger stands. As our data comes from a range of stands between ~ 25 and ~ 150 years old, the positive effect of structure on productivity matches the trend found in our experimental plots in later developmental stages. Particularly in terms of continuous cover forestry (Pommerening, 2006), which is currently pursued in Germany and other European countries, later developmental stages in forests beyond a conventional rotation period of 80-120 years in clearcut forestry become relevant. Continuous cover forestry is practiced as it has various advantages over clearcutting in terms of economics (Knoke, 2012), risk reduction (Brang et al., 2014), carbon balance (Pukkala, 2014), stability (Gardiner et al., 2005), ecology (Nordström et al., 2013; Chaudhary et al., 2016), and aesthetics (Hockenjos, 1999; Hoffman and Palmer, 2018). It can therefore also make use of the positive structural effect on stand productivity found in later developmental stages. The fulfillment of various ecosystem goods and services at the same time and place might benefit from structural heterogeneity in older forest stands. The concept of seeing stand structure purely as mechanistic precondition (Forrester

et al., 2018) for the production of energy in trees through the arrangements of stems, branches and leaves, can thus be expanded by interactions with tree species diversity, functional traits and the developmental stage of a forest.

The second part of the analysis examining structural effects at tree level on stand productivity was in line with the analysis at stand level. Diameter differentiation index based on tree positions, describing the size heterogeneity of each tree and its four nearest neighbor trees, was clearly positively correlated with structural heterogeneity at stand level (Fig. 3). On the one hand, a higher tree-to-tree heterogeneity in diameters in young forest stands might be rather counterproductive due to increased competition (Vanhellemont et al., 2018) and inefficient resource use of suppressed, small trees (Assmann, 1961, p. 34; Waring, 1987). On the other hand, a vertical stratification in older forests might lead to enhanced stand productivity, which seems valid for stand structure measured both at the stand and the individual tree level. Yet, the positive effect of structural heterogeneity among neighbor trees on stand productivity in the older experimental plots was even stronger in species-diverse stands than in monocultures. This could be an indicator of even higher niche facilitation in species-diverse stands if structural heterogeneity is provided not only at the stand level but also at the tree level.

Additionally, more insight was gained from analysis of the horizontal distribution of trees over time. Aggregation index was positively correlated with the development of standing volume, which means that the horizontal distribution of trees became more regular with stand development. We suspect that this is because small trees can fill gaps that appear over time. In a more regular horizontal distribution, they might contribute to overall stand productivity, especially in mixed stands, by exploiting unused space and light (De Boeck et al., 2006). A potential explanation for this is that young trees that are too clumped experience higher competition or even die out, especially those standing too close to a strong neighbor. On the other hand, an individual tree in a good position will remain in the stand and suppress weaker, less efficient neighbors (Vanhellemont et al., 2018).

Unlike in other studies (Pretzsch and Biber, 2016; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2016), we did not find a higher stand density in mixed-species stands. Possible reasons for this could be the highly productive and densely-packed monocultures that formed part of the experimental plots. Comparing versions of the linear mixed-effects model including and excluding stand density index as variable yielded similar results. We therefore concluded that stand density could have only marginal effects on tree diversity–structure–productivity relationships. The potential effects of stand density were most likely already accounted for by standing volume as a fixed effect in the model.

When examining competition and complementarity in traits as important drivers for stand productivity, climate and site conditions can also play a role. Madrigal-González et al. (2016) state that at colder sites, small trees seemed to benefit more from complementarity, whereas at warmer sites, complementarity was rather found among large trees. Small trees even experienced a reduction in growth at warm sites. Tree size distribution might therefore lead to different outcomes when analyzing mixing effects or structural effects at the tree level. Mean annual temperature and annual precipitation did not show any significant effects in the present study and were therefore eliminated from the model function.

The long-term experimental plots in this study covered a broad range of tree species diversity from monocultures up to a Shannon index of 0.4. In particular, monocultures and very diverse forest stands were represented by a large number of sample plots. Also, the coverage of different developmental stages was given (Fig. A.1). The aim of our study was to set up a straightforward model including variables that were suspected to account for the most probable structural effects on stand productivity. Similar studies using other data can easily be conducted if dbh for each tree is available. The second part of the analysis on a subset of the data using position-based indices did endorse the findings of our study. A similar analysis using other data would be more difficult to conduct in many cases due to the necessity of coordinates of tree positions. Our study demonstrates the advantage of long-term experimental plots that allow for analysis of the effect of time under *ceteris paribus* conditions, unlike inventory data, in which the sample plots are chronologically static and might therefore be more useful for broader analyses of spatial differences than time effects.

5. Conclusions

The main result of our analysis is that stand developmental stage can be a strong predictor of tree diversity–structure–productivity relationships. Our analysis can thus help to explain why many studies find different relationships between forest structure, tree species diversity, and productivity, and that they are not necessarily contradictory. Often, structural parameters are not considered in large-scale national inventories due to small plot sizes or low funds for detailed sampling. Also, biodiversity–productivity relationships are more often examined than structure–productivity relationships; the effect of stand development in particular has often been ignored. Consideration of the developmental stage of forest stands in future studies would thus allow for a more complete evaluation of tree diversity–structure–productivity relationships.

We conclude that the overarching analysis of tree diversity-structure-productivity relationships in long-term experimental plots and at different spatial scales (Chisholm et al., 2013; Whittaker, 2010) seems promising for the future elaboration of forest management and the understanding of the different findings of recent studies. Particularly in terms of climate change, the currently-applied or planned mixing and restructuring of European forests toward multifunctionality and continuous cover forestry could benefit from considering such interdependencies.

Acknowledgements

This study has been supported in parts by the BiodivERsA project "GreenFutureForests" [# 01LC1610B], by the FORD project Biotip [# 01LC1716D] promoted by the German Aerospace Center (DLR) and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research. The authors thank the Bavarian State Ministry for Nutrition, Agriculture, and Forestry for permanent support of the project "W 07 Long-term experimental plots for forest growth and yield research" [# 7831-22209-2013]. We also thank the European Union for funding of the project "Management of mixed-species stands. Options for a low-risk forest management (REFORM)" [# 2816ERA02S]. Further was this work financially supported by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) through the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE), [# 2816ERA02S].

Authors contributions

HP and LZ elaborated the idea for the study. HP provided the data of long-term experimental plots. LZ conducted the statistical analysis and drafting of the manuscript. Both authors contributed to the interpretation and discussion of results.

Appendix A

See Figs. A1 and A2.



Fig. A.1. Data points (measurements) used in the first part [all plots (a)] and the second part [plots including tree positions (b)] of the study. Ivol volume increment.



Fig. A.2. Standing volume over estimated stand age of all measurements in experimental plots.

References

- Ammer, C., 2018. Diversity and forest productivity in a changing climate. New Phytol. 221 (1).
- Ammer, C., Bickel, E., Kölling, C., 2008. Converting Norway spruce stands with beech a review of arguments and techniques. Austrian J. For. Sci. 125, 3–26.
- Ammer, C., Fichtner, A., Fischer, A., Gossner, M.M., Meyer, P., Seidl, R., et al., 2018. Key ecological research questions for Central European forests. Basic Appl. Ecol. 32, 3–25.
- Assmann, E., 1961. Waldertragskunde: Organische Produktion, Struktur, Zuwachs u. Ertrag von Waldbeständen. BLV Verl.-Ges, München, Bonn, Wien.
- Bauhus, J., Forrester, D.I., Jactel, H., Vallejo, R., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Ecological stability of mixed-species forests. In: In: Pretzsch, H., Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J. (Eds.), Mixed-Species Forests. Ecology and Management 653. Springer, Berlin, pp. 337–382.
- Binkley, D., Campoe, O.C., Gspaltl, M., Forrester, D.I., 2013. Light absorption and use efficiency in forests: why patterns differ for trees and stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 288, 5–13.
- Binkley, D., Kashian, D.M., Boyden, S., Kaye, M.W., Bradford, J.B., Arthur, M.A., et al., 2006. Patterns of growth dominance in forests of the Rocky Mountains, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 236, 193–201.
- Binkley, D., Stape, J.L., Bauerle, W.L., Ryan, M.G., 2010. Explaining growth of individual trees: light interception and efficiency of light use by Eucalyptus at four sites in Brazil. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 1704–1713.
- De Boeck, H.J., Bloor, J.M.G., Kreyling, J., Ransijn, J.C.G., Nijs, I., Jentsch, A., et al., 2018. Patterns and drivers of biodiversity-stability relationships under climate extremes. J. Ecol. 106, 890–902.
- De Boeck, H.J., Nijs, I., Lemmens, C.M.H.M., Ceulemans, R., 2006. Underlying effects of

spatial aggregation (clumping) in relationships between plant diversity and resource uptake. Oikos 113, 269–278.

- Bohn, F.J., Huth, A., 2017. The importance of forest structure to biodiversity-productivity relationships. Roy. Soc. 4.
- Bohn, F.J., May, F., Huth, A., 2018. Species composition and forest structure explain the temperature sensitivity patterns of productivity in temperate forests. Biogeosciences 15, 1795–1813 2.
- Bolte, A., Hilbrig, L., Grundmann, B., Kampf, F., Brunet, J., Roloff, A., 2010. Climate change impacts on stand structure and competitive interactions in a southern Swedish spruce-beech forest. Eur. J. For. Res. 129, 261–276.
- Bolte, A., Kampf, F., Hilbrig, L., 2013. Space sequestration below ground in old-growth spruce-beech forests-signs for facilitation? Front. Plant Sci. 4, 322.
- Bourdier, T., Cordonnier, T., Kunstler, G., Piedallu, C., Lagarrigues, G., Courbaud, B., 2016. Tree size inequality reduces forest productivity: an analysis combining inventory data for ten European species and a light competition model. PLoS ONE 11, e0151852.
- Brang, P., Spathelf, P., Larsen, J.B., Bauhus, J., Boncina, A., Chauvin, C., et al., 2014. Suitability of close-to-nature silviculture for adapting temperate European forests to climate change. Forestry 87, 492–503.
- Brown, C.E., 1998. Applied Multivariate Statistics in Geohydrology and Related Sciences. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Callaway, R.M., 1998. Competition and facilitation on elevation gradients in subalpine forests of the Northern Rocky Mountains, USA. Oikos 82, 561.
- Cardinale, B.J., Wright, J.P., Cadotte, M.W., Carroll, I.T., Hector, A., Srivastava, D.S., et al., 2007. Impacts of plant diversity on biomass production increase through time because of species complementarity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 18123–18128.
- Chaudhary, A., Burivalova, Z., Pin Koh, L., Hellweg, S., 2016. Impact of Forest

Management on Species Richness: Global Meta-Analysis and Economic Trade-Offs, Scientific Reports 6, Article number 23954.

- Chisholm, R.A., Muller-Landau, H.C., Abdul Rahman, K., Bebber, D.P., Bin, Y., Bohlman, S.A., et al., 2013. Scale-dependent relationships between tree species richness and ecosystem function in forests. J. Ecol. 101, 1214–1224.
- Clark, P.J., Evans, F.C., 1954. Distance to nearest neighbor as a measure of spatial relationships in populations. Ecology 35, 445–453.
- Danescu, A., Albrecht, A.T., Bauhus, J., 2016. Structural diversity promotes productivity of mixed, uneven-aged forests in southwestern Germany. Oecologia 182, 319–333.
- del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Alberdi, I., Bielak, K., Bravo, F., Brunner, A., et al., 2015. Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives. Eur. J. For. Res. 135, 23–49.
- del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Ruíz-Peinado, R., Ampoorter, E., Annighöfer, P., Barbeito, I., et al., 2017. Species interactions increase the temporal stability of community productivity in Pinus sylvestris-Fagus sylvatica mixtures across Europe. J. Ecol. 105, 1032–1043.
- del Río, M., Schütze, G., Pretzsch, H., 2014. Temporal variation of competition and facilitation in mixed species forests in Central Europe. Plant Biol. (Stuttg.) 16, 166–176.
- Dhôte, J.-F., 2005. Implication of forest diversity in resistance to strong winds. In: In: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function. Temperate and Boreal Systems. Ecological Studies, Analysis and Synthesis, vol. 176. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 291–307.
- Díaz-Yáñez, O., Mola-Yudego, B., González-Olabarria, J.R., Pukkala, T., 2017. How does forest composition and structure affect the stability against wind and snow? For. Ecol. Manage. 401, 215–222.
- Dieler, J., 2013. Biodiversität und Waldbewirtschaftung Auswirkungen auf Artenvielfalt, Strukturdiversität und Produktivität. Tagungsband der Sektion Ertragskunde im DVFFA, pp. 25–34.
- Dieler, J., Uhl, E., Biber, P., Müller, J., Rötzer, T., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Effect of forest stand management on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe. Eur. J. For. Res. 136, 739–766.
- Dorfman, R., 1979. A formula for the gini coefficient. Rev. Econ. Stat. 61, 146.
- Ercanli, İ., 2018. Positive effect of forest structural diversity on aboveground stand carbon stocks for even-aged Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) stands in the Saricicek Forest, Northern Turkey. Scand. J. For. Res. 33, 455–463.
- Fichtner, A., Härdtle, W., Bruelheide, H., Kunz, M., Li, Y., von Oheimb, G., 2018. Neighbourhood interactions drive overyielding in mixed-species tree communities. Nat. Commun. 9, 1144.
- Forrester, D.I., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P.J., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., Bravo-Oviedo, A., et al., 2018. Effects of crown architecture and stand structure on light absorption in mixed and monospecific *Fagus sylvatica* and *Pinus sylvestris* forests along a productivity and climate gradient through Europe. J. Ecol. 106, 746–760.
- Franklin, O., Aoki, K., Seidl, R., 2009. A generic model of thinning and stand density effects on forest growth, mortality and net increment. Ann. For. Sci. 66, 815. Gadow, K., Füldner, K., 1995. Zur Beschreibung forstlicher Eingriffe. Forstw. Cbl. 114.
- 151–159. Gardiner, B., Marshall, B., Achim, A., Belcher, R., Wood, C., 2005. The stability of dif-
- ferent silvicultural systems: a wind-tunnel investigation. For. Int. J. For. Res. 78, 471–484. Gómez-Aparicio, L., García-Valdés, R., Ruíz-Benito, P., Zavala, M.A., 2011. Disentangling
- Gomez-Aparicio, L., Garcia-Vaides, K., Ruiz-Benito, P., Zavala, M.A., 2011. Disentanging the relative importance of climate, size and competition on tree growth in Iberian forests: implications for forest management under global change. Global Change Biol. 17, 2400–2414.
- Griess, V.C., Knoke, T., 2011. Growth performance, windthrow, and insects: meta-analyses of parameters influencing performance of mixed-species stands in boreal and northern temperate biomes. Can. J. For. Res. 41, 1141–1159.
- Gspaltl, M., Bauerle, W., Binkley, D., Sterba, H., 2013. Leaf area and light use efficiency patterns of Norway spruce under different thinning regimes and age classes. For. Ecol. Manage. 288, 49–59.
- Hockenjos, W., 1999. Vom Forst zum Wald. Entwicklungstendenzen im naturnahen Waldbau | From a Production-Oriented Forest to a Multipurpose Forest. New Trends in Near-Natural Silviculture. Swiss For. J. 150, 484–488.
- Hoffman, R.E., Palmer, J., 2018. Silviculture and Forest Aesthetics within Stands.
- Jacob, M., Leuschner, C., Thomas, F.M., 2010. Productivity of temperate broad-leaved forest stands differing in tree species diversity. Ann. For. Sci. 67, 503.
- Jactel, H., Brockerhoff, E.G., 2007. Tree diversity reduces herbivory by forest insects. Ecol. Lett. 10, 835–848.
- Jactel, H., Gritti, E.S., Drössler, L., Forrester, D.I., Mason, W.L., Morin, X., et al., 2018. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationships in forests: climate matters. Biol. Lett. 14.
- Johann, K., 1993. DESER-Norm 1993. Normen der Sektion Ertragskunde im Deutschen Verband Forstlicher Forschungsanstalten zur Aufbereitung von waldwirtschaftlichen Dauerversuchen. Berichte der Jahrestagung des Deutschen Verbandes Forstlicher Sektion Ertragskunde in Unterreichenbach-Kapfenhardt, pp. 96–104.
- Juchheim, J., Ammer, C., Schall, P., Seidel, D., 2017. Canopy space filling rather than conventional measures of structural diversity explains productivity of beech stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 395, 19–26.
- Jucker, T., Bouriaud, O., Avacaritei, D., Coomes, D.A., 2014. Stabilizing effects of diversity on aboveground wood production in forest ecosystems: linking patterns and processes. Ecol. Lett. 17, 1560–1569.
- Knoke, T., 2012. The Economics of Continuous Cover Forestry. In: Pukkala, T. (Ed.), Continuous Cover Forestry. Managing Forest Ecosystems, vol. 23, second ed. Springer, Dordrecht, London, pp. 167–193.
- Knoke, T., Ammer, C., Stimm, B., Mosandl, R., 2008. Admixing broadleaved to coniferous tree species: a review on yield, ecological stability and economics. Eur. J. For. Res. 127, 89–101.

- Kramer, H., Gussone, H.A., 1988. Waldwachstumslehre: Ökologische und anthropogene Einflüsse auf das Wachstum des Waldes, seine Massen- und Wertleistung und die Bestandessicherheit. Parey, Hamburg u.a.
- Lei, X., Wang, W., Peng, C., 2009. Relationships between stand growth and structural diversity in spruce-dominated forests in New Brunswick, Canada. Can. J. For. Res. 39, 1835–1847.
- Lévesque, M., Saurer, M., Siegwolf, R., Eilmann, B., Brang, P., Bugmann, H., et al., 2013. Drought response of five conifer species under contrasting water availability suggests high vulnerability of Norway spruce and European larch. Glob. Change Biol. 19, 3184–3199.
- Lexerød, N.L., Eid, T., 2006. An evaluation of different diameter diversity indices based on criteria related to forest management planning. For. Ecol. Manage. 222, 17–28.
- Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G., et al., 2016. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354, aaf8957.
- Long, J.N., Shaw, J.D., 2010. The influence of compositional and structural diversity on forest productivity. Forestry 83, 121–128.
- Madrigal-González, J., Ruiz-Benito, P., Ratcliffe, S., Calatayud, J., Kändler, G., Lehtonen, A., et al., 2016. Complementarity effects on tree growth are contingent on tree size and climatic conditions across Europe. Sci. Rep. 6.
- Mainwaring, D.B., Maguire, D.A., 2004. The effect of local stand structure on growth and growth efficiency in heterogeneous stands of ponderosa pine and lodgepole pine in central Oregon. Can. J. For. Res. 34, 2217–2229.
- McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., Brack, C., Bauhus, J., 2005. Forest and woodland stand
- structural complexity: its definition and measurement. For. Ecol. Manage. 218, 1–24. McIntyre, P.J., Thorne, J.H., Dolanc, C.R., Flint, A.L., Flint, L.E., Kelly, M., et al., 2015. Twentieth-century shifts in forest structure in California: denser forests, smaller trees, and increased dominance of oaks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 112, 1458–1463.
- Monserud, R.A., Ek, A.R., 1974. Plot edge bias in forest stand growth simulation models. Can. J. For. Res. 4, 419–423.
- Morin, X., Fahse, L., Jactel, H., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., García-Valdés, R., Bugmann, H., 2018. Long-term response of forest productivity to climate change is mostly driven by change in tree species composition. Sci. Rep. 8, 5627.
- Morin, X., Fahse, L., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Bugmann, H., 2011. Tree species richness promotes productivity in temperate forests through strong complementarity between species. Ecol. Lett. 14, 1211–1219.
- Netherer, S., Matthews, B., Katzensteiner, K., Blackwell, E., Henschke, P., Hietz, P., et al., 2015. Do water-limiting conditions predispose Norway spruce to bark beetle attack? New Phytol. 205, 1128–1141.
- Neuner, S., Albrecht, A., Cullmann, D., Engels, F., Griess, V.C., Hahn, W.A., et al., 2015. Survival of Norway spruce remains higher in mixed stands under a dryer and warmer climate. Glob. Change Biol. 21, 935–946.
- Nordström, E.-M., Holmström, H., Öhman, K., 2013. Evaluating continuous cover forestry based on the forest owner's objectives by combining scenario analysis and multiple criteria decision analysis. Silva Fenn. 47.
- Paquette, A., Messier, C., 2011. The effect of biodiversity on tree productivity: from temperate to boreal forests. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 170–180.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., R Core Team, 2018. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package nlme version 3.1-137.
- Pommerening, A., 2006. Transformation to continuous cover forestry in a changing environment. For. Ecol. Manage. 224, 227–228.
- Pretzsch, H., 2009. Forest Dynamics, Growth and Yield: From Measurement to Model. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Pretzsch, H., 2013. Facilitation and competition in mixed-species forests analyzed along an ecological gradient. In: The Alternatives Growth and Defense: Resource Allocation at Multiple Scales in Plants: International Leopoldina Symposium, Freising, July 4 to 6, 2011; with 20 tables. Wiss. Verl.-Ges. [u.a.], Stuttgart, pp. 159–174.
- Pretzsch, H., 2014. Canopy space filling and tree crown morphology in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 327, 251–264.
- Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., 2010. Size-symmetric versus size-asymmetric competition and growth partitioning among trees in forest stands along an ecological gradient in central Europe. Can. J. For. Res. 40, 370–384.
- Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., 2016. Tree species mixing can increase maximum stand density. Can. J. For. Res. 46, 1179–1193.
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., 2016. Effect of tree species mixing on the size structure, density, and yield of forest stands. Eur. J. For. Res. 135, 1–22.
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., Uhl, E., 2013a. Resistance of European tree species to drought stress in mixed versus pure forests: evidence of stress release by inter-specific facilitation. Plant Biol. (Stuttg.) 15, 483–495.
- Pretzsch, H., Uhl, E., Nickel, M., Steinacker, L., Schütze, G., 2013b. Das ertragskundliche Versuchswesen in Bayern: Nachhaltigkeit in der Waldwachstumsforschung. LWF Wissen 72, 114–121.
- Pukkala, T., 2014. Does biofuel harvesting and continuous cover management increase carbon sequestration? For. Pol. Econ. 43, 41–50.
- R Core Team, 2014. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Radtke, P.J., Burkhart, H.E., 1998. A comparison of methods for edge-bias compensation. Can. J. For. Res. 28, 942–945.
- Reineke, L.H., 1933. Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. J. Agric. Res. 46, 627–638.
- Riofrío, J., del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Bravo, F., 2017. Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. For. Ecol. Manage. 405, 219–228.
- Roessiger, J., Griess, V.C., Härtl, F., Clasen, C., Knoke, T., 2013. How economic performance of a stand increases due to decreased failure risk associated with the admixing of species. Ecol. Model. 255, 58–69.

- Rothe, A., Binkley, D., 2001. Nutritional interactions in mixed species forests: a synthesis. Can. J. For. Res. 31, 1855–1870.
- Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Potvin, C., 2010. Tree diversity explains variation in ecosystem function in a Neotropical forest in Panama. Biotropica 42, 638–646.
- Sapijanskas, J., Paquette, A., Potvin, C., Kunert, N., Loreau, M., 2014. Tropical tree diversity enhances light capture through crown plasticity and spatial and temporal niche differences. Ecology 95, 2479–2492.
- Schall, P., Schulze, E.-D., Fischer, M., Ayasse, M., Ammer, C., 2018. Relations between forest management, stand structure and productivity across different types of Central European forests. Basic Appl. Ecol. 32, 39–52.
- Schütz, J.-P., Götz, M., Schmid, W., Mandallaz, D., 2006. Vulnerability of spruce (*Picea abies*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) forest stands to storms and consequences for silviculture. Eur J Forest Res 125, 291–302.
- Schwinning, S., Weiner, J., 1998. Mechanisms determining the degree of size asymmetry in competition among plants. Oecologia 113, 447–455.
- Serra-Diaz, J.M., Enquist, B.J., Maitner, B., Merow, C., Svenning, J.-C., 2017. Big data of tree species distributions: how big and how good? For. Ecosyst. 4, 660.
- Shannon, C.E., 1948. A mathematical theory of communication. Bell Syst. Tech. J. 27, 379–423.
- Silva Pedro, M., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2015. Tree species diversity mitigates disturbance impacts on the forest carbon cycle. Oecologia 177, 619–630.
- Silva Pedro, M., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2017. Disentangling the effects of compositional and structural diversity on forest productivity. J. Veg. Sci. 28, 649–658.
- Skovsgaard, J.P., 2009. Analysing effects of thinning on stand volume growth in relation to site conditions: a case study for even-aged Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.). Forestry 82, 87–104.

Soares, A.A.V., Leite, H.G., Souza, A.L., Silva, S.R., Lourenço, H.M., Forrester, D.I., 2016.

- Increasing stand structural heterogeneity reduces productivity in Brazilian Eucalyptus monoclonal stands. For. Ecol. Manage. 373, 26–32.
- Sumida, A., 1995. Three-dimensional structure of a mixed broad-leaved forest in Japan. Plant Ecol. Int. J. 119, 67–80.
- van der Maaten-Theunissen, M., Kahle, H.-P., van der Maaten, E., 2013. Drought sensitivity of Norway spruce is higher than that of silver fir along an altitudinal gradient in southwestern Germany. Ann. For. Sci. 70, 185–193.
- Vanhellemont, M., Bijlsma, R.-J., de Keersmaeker, L., Vandekerkhove, K., Verheyen, K., 2018. Species and structural diversity affect growth of oak, but not pine, in unevenaged mature forests. Basic Appl. Ecol. 27, 41–50.

Vitali, V., Büntgen, U., Bauhus, J., 2017. Silver fir and Douglas fir are more tolerant to extreme droughts than Norway spruce in south-western Germany. Glob. Change Biol. 23, 5108–5119.

Waring, R.H., 1987. Characteristics of trees predisposed to die. Bioscience 37, 569-574.

- Weigel, R., Muffler, L., Klisz, M., Kreyling, J., van der Maaten-Theunissen, M., Wilmking, M., et al., 2018. Winter matters: Sensitivity to winter climate and cold events increases towards the cold distribution margin of European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.). J.
- Biogeogr. 2012, 1.
 Whittaker, R.J., 2010. Meta-analyses and mega-mistakes: Calling time on meta-analysis of the species richness-productivity relationship. Ecology 91, 2522–2533.
- Young, B.D., D'Amato, A.W., Kern, C.C., Kastendick, D.N., Palik, B.J., 2017. Seven decades of change in forest structure and composition in Pinus resinosa forests in northern Minnesota, USA: comparing managed and unmanaged conditions. For. Ecol. Manage. 395, 92–103.
- Zeller, L., Liang, J., Pretzsch, H., 2018. Tree species richness enhances stand productivity while stand structure can have opposite effects, based on forest inventory data from Germany and the United States of America. For. Ecosyst. 5.

6.2.4 Publication 4

Titel: Analyzing the effect of silvicultural management on the trade-off between stand structural heterogeneity and productivity over time

Authors: Zeller, Laura; Toraño Caicoya, Astor; Pretzsch, Hans

Year: 20xx

Journal: Forests

5-year impact factor: 2.453

DOI: *in review*

Authors' contributions: The candidate conceptualized the study. Astor Toraño Caicoya and the candidate elaborated the methodology. Hans Pretzsch supervised the writing of the study. The original draft was written by the candidate. Review and editing was supported by Astor Toraño Caicoya and Hans Pretzsch.

Abstract: Research Highlights: This study combines an empirically-based simulation with an analysis of biodiversity-relevant structural indicators depending on time, spatial scale and silvicultural management. It supports forest management in planning the multifunctionality of future forest ecosystems while prioritizing a high wood production. Background and Objectives: The planning of future forest ecosystems is often difficult due to various assumptions concerning climatic changes and the future demand of wood products and other ecosystem functions and services. Whereas volume growth and tree species diversity have been examined in detail, the role of forest structure and its interdependencies with stand productivity and biodiversity have just lately become a stronger research focus. Materials and Methods: We used the SILVA growth simulator to examine the development of different biodiversity-relevant structural indicators in pure and mixed spruce and beech stands at different spatial scales over a range of 100 years. Those stands are based on typical forest types in Bavaria and are representative for Central Europe. We examined how potential trade-offs between the diversity-relevant structural indicators and productivity are modified by a multifunctional, a productionoriented and a set-aside management scenario. Results: The production-oriented management scenario applied to uneven-aged stands led to a reduction in biodiversity-relevant structural indicators over time. In age-class stands, the production-oriented scenario was able to maintain

the initial structural heterogeneity. The multifunctional scenario led to a decrease in the structural parameters if applied to the pure beech age-class stands, which was not the case in unevenaged stands. Beyond a radius between 300-1000 m, the structural indicators and trade-offs did not increase further with increasing spatial scale. Conclusions: Depending on the initial stand, the management scenario can favor or hinder the development of biodiversity-relevant structures over time. Spatial explicit scenario analyses support the management of forest ecosystems for multifunctionality.





1 Article

- 2 Analyzing the effect of silvicultural management on
- 3 the trade-off between stand structural heterogeneity
- 4 and productivity over time

5 Laura Zeller,* Astor Toraño Caicoya, and Hans Pretzsch

- 6 Chair for Forest Growth and Yield Science, School of Life Sciences Weihenstephan, Technical University of
 7 Munich, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, 85354 Freising, Germany; <u>laura.zeller@tum.de</u> (L.Z.),
 8 astor.torano-caicoya@tum.de (A.T.), <u>hans.pretzsch@lrz.tum.de</u> (H.P.)
- 9 * Correspondence: laura.zeller@tum.de
- 10 Received: date; Accepted: date; Published: date

11 Abstract: Research Highlights: This study combines an empirically based simulation with an analysis 12 of the trade-off between structural heterogeneity and stand productivity depending on time, spatial 13 scale, and silvicultural management. It supports forest management by testing a modification of 14 forest structure and thus fostering the multifunctionality of forests while maintaining a high 15 productivity. Background and Objectives: The planning of future forest ecosystems is often difficult 16 because of various assumptions concerning climatic changes and the future demand for wood 17 products and other ecosystem functions and services. Whereas volume growth and tree species 18 diversity have been examined in detail, the role of forest structure and its interdependencies with 19 stand productivity have only lately become a stronger research focus. Materials and Methods: We 20 used the growth simulator SILVA to examine the development of stand structural heterogeneity 21 and its trade-off with stand productivity in age-class vs. uneven-aged pure and mixed spruce and 22 beech stands at different spatial scales over 100 years. Those stands are based on typical forest types 23 in Bavaria and are representative of forests in Central Europe. We examined how stand structure 24 and its trade-off with productivity is modified by a multifunctional, a production-oriented and a 25 set-aside management scenario. Results: The production-oriented management scenario applied to 26 uneven-aged stands led to a reduction in structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity over time. 27 In age-class stands, the production-oriented scenario was able to maintain the initial structural 28 heterogeneity. The structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity increased more strongly with 29 increasing spatial scale in age-class stands compared to uneven-aged stands. Conclusions: 30 Depending on the initial stand, the silvicultural management approach could favor or hinder the 31 development of structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity over time. Combining forest stand 32 simulation with scenario analyses is an exemplary method for testing the effect of silvicultural 33 management alternatives on forest structure before it is applied to real forests.

- Keywords: forest ecosystem functions and services, forest stand growth, management scenarios,
 multifunctionality, structural complexity, virtual forest
- 36

37 1. Introduction

Sustainably maintaining multifunctional forest ecosystems has become a widespread objective of forest management [1,2], and this development increases the interest in analyzing the potentially strong influence of tree species diversity [3,4] and forest structure on ecosystem functions and services [5–7]. Previously established monospecific and even-aged forests had the aim of a high yield and the homogeneous provision of one product [8]. Silvicultural management has shifted its focus to multifunctional mixed forests [9]. Here, stand structural heterogeneity emerges as an important factor when the aim of management is to provide a broad range of forest ecosystem functions and services [5]. Different studies show positive [10], but often negative [11,12] effects of stand structural
heterogeneity on wood production. The potential negative effect of structural heterogeneity on wood
production is balanced by a broad range of beneficial effects on habitat heterogeneity [13],
biodiversity [14,15], carbon storage [16], mechanical stability [17,18], and resilience [19].

49 Stand structural heterogeneity is commonly quantified using indices based on tree size 50 distribution [20,7]. These indices are easily calculated also by forest practitioners and based on data 51 that is usually sampled in forest inventories [21,22]. We selected a coefficient of variation of dbh 52 (diameter at breast height (1.3 m)) for our study because it is a commonly used measurement [22–24] 53 and is suitable for describing stand structural heterogeneity in general.

54 High structural heterogeneity originates partly from tree species mixing due to the differences 55 in growth rates and requirements among tree species [24]. In Germany, Norway spruce and European 56 beech are the most common coniferous and deciduous tree species, respectively, and together 57 represent about 40% of the forest area in Germany [25]. A shift from Norway spruce and Scots pine 58 (Pinus sylvestris L.) monocultures to mixed continuous cover forests [8] is intended for many regions 59 in Germany for economic [26,27], ecological [28], and other reasons [28]. The advantages of a 60 transition to species-diverse forests is also being discussed in other parts of Europe [29,30] and 61 worldwide [4,31].

To test the effect of silvicultural management on the structure-productivity relationship in both age-class and uneven-aged pure and mixed stands in the long-term, simulation can be a useful tool [32–34]. We generated virtual forest stands consisting of mainly Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) H. Karst.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) with different initial stand structure (age-class vs. uneven-aged) and spatial arrangements (pure stands, single tree mixture and section-wise mixture) to test the effects of silvicultural management on the structural heterogeneity in those different types of stands.

Age-class stands still exist in Germany but have been increasingly transformed into unevenaged stands [35,36], which is why we compared age-class and uneven-aged stands in our study. The chosen initial stand structure and tree species composition therefore represent existing forest types that are of practical concern and part of the current debate on the sustainable and multifunctional management of forests in Europe [37–40].

74 Even though forest management intends to incorporate other ecosystem functions and services 75 into their portfolio, a high production of wood products is still often the first priority. Production-76 oriented forestry is often associated with the above-mentioned even-aged stands that automatically 77 have a lower structural heterogeneity than uneven-aged stands. In German forestry, the most 78 common type of forest can be described as a so called "high forest". Two common management 79 approaches in high forest management concerning regeneration, thinning, and harvesting are age-80 class (even-aged) forest management and continuous cover forestry [41]. In the case of age-class forest 81 management, artificial or natural regeneration is applied after harvesting at the end of the rotation 82 period. There are usually only one or two layers present. The rotation period is an important 83 determinant of the amount and time of harvesting activities. The selection of tree species is rather 84 focused on fast-growing conifers. Pure forests with one or two layers managed by age-class 85 management are still present but have increasingly been transformed into continuous cover forests.

86 In continuous cover forestry, trees of different ages grow next to each other and selective cutting 87 is applied. The resulting stands can therefore be called uneven-aged stands [42]. Regeneration also 88 happens continuously below and in between older trees. Continuous cover forestry aims to provide 89 continuous crown cover, tree species mixing and regeneration with deciduous tree species. 90 Continuous cover forestry also results in increased tree size inequality and thus increased structural 91 heterogeneity. An increase in stand structural heterogeneity, however, has in many cases been found 92 to negatively influence stand productivity [12,43,44], particularly in pure stands [11,45]. Continuous 93 cover forestry attempts to integrate multifuntionality into production forests [46].

In national parks or other set-aside areas, no commercial management is applied. This hands-off
 approach can reveal how forests develop without intervention, or after abandonment. Structural

heterogeneity can be higher than in production forests and includes an old-growth phase with veryold and large tree and parallel regeneration [47].

In our study we represent the three common management approaches age-class or even-aged forestry, continuous cover forestry, and the conservation approach by the three scenarios "production-oriented", "multifunctional", and "set-aside". The management scenarios used in this study therefore represent the common silvicultural management approaches applied in Germany that have resulted in the existing age-class forests, continuous cover forests, and set-aside forests, respectively [40]. By applying all three scenarios to both initial age-class and uneven-aged stands, we test the effects of management on the most common existing types stand structures.

105 The negative effect of high structural heterogeneity on the wood production found in some cases 106 [45,11] can result in a trade-off between stand structure and productivity [5,30]. It is of great interest 107 how forest management can modify this trade-off since structural heterogeneity is know to enhance 108 the mechanical stability of a forest [18], as well as it is key to many other ecosystem functions and 109 services [7]. As the interest of this study is the relative dependency between the two, quantifying the 110 trade-off by a simple ratio was applicable. The aim of increasing either wood production or sacrificing 111 productivity for a higher structural heterogeneity was incorporated in the management scenarios 112 prioritizing different aims.

The extent of structural heterogeneity in forests moreover depends on the spatial scale at which it is measured [48–50]. Depending on the purpose of a forest, a provision of certain stand characteristics might be sufficient or particularly important at a larger spatial scale [51,52]. In some cases, instead of a high structural heterogeneity at tree level, habitat heterogeneity was found to be particularly important at larger spatial scales for overall biodiversity [53,15,54]. The selected virtual forest stands enable the comparison between structural heterogeneity at tree level (uneven-aged stands) or at stand level (age-class stands).

Based on German forestry practice, we analyzed the effect of silvicultural management on stand structural heterogeneity and its trade-off with stand productivity in age-class vs. uneven-aged forest stands over time and on different spatial scales. This study represents an overarching approach complementing existing findings on the effects of forest management [55,56,30] and aims at linking aspects, such as stand structure, productivity, silvicultural management, time, and spatial scale, which are often examined individually [57]. It addresses the management of future forest ecosystems by examining the following research question:

127

128 How does stand structural heterogeneity in age-class vs. uneven-aged stands develop over time 129 and spatial scale in different management scenarios?

130 2. Materials and Methods

131 2.1. Data and virtual stands

132 Virtual stands were formed based on forest types of 16 ha (strata) that resulted from a stratification 133 of the German National Forest Inventory. This process is part of the standard simulation process of the 134 forest simulator SILVA [58], which was then used to elaborate the scenarios. The individual inventory 135 points for the State of Bavaria were grouped according to structural characteristics (tree size 136 distribution, species composition) and to the ecological region that they represent. The strata were 137 defined by specific structures and average spatial distributions. All data points belonging to each 138 stratum were used to generate a representative stand of a defined surface (16 ha) using the STRUGEN 139 algorithm [23]. During this process, simulated individual trees were distributed by point process 140 algorithms over the area until they fulfilled the stated stand structures. This stratification process 141 ensures that each forest type represents real forests in Bavaria [25].

We generated 8 virtual forest stands that mainly consist of Norway spruce and European beech in equal shares, and very low numbers of pine and sessile oak (Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.). The resulting 8 different virtual forest stands consist of 12 patches of different forest-type patches (16 ha),

145 leading to a total stand size of 192 ha each. One age-class stand and one uneven-aged stand of each of

146 the 4 types of species compositions were set up: pure spruce (Figure A 1 and Figure A 2), pure beech 147 (Figure A 3 and Figure A 4), a single-tree mixture of spruce and beech (Figure A 5 and Figure A 6), and 148 a section-wise mixture, that included 1 section (96 ha) of pure spruce and 1 section (96 ha) of pure beech 149 next to each other (Figure A 7 and Figure A 8). For a comparable starting situation, the selected forest 150 types cover a similar range of tree sizes (dbh and height distribution), number of trees per ha, and 151 standing volume (m³ ha⁻¹) (Table 1). Variation in the spatial allocation of the trees in the stand results 152 from the age-class vs. uneven-aged stand structure. The number of trees per ha and volume per ha was 153 first calculated per forest-type patch (16 ha) to show the variability between the forest type patches 154 inside the forest stands (Table 1). All forest-type patches forming the virtual forest stands were based 155 on the same soil and growing conditions. Apart from the intended differences in the management and 156 initial structure (age-class vs. uneven-aged), the stands were thus similar.

			dbh (cm) height (m)					tree volume (m^3)			.3)	trees (n ha ⁻¹) per forest type				vo	volume (m ³ ha ⁻¹) per forest				
			u	JII (CIII)			neign	t (III)		liee von	unie (in	[]		patch	(16 ha)		type patch (16ha)				
mixgroup	group	min	mea n	max	sd	min	mea n	max	sd	min	mea n	ma x	Sd	min	mean	max	sd	min	mea n	ma x	sd
pure	age-	7	16	62	11	6	14	41	Ŷ	0	0	5	0.71	04	1711	2528	74	14	218	014	207
spruce	class	/	10	02	11	0	14	41	0	0	0	3	0.71	94	1/11	2338	8	14	210	914	207
pure	uneven-	7	10	87	13	4	17	42	Q	0	0	8	0.80	780	1086	1706	29	246	183	636	117
spruce	aged	/	19	82	15	4	17	42	0	0	0	0	0.80	/ 89	1080	1700	7	240	403	030	11/
pure	age-	7	22	68	13	7	10	42	Q	0	1	8	0.77	06	610	848	24	0	250	681	205
beech	class	/	22	08	15	/	19	42	0	0	1	0	0.77	90	010	040	6	9	250	001	205
pure	uneven-	7	10	58	11	6	20	36	Q	0	1	5	1.07	714	1045	1475	28	200	537	600	150
beech	aged	,	17	50	11	0	20	50	0	0	1	5	1.07	/14	1045	1475	1	207	551	070	150
single-tree	age-	8	24	70	13	5	18	37	8	0	1	6	0.85	250	602	002	27	28	308	815	248
mix	class	0	24	70	15	5	10	57	0	0	1	0	0.85	239	092	992	6	28	508	015	240
single-tree	uneven-	7	21	80	12	5	17	28	Q	0	1	6	0.05	441	1082	1611	38	270	151	660	157
mix	aged	/	21	80	15	5	17	30	0	0	1	0	0.95	441	1082	1011	2	270	434	009	137
section-	age-	14	22	61	7	14	10	20	4	0	0	5	0.44	222	1012	1500	46	242	250	470	01
wise mix	class	14	25	01	/	14	19	20	4	0	0	5	0.44	232	1015	1388	0	245	332	470	91
section-	uneven-	7	17	57	11	6	17	26	o	0	0	4	0.61	714	1104	1706	35	200	470	504	145
wise mix	aged	/	1/	51	11	0	1 /	30	0	U	U	4	0.01	/14	1194	1700	0	209	470	394	143

157 Table 1: Characteristics of the initial virtual forest stands

158 2.2. Growth simulation by SILVA

The growth of the virtually designed forest stands was simulated over 100 years using the singletree-based forest growth simulator SILVA. SILVA was developed, and evaluated, and has been successfully applied in forest practice since 1989 by the Chair of Forest Growth and Yield of the Technical University of Munich. This simulation program considers single-tree positions, competition with neighbor trees, as well as tree age in pure and mixed stands and is suitable for forests in Central Europe [59,60]. SILVA enables the testing of the effect of different types of silvicultural practices on forest growth [61] and other ecosystem functions and services [62,32,63].

166 2.3. Management scenarios

167 The management scenarios considered in this study comprise a large set of silvicultural practices 168 that represent the current challenges in forest management [64]. These provide species-specified details 169 for every target tree species modeled in SILVA (Norway spruce, Scots pine, silver fir, European larch, 170 European beech, sessile and common oak, Douglas-fir, hardwood deciduous, and softwood deciduous) 171 [65]. Each intervention is defined depending on the dominant species in the stand and is applied 172 specifically to the defined height phases, i.e., stand development stages. In our study we have not 173 included climate-related changes and have instead set climate as a stable assumption to focus purely 174 on the effect of management.

A multifunctional and a production-oriented scenario were applied to show the differences in management impact, depending on the different initial structures (age-class vs. uneven-aged stands) in different species compositions (pure spruce, pure beech, single tree mixture spruce-beech, section-wise mixture spruce-beech). For reference, a set-aside scenario was used where no management was conducted.

180 The multifunctional scenario (Table 2) is oriented towards a multifunctionality of forests [37] by 181 integrating ecosystem functions and services into the management of production forests [46,66]. This 182 includes the goal of a continuous crown cover, as well as a high structural heterogeneity and species 183 diversity, including a higher share of deciduous species. Depending on the dominant tree species of 184 each forest type (Table 2, column 1), silvicultural management was conducted. From stand 185 establishment to the stand stage with a dominant height of 12 m, a stem number reduction and a 186 removal of 15 m3 ha-1 at maximum per intervention was carried out. Selective thinning was conducted 187 at a dominant height between 12 m and 32 m, which removed up to 55 m³ ha⁻¹ in deciduous-dominated 188 stands and up to 70 m³ ha⁻¹ in coniferous-dominated stands per intervention. The target diameter 189 harvest phase started at a dominant height of 32 m and removed between 80 and 144 m³ ha⁻¹ of conifers 190 and 70 m³ ha⁻¹ in deciduous-dominated stands. All the conducted treatments were applied in turns of 191 2 simulation periods (10 years) [67]. In this scenario, natural regeneration was the main contributor to 192 the ingrowth. To improve species diversity, Scots pine (500 trees ha-1) was planted during the 193 regeneration phase in the conifer-dominated stands. In the deciduous-dominated stands, in addition to 194 the natural regeneration, Scots pine (250 trees ha-1), European beech (6000 trees ha-1), and Douglas-fir 195 (250 trees ha⁻¹) were planted during the regeneration phase to increase the multifunctionality.

196 The production-oriented scenario (Table 3) focused on the production of wood, following the 197 expected increase in the demand for wood products in Europe [68,69]. The amount of harvested wood 198 was set as the first priority by reducing the rotation period and promoting conifers and fast-growing 199 tree species. In the production-oriented scenario, stem reduction was applied on deciduous tree species, 200 removing up to 25 m³ ha⁻¹ per intervention, while no stem reduction was applied to conifer-dominated 201 stands. In the deciduous stands starting at a dominant height of 12 m up to 17 m, a selective thinning 202 and a thinning from below was then applied removing up to 25 m³ ha⁻¹. The final felling was conducted 203 by minor selective thinning and a target-diameter felling of trees with a dbh between 20 and 200 cm 204 and a removal of up to 500 m³ of the standing volume. In the conifer stands, strong selective thinning 205 and target-diameter felling was applied in two height phases. During the first phase from 12 to 19 m 206 dominant height up to 60 m³ ha⁻¹ were removed targeting conifers with a dbh between 40 and 200 cm 207 and deciduous trees with diameters > 5 cm. During the second phase up to 120 m³ ha⁻¹ were removed 208 for diameters between 50 and 200 cm for all species. The final felling phase was aimed at trees with a 209 height > 31 m, applying a light selective thinning and a target-diameter felling with a removed standing 210 volume of up to 500 m3 ha-1 and a diameter between 5 and 200 cm for deciduous trees and a diameter 211 between 20 and 200 cm for conifers. In this scenario, in addition to natural regeneration [62], Norway 212 spruce (4000 trees ha-1) and Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) (100 trees ha-1) were planted during 213 the regeneration phase.

214 Table 2: Thinning and harvesting measures in the multifunctional scenario

Multifunctional

18

coniferous future tree concept

Domina	Phase	Starts at	Tree	Treatment	Frequency	Ν	Ν	Target	% of	Max.
nt tree		dominant	species			future	comp	diamete	targeted	volume
species		height (m)				crop	etitors	r [cm]	(trees ha-	removed per
						trees			¹)	treatment
									removed	(m ³ ha-1)
									per	
									treatment	
Conifer	Precommerci	0	coniferous	no treatment	2	0	0	0	0	15
ous	al									
			deciduous	stem number reduction	2	1000	0	0	0	15
	Commercial	12	coniferous	future tree concept	1	100	3	0	0	50
			deciduous	future tree concept	1	150	3	0	0	50
		26	coniferous	future tree concept	2	200	3	0	0	110
			deciduous	future tree concept (no	2	300	3	0	0	110
				treatment for beech)						
	Harvest	35	coniferous	target diameter felling	10	0	0	45-120	100	350
				(gap opening and						
				regenaration,						
				plantation)						
			deciduous	no treatment	10	0	0			
		37	coniferous	target diameter felling	2	0	0	45-120	100	80
			deciduous	no treatment	2	0	0			
										_
Deciduo	Precommerci	0	coniferous	stem number reduction	2	1000	0	0	0	15
us	al									
			deciduous	no treatment	2	0	0	0	0	15
	_			_						
	Commercial	12	coniferous	future tree concept	2	100	2	0	0	40
					-		-	<u>^</u>	~	
			deciduous	future tree concept	2	100	2	0	0	40

0

2

2 75

0

55

		deciduous	future tree concept	2	75	2	0	0	55
Harvest	32	coniferous	target diameter felling	2	0		45-80	95	80
		deciduous	target diameter felling	2	0		65-80	95	80

215 Table 3: Thinning and harvesting measures in the production-oriented scenario

Production-oriented

Dominant	Phase	Starts	Tree species	Treatment	Frequency	Ν	Ν	Target	% of	Max.
tree species		at				future	comp	diamet	targeted	volume
		domin				crop	etitors	er	trees ha-1	removed per
		ant				trees		(cm)	removed per	treatment
		height							treatment	(m ³ ha-1)
		(m)								
Coniferous	Precomme	0	coniferous	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
	rcial									
			deciduous	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
	Commerci	12	coniferous	selective thinning and	2	0	0	40-	50	60
	al			target diameter felling				200		
			deciduous	selective thinning and	2	0	0	5-200	50	60
				target diameter felling						
		19	coniferous	selective thinning and	2	0	0	50-	50	120
				target diameter felling				200		
			deciduous	selective thinning and	2	0	0	50-	50	120
				target diameter felling				200		
	Harvest	31	coniferous	selective thinning and	1	0	0	20-	100	500
				target diameter felling				200		
			deciduous	selective thinning and	1	0	0	5-200	100	500
				target diameter felling						
Deciduous	Precomme	0	coniferous	stem number	1	0	0	0	0	25
	rcial			reduction						
			deciduous	stem number	1	0	0	0	0	25
				reduction						

Commerci	12	coniferous	selective thinning	1	0	0	0	0	25
al									
		deciduous	selective thinning	1	0	0	0	0	25
	17	coniferous	thinning from below	1	0	0	0	0	25
		deciduous	thinning from below	1	0	0	0	0	25
Harvest	30	coniferous	no treatment	1	0	0	20- 200	100	500
		deciduous	selective thinning and target diameter felling	1	0	0	20- 200	100	500

216 2.4. Characterizing the forest stands

217 The coefficient of variation of dbh (dbh.cv) was selected to characterize the forest stands. It is a 218 commonly used and easy to replicate structural indicator [23]. The Stand Density Index (SDI) by 219 Reineke [70] was included as an independent variable to cover the potential effects of stand density on 220 stand structure. The standing volume (m³ ha-1) was estimated based on dbh, tree height, and form 221 factors following the DESER standard [71] and represents the merchantable wood volume (log size > 7 222 cm diameter at smaller end) per hectare and year (m³ ha⁻¹). The volume increment ivol was defined by 223 the increment in the standing volume per ha and year (m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). The relative volume increment in 224 % of the standing volume (m³ ha⁻¹) rel.ivol was included in the descriptive part to visualize the 225 development of stand productivity in the different management scenarios.

226

Table 4: Overview of structural indicators applied in this study

Code	Name	Equation	Description
dbh.cv	Coefficient of variation of dbh	$dbh. cv = \frac{sd}{\overline{dbh}}$	The dbh.cv [72] relates the standard deviation sd to the mean \overline{dbh} . It measures tree size heterogeneity within a defined area based on dbh.
SDI	Stand density index	$\text{SDI} = N \cdot \left(\frac{25}{dq}\right)^{-1.605}$	The SDI by Reineke [70] uses total stem number per ha, $N = \sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i$, and the quadratic mean diameter dq. SDI enables the comparison of forest stands of different ages.
vol	Standing volume	Vol = m ³ ha ⁻¹	The standing volume vol is the quantity of merchantable timber per ha.
ivol	Volume increment	$ivol = m^3 ha^{-1} yr^{-1}$	The ivol Quantifies the volume increment in merchantable timer per hectare and year.
rel.ivol	Relative volume increment	rel.ivol = ivol / vol	The rel.ivol is the volume increment (m ³ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹) per standing volume vol (m ³ ha ⁻¹) in %.

227 2.5. Trade-off

For the calculation of the trade-off between structural heterogeneity dbh.cv and productivity ivol, dbh.cv and ivol were standardized for a comparable value range as applied by others [73,74]. The standardized dbh.cv and ivol called str and prod, respectively:

231
$$str_{i,j,k} = \frac{dbh.cv_{i,j,k} - min(dbh.cv_i)}{max(dbh.cv_i) - min(dbh.cv_i)}$$
(Eq. 1)

232
$$prod_{i,j} = \frac{ivol_{i,j} - min(ivol_i)}{max(ivol_i) - min(ivol_i)}$$
 (Eq. 2)

str and prod are the standardized versions of dbh.cv and ivol on stand i in year j and at the spatial scale of radius k. One mean value of ivol (m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) per stand was calculated, because productivity was of value only at the level of the whole stand. The stand was seen as a profit-making forest enterprise where the total value is of importance. The min and max are the minimum and maximum of dbh.cv of all stands, years and spatial scales. The standardized str and prod values ranged from 0 to 1.

The trade-off between the standardized structural heterogeneity str and the standardized productivity prod was then set up. The trade-off therefore describes the level of structural heterogeneity in relation to a certain level of productivity. In this way, the relative level of structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity can be measured, even if stands have a different absolute level of productivity:

 $242 t_{i,j,k} = \frac{str_{i,j,k}}{prod_{i,j}} (Eq. 3)$

ti,j,k is the trade-off between the standardized structural heterogeneity str on stand i in year j on the spatial scale k and the standardized productivity prod of stand i in year j. A larger t value means that a stand provides more structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity. The trade-off t was calculated for each stand, point in time, radius, and each of the 3 management scenarios.

247 2.6. Growing window for different spatial scales

For the continuous analysis of structural heterogeneity at different spatial scales, we used a growing window technique [75]. A circle was drawn around each random point with increasing radius k for the radii 5, 10, 25, 50, 75, 100, 150, 250, 500, 750, 1000, and 2000 m, thus comprising an increasing area to be examined around each random point of 79 m² up to the maximum area of the virtual forest stand (192 ha). The method was conducted for 30 random points per stand. One mean value per stand, point in time, and radius were then calculated and used for further analysis.

254 2.7. Statistical analysis

After a descriptive presentation, we used generalized additive mixed models (GAMMs) [76] to examine how the trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity ivol developed over time and spatial scale under different management scenarios. For each of the two groups "age-class stands" and "uneven-aged stands", the model function was applied to test differences for significance. The model was also applied to the spruce stand, beech stand, single-tree mixture, and section-wise mixture but those results were only presented visually as they were not the main focus of this study.

261
$$t_{group} = scen * (f(SDI_i) + f(year_j) + f(radius_k)) + \varepsilon$$
 (Eq. 4)

t is the trade-off str/prod per group (age-class vs. uneven-aged) in each initial stand i depending on the SDI, time (year) j, and space (radius) k. SDI for each stand i was included in the model function to cover effects that were only based on stand density. Scen is the management scenario applied. The virtual forest stand i was also included as random effect to cover unknown dependencies between the forest stands. The model term ε covers the remaining unexplained variation.

For testing the differences between the two groups "age-class stands" vs "uneven-aged stands", another model (GAMM) was set up that was applied to each of the three scenarios separately:

269 $t_{scen} = group * (f(SDI_i) + f(year_j) + f(radius_k)) + \varepsilon$ (Eq. 5)

270 tscen is the trade-off str/prod in scenario scen. The factor variable group contains the age-class vs.
271 uneven-aged stands. The other variables are used as mentioned above.

272 **3. Results**

We answered the research question: "How does stand structural heterogeneity in age-class vs. uneven-aged stands develop over time and spatial scale in different management scenarios?" with a descriptive presentation (3.1. Structural heterogeneity and relative productivity over time) and by applying models for investigating the trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity (3.2. Trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity).

- 278 3.1. Structural heterogeneity and relative productivity over time
- First, we give an overview of the structural heterogeneity dbh.cv and the relative productivity rel.ivol over time in the different scenarios (Figure 1).
- 281



282

Figure 1: Coefficient of variation of dbh (dbh.cv) and the relative ivol rel.ivol (%) in (I) age-class stands and (II) uneven-aged stands over time in the multifunctional (blue), production-oriented (red), and set-aside scenario (green). Confidence intervals at 95%.

286 In the age-class forest, a strong increase in the dbh.cv to >0.70 was found for all scenarios in year 287 20, due to the regeneration ingrowth (Figure 1, I, row 1). After that, the dbh.cv decreased in the 288 multifunctional (blue line) and the production-oriented scenario (red line) resulting in a final value 289 of ~ 0.7 and ~ 0.5, respectively. In the set-aside scenario (green line), the dbh.cv remained higher over 290 time and stabilized around 0.8. In the uneven-aged stands (Figure 1, II, row 1), the dbh.cv increased 291 up to 0.8 in year 20 in all scenarios due to the ingrowing regeneration. After year 20, the dbh.cv 292 decreased slightly in the multifunctional scenario (blue line), resulting in a value of ~ 0.70 after 100 293 years and decreased strongly in the production-oriented scenario (red line) resulting in a value of ~ 294 0.40. The set-aside scenario led to a slight increase in dbh.cv up to a value of ~ 0.90 .

The rel.ivol in age-class stands (Figure 1, I, row 2) was highest in the production-oriented scenario (red line) and stabilized around 5% over time. In the multifunctional scenario (blue line), the rel.ivol was around 3% and also mostly stable over time. In the set-aside (green line), the rel.ivol was lowest and resulted in a value of ~ 2% in the long-term. In the uneven-aged stands (Figure 1, II, row 299 2) the rel.ivol was highest in the production-oriented scenario (red line), compared to the other 300 scenarios, with an increase from 4% up to 7.5% until year 60 and a decrease to 5% after that. In the 301 multifunctional scenario (blue line), the rel.ivol remained at ~ 2.5 %. In the set-aside scenario (green 302 line), a decrease from 2.5% to ~ 2% was found.

In sum, whereas in the age-class stands (Figure 1, I) the rel.ivol and dbh.cv were mostly stable over time, the production-oriented scenario led to contradicting trends of dbh.cv and rel.ivol in the uneven-aged stands (Figure 1, II). The descriptive part of the results already points at the conflicting relationship or trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity. For further investigation of this contrary trend, the trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity (str/prod) was

308 set up and analyzed using the stated models.

309 3.2. Trade-off between structural heterogeneity and productivity

310 The models show changes in the trade-off between the standardized structural heterogeneity str 311 and the standardized productivity prod (str/prod) over time and spatial scale depending on the 312 silvicultural management applied while covering the potential effects of the SDI. The first model (Eq. 313 4) tests the difference in the above-mentioned relationships between the management scenarios. The 314 second model (Eq. 5) examines the differences between age-class and uneven-aged forest. The models 315 mainly contain significant variables. Non-significant variables were automatically excluded during 316 the model run. Yet, GAMMs are best interpreted by visual examination. The black line in the graphs 317 represents all age-class and uneven-aged stands, respectively, each containing a pure spruce stand 318 (blue line), a pure beech stands (red line), a single-tree mixed stand (dark green line), and a section-319 wise mixed stand (light green line). The separation into pure and mixed spruce and beech stands is 320 presented only visually by the differently colored model curves, as the difference between species 321 was not the main focus of this study. If the difference between the different mixtures was relevant, it 322 was seen in confidence bands that did not overlap. The model curves are centered around 0, meaning 323 that the intercept is the overall mean of the response variable. The curves do therefore not only vary 324 inside the span of the dependent variable but show a negative (< 0) or positive (> 0) effect of the 325 explaining variables on the mean of the response variable. We focussed on describing only effects 326 that were both significant and relevant because of their extent; that is to say, the effects that were also 327 visually present.





Figure 2: Model results showing development of the trade-off coefficient of variation/ivol in the examined area in (I) ageclass stands and (II) uneven-aged stands depending on SDI (row 1), over time (row 2), and spatial scale (row 3) in a (a) multifunctional, (b) production-oriented, and (c) set-aside scenario. Confidence intervals at 95%.

329 SDI has been included in the model to cover the potential relationship between stand density 330 and productivity (Table A 1). In the age-class stands, only in the production-oriented scenario, a very 331 high SDI led to an increase in str/prod (Figure 2, I, row 1, b). In the multifunctional and the set-aside 332 scenarios, the effect of SDI was around 0 for the model range covered with enough data (Figure 2, I, 333 row 1, a and c). In the uneven-aged stands, SDI had a negative effect on str/prod when an SDI was 334 below 400 and in the multifunctional and the set-aside scenarios (Figure 2, II, row 1, a and b). Yet, 335 these effects only address the limits of the model range. In the valid model range covering most of 336 the data (200 < SDI < 1000), the effect of SDI on str/prod was around 0. The effect of SDI on str/prod 337 was also found to be significantly different between age-class and uneven-aged forest (Table A 2) 338 mostly because of the differences at the limits of the model range for very low or high SDI.

Over time in the age-class stands, a significant difference in str/prod between the scenarios was found (Table A 1), especially between the multifunctional (Figure 2, I, row 2, a) and the productionoriented scenario (Figure 2, I, row 2, b). This difference was mostly seen in the pure beech stand (red line), where str/prod decreased over time only in the multifunctional scenario. In the set-aside scenario (Figure 2, I, row 3, c), str/prod increased towards year 100, whereas in the other scenarios the effect only a slight positive effect over time was found.

345 The most important finding in uneven-aged stands was the difference in the development of 346 str/prod between the multifunctional (Figure 2, II, row 2, a) and the production-oriented scenario 347 (Figure 2, II, row 2, b). Only in the production-oriented scenario did the str/prod increase strongly 348 until year 20. After year 40, the effect of time on str/prod became negative, meaning a decrease in 349 str/prod. Only in the set-aside scenario did the str/prod increase over time in both pure and mixed 350 stands. The largest difference (by visual checks) between the species in uneven-aged stands was seen 351 in an increase in str/prod after year 50 in pure age-class spruce stands (blue line), where str/prod 352 decreased over time in the multifunctional but not in the production-oriented scenario (Figure 2, I, 353 row 2, a, red line). The second model confirmed the significant difference between age-class and 354 uneven-aged (Table A 2) concerning the development of str/prod over time. This is most clearly seen 355 in the production-oriented scenario stands (Figure 2, I, row 2, b versus Figure 2, II, row 2, b).

In both age-class and uneven-aged stands, a stronger increase in str/prod with increasing spatial scale was found in the production-oriented scenario (Figure 2, I and II, row 3, b) compared to the multifunctional and the set-aside scenarios (Figure 2, I and II, row 3, a and c) (Table A 1). The increase in str/prod with increasing spatial scale in the multifunctional and the production-oriented scenarios was found to be significantly stronger in age-class stands than in the uneven-aged stands (Figure 2, I and II, row 3, a and b) (Table A 2).

362 3.3. *Results summary*

The production-oriented scenario led to a decrease over time in structural heterogeneity in the uneven-aged stands, but not in the age-class stands. In the case where high productivity is the first priority, age-class stands could be used without lowering the structural heterogeneity. With increasing spatial scale, str/prod increased more strongly in the age-class stands than in the unevenaged stands and more strongly in the production-oriented scenario than in the multifunctional and set-aside scenarios.

369 4. Discussion

370 Since the demand for wood products in Europe is presumed to increase in the future [77], 371 management is expected to remain production-oriented, even though other ecosystem functions and

372 services need to be covered as well [78]. Most forests in Europe are managed, which enables decision

makers in forest management to shape the outcome of ecosystem functions and services. Usually,

374 tree size heterogeneity decreases as soon as a forest is economically managed [79]. We noted this 375 trend already in the descriptive part of the analysis (Figure 1). We then quantified the conflicting 376 interest between high wood production and high structural heterogeneity by using a trade-off value 377 (Figure 2). We used standardized measures to disentangle the trade-off from absolute values (which 378 depend also on the setup of the virtual stands) in order to develop a ratio of structural heterogeneity 379 per unit of productivity. An increase in the trade-off str/prod could therefore result from an increase 380 in structural heterogeneity str or in a decrease in productivity prod. We chose to use this kind of 381 trade-off to point out the competing relationships between stand structural heterogeneity and 382 productivity because the focus on high productivity was incorporated already in the management 383 scenarios (multifunctional, production-oriented, set-aside) and the initial stand structure (age-class 384 vs. uneven-aged) was the focus. If similar analyses are conducted on other plots with an overall lower 385 or higher level of productivity, the conflicting relationship between structure and productivity can 386 still be measured and compared.

Differences between the management scenarios and between age-class and uneven-aged stands
were visible in the descriptive part of the results (Figure 1) and statistically proven through the
application of the models (Eq. 4, Eq.5 and Figure 2).

The inclusion of SDI in the models used in this study enabled the specific testing of the effect of silvicultural management on structural heterogeneity in relation to stand productivity as it covered potential effects of higher stocking on stand structure and productivity [80]. Since the virtual forest stands were already similar in stand density, effects of SDI were mostly found in the limits of the model range, meaning for a very low or high SDI (Figure 2, I and II, row 1).

395 In the production-oriented scenario, the structural heterogeneity per unit of productivity 396 str/prod decreased significantly over time in the case of the uneven-aged stands, compared to the 397 age-class stands. The prescribed thinning in the production-oriented scenario incorporated a 398 commercial use of competitor trees through regular thinning from below. In uneven-aged stands, the 399 thinning operations were to the whole forest stand at the same time, which can lead to a more 400 homogeneous tree size distribution resulting in a lower structural heterogeneity, as stated by others 401 [81]. In the age-class stands, however, each age-class was thinned individually depending on tree 402 height. A higher number of different age-classes and tree heights was therefore possible, at least when 403 measured at the whole stand. In uneven-aged stands, the multifunctional scenario was therefore 404 more suitable for providing high structural heterogeneity in relation to stand productivity than the 405 production-oriented scenario.

406 Those results are only valid when assuming a provision of structural heterogeneity at stand level 407 instead of tree level. With increasing spatial scale, the structural heterogeneity per unit of 408 productivity increased more strongly in age-class stands compared to uneven-aged stands. The 409 maximum structural heterogeneity was therefore reached at a larger spatial scale in age-class stands. 410 Also, str/prod increased with increasing spatial scale more strongly in the production-oriented 411 scenario compared to the multifunctional and the set-aside scenario. In both cases, the thinning 412 operations rather homogenized the tree size distribution on a small spatial scale (through strong 413 thinning from below in the production-oriented scenario and through the same type of thinning 414 applied to a whole age-class in the age-class stands). In the multifunctional or set-aside scenarios, 415 especially in uneven-aged stands, the selective thinning maintained a higher structural heterogeneity 416 at tree level. With increasing spatial scale, the structural heterogeneity did therefore not increase so 417 strongly because it was already high at tree level. If the size of each age-class is rather small (16 ha in 418 this study), differently aged and sized trees can provide a heterogeneous forest even under the 419 production-oriented scenario. This finding is especially interesting as the consequences can be a 420 higher structural heterogeneity in age-class stands compared to uneven-aged stands [82,83], when 421 measured at a larger spatial scale, due to the provided mosaic of different habitat types [84]. The need 422 for open spaces, e.g., for light-demanding species, [85] can be embedded in a large heterogeneous 423 mosaic and influence biodiversity at the landscape scale [86,87]. Further can the stability at landscape 424 scale be increase through this higher structural heterogeneity [18]. Still, commercially used age-class

- forests are often assumed to provide a lower number of large and old trees, as most trees are cut before reaching the old growth phase. This could be addressed through a set-aside of parts of the managed forests, as suggested by others [88]. The virtual forest stands were based on real forest types in Bavaria. They are representative of forest ecosystems in Central Europe and enable an analysis of the effect of silvicultural management. For testing the performance of forests under different management in terms of trade-offs between ecosystem functions and services in advance of aplication, simulation has proven to be a useful tool [89].
- The simulation over a course of 100 years in our case aimed at testing silvicultural management on already existing and partly mature stands. A negative or positive effect of structural heterogeneity on productivity in young and old stands, respectively, found by others [90] could therefore not be
- 435 compared to the virtual stands in this study. Generally, the chosen approach of this study would also
- be applicable for newly established stands to test the effect of silvicultural management on theirdevelopment in stand structure.
- 438 5. Conclusions and outlook

439 Our approach of combining stand simulation with an analysis of structural heterogeneity in relation 440 to stand productivity can be understood as an exemplary study to test the effect of silvicultural 441 management before its application in real forests and to identify and incorporate forest structure as 442 an important factor in multiple ecosystem functions and services [91]. The strong promotion of 443 continuous cover forestry seen in the last decades for the purpose of increasing uneven-aged stands 444 in temperate [26,92] and boreal regions [93,29,94] shows that the decision between the two 445 approaches is still an up-to-date topic. A critical comparison between stand types in terms of their 446 performance in structural heterogeneity and productivity can help to predict the outcome of 447 management before transforming all existing age-class stands to uneven-aged stands. Possibly, the 448 existing age-class stands can provide a high structural heterogeneity at a slightly larger spatial scale. 449 We found this to be the case in uneven-aged stands – where an appropriate management scenario is 450 applied, which in this case was the production-oriented scenario. Although some assumptions had 451 to be made for the simulation of stand growth in the future, rough trends can be helpful to support 452 forest management in their decisions. In further studies, additional variables like changes in growing 453 conditions and the connection to population models can be addressed.

454 Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Laura Zeller; Methodology, Laura Zeller and Astor Toraño Caicoya;
 455 Supervision, Hans Pretzsch; Writing – original draft, Laura Zeller; Writing – review & editing, Astor Toraño
 456 Caicoya and Hans Pretzsch.

Funding: This research was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Technical University of
Munich within the funding program "Open Access Publishing". Further has this research been supported in
parts by the BiodivERsA project "GreenFutureForests" [#01LC1610B], by the FORD project Biotip [#01LC1716D]
promoted by the German Aerospace Center (DLR) and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research.
Further was this research financially supported by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL)

- through the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) [#2816ERA02S].
- Acknowledgments: We thank the Bavarian State Ministry for Nutrition, Agriculture, and Forestry for
 permanent support of the project "W 07 Long-term experimental plots for forest growth and yield research"
 [#7831-22209-2013]. We also thank the European Union for funding of the project "Management of mixed-species
 stands. Options for a low-risk forest management (REFORM)" [#2816ERA02S].
- 467 **Conflicts of Interest:** The authors declare no conflict of interest.
- 468
- 469
- 470
- 471

472 Appendix A

- 473 A.1. Model result tables
- 474

475 Table A 1: Model results for differences between management scenarios

str / prod			age-cl	ass				uneven-aged					
-	edf	Ref.d	F	p-	sig.	R-sq.		edf	Ref.d	F	p-	sig.	R-sq.
		f		value		(adj)			f		value		(adj)
								7.1					
s(SDI):multi	4.05	9	16.00	0.000	***	0.726	s(SDI):scen1	8	9.00	96.86	0.000	***	0.658
								4.4					
s(SDI):prod	7.89	9	36.82	0.000	***		s(SDI):scen2	0	9.00	58.44	0.000	***	
								5.6					
s(SDI):setaside	3.88	9	11.76	0.000	***		s(SDI):scen6	7	9.00	72.47	0.000	***	
			249.7					8.2		209.1			
s(year):multi	8.44	9	0	0.000	***		s(year):scen1	3	9.00	2	0.000	***	
			113.5					8.4		292.2			
s(year):prod	7.53	9	4	0.000	***		s(year):scen2	6	9.00	7	0.000	***	
								8.1		184.7			
s(year):setaside	7.78	9	74.28	0.000	***		s(year):scen6	7	9.00	7	0.000	***	
							s(radius):scen	8.2					
s(radius):multi	7.87	9	48.03	0.000	***		1	8	9.00	26.59	0.000	***	
							s(radius):scen	3.0					
s(radius):prod	3.02	9	38.31	0.000	***		2	6	9.00	31.78	0.000	***	
							s(radius):scen	8.3					
s(radius):setaside	2.93	9	12.69	0.000	***		6	4	9.00	17.57	0.000	***	

476

477 Table A 2: Model results for differences between age-class and uneven-aged stands

Multifunctional						
	edf	Ref.df	F	p-value	sig.	R-sq.
s(SDI):age-class	4.58	9	21.94	0.000	***	0.653
s(SDI):uneven-aged	6.77	9	39.14	0.000	***	
s(year):age-class	8.65	9	339.98	0.000	***	
s(year):uneven-aged	7.84	9	172.03	0.000	***	
s(radius):age-class	8.20	9	64.11	0.000	***	
s(radius):uneven-aged	7.65	9	20.37	0.000	***	
Production-oriented						
	edf	Ref.df	F	p-value	sig.	R-sq.
s(SDI):age-class	6.84	9	23.81	0.000	***	0.553
s(SDI):uneven-aged	1.66	9	29.91	0.000	***	

Forests 2019, 10, x FOR PEER REVIEW

s(year):age-class	7.48	9	94.53	0.000	***	
s(year):uneven-aged	7.95	9	151.33	0.000	***	
s(radius):age-class	2.83	9	28.25	0.000	***	
s(radius):uneven-aged	2.57	9	15.40	0.000	***	
	6.84	9	23.81	0.000	***	
Set-aside						
	edf	Ref.df	F	p-value	sig.	R-sq.
s(SDI):age-class	6.79	9	13.33	0.000	***	0.794
s(SDI):uneven-aged	6.54	9	29.19	0.000	***	
s(year):age-class	8.50	9	99.36	0.000	***	
s(year):uneven-aged	8.77	9	225.98	0.000	***	
s(radius):age-class	7.63	9	46.30	0.000	***	
s(radius):uneven-aged	8 62	0	27.40	0.000	***	

478

479 A.2. The virtual forest stands



Figure A 1: age-class spruce stand



Figure A 2: uneven-aged spruce stand


Figure A 3: age-class beech stand



Figure A 4: uneven-aged beech stand



Figure A 5: age-class single-tree mixed stand



Figure A 6: uneven-aged single-tree mixed stand



Figure A 7: age-class section-wise mixed stand



Figure A 8: uneven-aged section-wise mixed stand

480 References

481	1.	Manning, P.; van der Plas, F.; Soliveres, S.; Allan, E.; Maestre, F.T.; Mace, G.; Whittingham,
482		M.J.; Fischer, M. Redefining ecosystem multifunctionality. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 2018, 2, 427–436,
483		doi:10.1038/s41559-017-0461-7.
484	2.	Schmithüsen, F. Multifunctional forestry practices as a land use strategy to meet increasing
485		private and public demands in modern societies. J. For. Sci. 2008, 53, 290–298,
486		doi:10.17221/2016-JFS.
487	3.	Gamfeldt, L.; Snäll, T.; Bagchi, R.; Jonsson, M.; Gustafsson, L.; Kjellander, P.; Ruiz-Jaen, M.C.;
488		Fröberg, M.; Stendahl, J.; Philipson, C.D.; et al. Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are
489		found in forests with more tree species. Nat. Commun. 2013, 4, 1340, doi:10.1038/ncomms2328.
490	4.	Liang, J.; Crowther, T.W.; Picard, N.; Wiser, S.; Zhou, M.; Alberti, G.; Schulze, ED.; McGuire,
491		A.D.; Bozzato, F.; Pretzsch, H.; et al. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship
492		predominant in global forests. Science 2016, 354, aaf8957, doi:10.1126/science.aaf8957.
493	5.	Felipe-Lucia, M.R.; Soliveres, S.; Penone, C.; Manning, P.; van der Plas, F.; Boch, S.; Prati, D.;
494		Ammer, C.; Schall, P.; Gossner, M.M.; et al. Multiple forest attributes underpin the supply of
495		multiple ecosystem services. Nat. Commun. 2018, 9, 4839, doi:10.1038/s41467-018-07082-4.
496	6.	Bohn, F.J.; May, F.; Huth, A. Species composition and forest structure explain the temperature
497		sensitivity patterns of productivity in temperate forests. Biogeosciences 2018, 15, 1795–1813,
498		doi:10.5194/bg-15-1795-2018.
499	7.	Bohn, F.J.; Huth, A. The importance of forest structure to biodiversity-productivity
500		relationships. <i>The Royal Society</i> 2017 , <i>4</i> , <i>doi</i> :10.1098/rsos.160521.
501	8.	Puettmann, K.J.; Wilson, S.M.; Baker, S.C.; Donoso, P.J.; Drössler, L.; Amente, G.; Harvey, B.D.;
502		Knoke, T.; Lu, Y.; Nocentini, S.; et al. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest

503		management - what limits global adoption? For. Ecosyst. 2015, 2, 611, doi:10.1186/s40663-015-
504	0	
505 506	9.	Salek, L.; Sivacioglu, A. Forests for Future – Multifunctional Forests. <i>IJPSS</i> 2018 , <i>24</i> , 1–9, doi:10.9734/IJPSS/2018/43669.
507	10.	Danescu, A.; Albrecht, A.T.; Bauhus, J. Structural diversity promotes productivity of mixed,
508		uneven-aged forests in southwestern Germany. Oecologia 2016, 182, 319–333,
509		doi:10.1007/s00442-016-3623-4.
510	11.	Soares, A.A.V.; Leite, H.G.; Souza, A.L.; Silva, S.R.; Lourenço, H.M.; Forrester, D.I. Increasing
511		stand structural heterogeneity reduces productivity in Brazilian Eucalyptus monoclonal
512		stands. <i>Forest Ecology and Management</i> 2016 , 373, 26–32, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.035.
513	12.	Bourdier, T.; Cordonnier, T.; Kunstler, G.; Piedallu, C.; Lagarrigues, G.; Courbaud, B. Tree Size
514		Inequality Reduces Forest Productivity: An Analysis Combining Inventory Data for Ten
515		European Species and a Light Competition Model. <i>PLoS ONE</i> 2016 , <i>11</i> , e0151852,
516		doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0151852.
517	13.	Ghadiri Khanaposhtani, M.; Kaboli, M.; Karami, M.; Etemad, V. Effect of habitat complexity on
518		richness, abundance and distributional pattern of forest birds. <i>Environ. Manage.</i> 2012, 50, 296–
519		303, doi:10.1007/s00267-012-9877-7.
520	14.	Lindenmayer, D.B.; Margules, C.R.; Botkin, D.B. Indicators of Biodiversity for Ecologically
521		Sustainable Forest Management. Conservation Biology 2000, 14, 941–950, doi:10.1046/j.1523-
522		1739.2000.98533.x.
523	15.	Tews, J.; Brose, U.; Grimm, V.; Tielbörger, K.; Wichmann, M.C.; Schwager, M.; Jeltsch, F.
524		Animal species diversity driven by habitat heterogeneity/diversity: the importance of keystone
525		structures. J Biogeogr 2004 , 31, 79–92, doi:10.1046/j.0305-0270.2003.00994.x.
526	16.	Ali, A.; Yan, ER.; Chen, H.Y.H.; Chang, S.X.; Zhao, YT.; Yang, XD.; Xu, MS. Stand
527		structural diversity rather than species diversity enhances aboveground carbon storage in
528		secondary subtropical forests in Eastern China. <i>Biogeosciences</i> 2016 , <i>13</i> , 4627–4635,
529		doi:10.5194/bg-13-4627-2016.
530	17.	Mason, W.L. Are irregular stands more windfirm? Forestry 2002, 75, 347–355,
531		doi:10.1093/forestry/75.4.347.
532	18.	Gardiner, B.; Marshall, B.; Achim, A.; Belcher, R.; Wood, C. The stability of different
533		silvicultural systems: A wind-tunnel investigation. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest
534		<i>Research</i> 2005, 78, 471–484, doi:10.1093/forestry/cpi053.
535	19.	O'Hara, K.L.; Ramage, B.S. Silviculture in an uncertain world: utilizing multi-aged
536		management systems to integrate disturbance. Annals of Forest Science 2013, 86, 401–410,
537		doi:10.1093/forestry/cpt012.
538	20.	Pommerening, A. Approaches to quantifying forest structures. Forestry 2002, 75, 305–324,
539		doi:10.1093/forestry/75.3.305.
540	21.	Sabatini, F.M.; Burrascano, S.; Lombardi, F.; Chirici, G.; Blasi, C. An index of structural
541		complexity for Apennine beech forests. <i>iForest</i> 2015, 8, 314–323, doi:10.3832/ifor1160-008.
542	22.	Fischer, C.; Mölder, A. Trend to increasing structural diversity in German forests: results from
543		National Forest Inventories 2002 and 2012. Annals of Forest Science 2017, 74, 80,
544		doi:10.1007/s13595-017-0675-5.

545	23.	Pretzsch, H. Forest Dynamics, Growth and Yield. From Measurement to Model; Springer-Verlag
546		Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2009, ISBN 9783540883067.
547	24.	del Río, M.; Pretzsch, H.; Alberdi, I.; Bielak, K.; Bravo, F.; Brunner, A.; Condés, S.; Ducey, M.J.;
548		Fonseca, T.; Lüpke, N. von; et al. Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity
549		of mixed-species stands: Review and perspectives. Eur J Forest Res 2015, 135, 23–49,
550		doi:10.1007/s10342-015-0927-6.
551	25.	Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft BMEL. Der Wald in Deutschland:
552		Ausgewählte Ergebnisse der dritten Bundeswaldinventur (accessed on 15 June 2019).
553	26.	Knoke, T. The Economics of Continuous Cover Forestry. In <i>Continuous cover forestry</i> , 2nd ed.;
554		Pukkala, T., Ed.; Springer: Dordrecht, London, 2012; pp 167–193, ISBN 978-94-007-2201-9.
555	27.	Pommerening, A. Transformation to continuous cover forestry in a changing environment.
556		<i>Forest Ecology and Management</i> 2006 , 224, 227–228, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2005.12.036.
557	28.	Nordström, EM.; Holmström, H.; Öhman, K. Evaluating continuous cover forestry based on
558		the forest owner's objectives by combining scenario analysis and multiple criteria decision
559		analysis. <i>Silva Fenn.</i> 2013 , <i>47</i> , <i>doi</i> :10.14214/sf.1046.
560	29.	Kuuluvainen, T.; Tahvonen, O.; Aakala, T. Even-aged and uneven-aged forest management in
561		boreal Fennoscandia: A review. Ambio 2012, 41, 720–737, doi:10.1007/s13280-012-0289-y.
562	30.	Dieler, J.; Uhl, E.; Biber, P.; Müller, J.; Rötzer, T.; Pretzsch, H. Effect of forest stand management
563		on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe.
564		Eur J Forest Res 2017 , 136, 739–766, doi:10.1007/s10342-017-1056-1.
565	31.	Naeem, S.; Duffy, J.E.; Zavaleta, E. The functions of biological diversity in an age of extinction.
566		Science 2012, 336, 1401–1406, doi:10.1126/science.1215855.
567	32.	Schwaiger, F.; Poschenrieder, W.; Biber, P.; Pretzsch, H. Species Mixing Regulation with
568		Respect to Forest Ecosystem Service Provision. Forests 2018, 9, 632, doi:10.3390/f9100632.
569	33.	Laudon, H.; Sponseller, R.A.; Lucas, R.W.; Futter, M.N.; Egnell, G.; Bishop, K.W.; Ågren, A.;
570		Ring, E.; Högberg, P. Consequences of More Intensive Forestry for the Sustainable
571		Management of Forest Soils and Waters 2011, doi:10.3390/f2010243.
572	34.	Biber, P.; Borges, J.; Moshammer, R.; Barreiro, S.; Botequim, B.; Brodrechtová, Y.; Brukas, V.;
573		Chirici, G.; Cordero-Debets, R.; Corrigan, E.; et al. How Sensitive Are Ecosystem Services in
574		European Forest Landscapes to Silvicultural Treatment? Forests 2015, 6, 1666–1695,
575		doi:10.3390/f6051666.
576	35.	Nyland, R.D. Even- to uneven-aged: the challenges of conversion. Forest Ecology and
577		Management 2003 , 172, 291–300, doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00797-6.
578	36.	Sterba, H.; Zingg, A. Target diameter harvesting – a strategy to convert even-aged forests.
579		Forest Ecology and Management 2001 , 151, 95–105, doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00700-3.
580	37.	Borrass, L.; Kleinschmit, D.; Winkel, G. The "German model" of integrative multifunctional
581		forest management—Analysing the emergence and political evolution of a forest management
582		concept. Forest Policy and Economics 2017, 77, 16–23, doi:10.1016/j.forpol.2016.06.028.
583	38.	Gustafsson, L.; Baker, S.C.; Bauhus, J.; Beese, W.J.; Brodie, A.; Kouki, J.; Lindenmayer, D.B.;
584		Lõhmus, A.; Pastur, G.M.; Messier, C.; et al. Retention Forestry to Maintain Multifunctional
585		Forests: A World Perspective. BioScience 2012, 62, 633-645, doi:10.1525/bio.2012.62.7.6.

586	39.	Gustafsson, L.; Bauhus, J.; Asbeck, T.; Augustynczik, A.L.D.; Basile, M.; Frey, J.; Gutzat, F.;
587		Hanewinkel, M.; Helbach, J.; Jonker, M.; et al. Retention as an integrated biodiversity
588		conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Europe. <i>Ambio</i> 2019,
589		doi:10.1007/s13280-019-01190-1.
590	40.	Bundesministerium für Ernährung, Landwirtschaft und Verbraucherschutz BMELV. Forest
591		Strategy 2020: Sustainable Forest Management –An Opportunity and a Challenge for Society.
592		https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/EN/Publications/ForestStrategy2020.pdf?blob
593		=publicationFile (accessed on 10 November 2019).
594	41.	Burschel, P.; Huss, J. Grundriss des Waldbaus. Ein Leitfaden für Studium und Praxis : 207 Tabellen,
595		3., unveränd. Aufl.; Ulmer: Stuttgart, 2003, ISBN 3800145707.
596	42.	Pommerening, A.; Murphy, S.T. A review of the history, definitions and methods of continuous
597		cover forestry with special attention to afforestation and restocking. <i>Forestry</i> 2004 , 77, 27–44,
598		doi:10.1093/forestry/77.1.27.
599	43.	Mainwaring, D.B.; Maguire, D.A. The effect of local stand structure on growth and growth
600		efficiency in heterogeneous stands of ponderosa pine and lodgepole pine in central Oregon.
601		<i>Can. J. For. Res.</i> 2004 , 34, 2217–2229, doi:10.1139/x04-108.
602	44.	Liang, J.; Buongiorno, J.; Monserud, R.A.; Kruger, E.L.; Zhou, M. Effects of diversity of tree
603		species and size on forest basal area growth, recruitment, and mortality. <i>Forest Ecology and</i>
604		Management 2007 , 243, 116–127, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2007.02.028.
605	45.	Zeller, L.; Liang, J.; Pretzsch, H. Tree species richness enhances stand productivity while stand
606		structure can have opposite effects, based on forest inventory data from Germany and the
607		United States of America. For. Ecosyst. 2018 , <i>5</i> , <i>doi</i> :10.1186/s40663-017-0127-6.
608	46.	Schwaiger, F.; Poschenrieder, W.; Biber, P.; Pretzsch, H. Ecosystem service trade-offs for
609		adaptive forest management. <i>Ecosystem Services</i> 2019 , 39, 100993,
610		doi:10.1016/j.ecoser.2019.100993.
611	47.	Simonsson, P.; Östlund, L.; Gustafsson, L. Conservation values of certified-driven voluntary
612		forest set-asides. <i>Forest Ecology and Management</i> 2016 , 375, 249–258,
613		doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2016.05.039.
614	48.	Bhakti, T.; Goulart, F.; Azevedo, C.S. de; Antonini, Y. Does scale matter? The influence of three-
615		level spatial scales on forest bird occurrence in a tropical landscape. PLoS ONE 2018, 13,
616		e0198732, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0198732.
617	49.	Leimgruber, P.; McShea, W.J.; Schnell, G.D. Effects of scale and logging on landscape structure
618		in a forest mosaic. <i>Environ. Monit. Assess.</i> 2002 , 74, 141–166.
619	50.	Stein, A.; Gerstner, K.; Kreft, H. Environmental heterogeneity as a universal driver of species
620		richness across taxa, biomes and spatial scales. <i>Ecol. Lett.</i> 2014 , <i>17</i> , 866–880,
621		doi:10.1111/ele.12277.
622	51.	Saab, V. Importance of Spatial Scale to Habitat Use by Breeding Birds in Riparian Forests: A
623		Hierarchical Analysis. Ecological Applications 1999 , 9, 135, doi:10.2307/2641174.
624	52.	van der Plas, F.; Manning, P.; Soliveres, S.; Allan, E.; Scherer-Lorenzen, M.; Verheven, K.;
625		Wirth, C.; Zavala, M.A.; Ampoorter, E.; Baeten, L.; et al. Biotic homogenization can decrease
626		landscape-scale forest multifunctionality. PNAS 2016 , 113, 3557–3562,
627		doi:10.1073/pnas.1517903113.

628	53.	Yang, Z.; Liu, X.; Zhou, M.; Ai, D.; Wang, G.; Wang, Y.; Chu, C.; Lundholm, J.T. The effect of
629		environmental heterogeneity on species richness depends on community position along the
630		environmental gradient. Sci. Rep. 2015, 5, 15723, doi:10.1038/srep15723.
631	54.	Schall, P.; Gossner, M.M.; Heinrichs, S.; Fischer, M.; Boch, S.; Prati, D.; Jung, K.; Baumgartner,
632		V.; Blaser, S.; Böhm, S.; et al. The impact of even-aged and uneven-aged forest management on
633		regional biodiversity of multiple taxa in European beech forests. J Appl Ecol 2017, 109, 17495,
634		doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12950.
635	55.	Crow, T.R.; Buckley, D.S.; Nauertz, E.A.; Zasada, J.C. Effects of Management on the
636		Composition and Structure of Northern Hardwood Forests in Upper Michigan. for sci 2002, 48,
637		129–145, doi:10.1093/forestscience/48.1.129.
638	56.	Pukkala, T.; Lähde, E.; Laiho, O.; Salo, K.; Hotanen, JP. A multifunctional comparison of even-
639		aged and uneven-aged forest management in a boreal region. Can. J. For. Res. 2011, 41, 851–
640		862, doi:10.1139/x11-009.
641	57.	Coll, L.; Ameztegui, A.; Collet, C.; Löf, M.; Mason, B.; Pach, M.; Verheyen, K.; Abrudan, I.;
642		Barbati, A.; Barreiro, S.; et al. Knowledge gaps about mixed forests: What do European forest
643		managers want to know and what answers can science provide? Forest Ecology and Management
644		2018 , 407, 106–115, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2017.10.055.
645	58.	Pretzsch, H. Modellierung des Waldwachstums. Mit 10 Tabellen; Parey: Berlin, 2001, ISBN
646		3826333772.
647	59.	Pretzsch, H. Konzeption und Konstruktion von Wuchsmodellen für Rein- und Mischbestände.
648		[Concept and construction of growth models for pure and mixed stands]; Chair of Forest Growth at
649		Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, 1992, ISBN 0174-1810.
650	60.	Pretzsch, H.; Biber, P.; Durský, J.; Sodtke, R. The Individual-Tree-Based Stand Simulator
651		SILVA. In Sustainable forest management: Growth models for Europe; Hasenauer, H., Ed.; Springer:
652		Berlin, London, 2006; pp 78–84, ISBN 3-540-26098-6.
653	61.	Pretzsch, H. Zum Einfluß waldbaulicher Maßnahmen auf die räumliche Bestandesstruktur.
654		Simulationsstudie über Fichten-Buchen-Mischbestände in Bayern. In Biodiversität und
655		nachhaltige Forstwirtschaft: Tagung des Forums Genetik - Wald - Forstwirtschaft, Oktober 1995, 1.
656		Aufl.; Müller-Starck, G., Ammer, C., Eds.; ecomed: Landsberg, 1996, ISBN 3609693606.
657	62.	Poschenrieder, W.; Biber, P.; Pretzsch, H. An Inventory-Based Regeneration Biomass Model to
658		Initialize Landscape Scale Simulation Scenarios. Forests 2018, 9, 212, doi:10.3390/f9040212.
659	63.	Schwaiger, F.; Poschenrieder, W.; Rötzer, T.; Biber, P.; Pretzsch, H. Groundwater recharge
660		algorithm for forest management models. Ecological Modelling 2018, 385, 154–164,
661		doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2018.07.006.
662	64.	Pretzsch, H.; Grote, R.; Reineking, B.; Rötzer, T.; St. Seifert. Models for Forest Ecosystem
663		Management: A European Perspective. Ann. Bot. 2007, 101, 1065–1087,
664		doi:10.1093/aob/mcm246.
665	65.	Pretzsch, H.; Biber, P.; Ďurský, J. The single tree-based stand simulator SILVA: construction,
666		application and evaluation. Forest Ecology and Management 2002, 162, 3–21, doi:10.1016/S0378-
667		1127(02)00047-6.

668	66.	Bayerische Staatsforsten, A. Waldbaugrundsätze der Bayerischen Staatsforsten.
669		https://www.baysf.de/fileadmin/user_upload/04-
670		wald_verstehen/Publikationen/Waldbaugrundsaetze.pdf (accessed on 8 September 2019).
671	67.	Toraño Caicoya, A.; Biber, P.; Poschenrieder, W.; Schwaiger, F.; Pretzsch, H. Forestry
672		projections for species diversity-oriented management: an example from Central Europe. Ecol
673		Process 2018, 7, 357, doi:10.1186/s13717-018-0135-7.
674	68.	Hurmekoski, E.; Hetemäki, L.; Linden, M. Factors affecting sawnwood consumption in Europe.
675		Forest Policy and Economics 2015, 50, 236–248, doi:10.1016/j.forpol.2014.07.008.
676	69.	O'Brien, M.; Bringezu, S. European Timber Consumption: Developing a Method to Account for
677		Timber Flows and the EU's Global Forest Footprint. Ecological Economics 2018, 147, 322–332,
678		doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.01.027.
679	70.	Reineke, L.H. Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. Journal for Agricultural
680		Research 1933 , 46, 627–638.
681	71.	Johann, K. DESER-Norm 1993. Normen der Sektion Ertragskunde im Deutschen Verband Forstlicher
682		Forschungsanstalten zur Aufbereitung von waldwirtschaftlichen Dauerversuchen. Berichte der
683		Jahrestagung des Deutschen Verbandes Forstlicher Sektion Ertragskunde in Unterreichenbach-
684		Kapfenhardt, 1993.
685	72.	Brown, C.E. Applied Multivariate Statistics in Geohydrology and Related Sciences; Springer Berlin
686		Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1998, ISBN 9783642803307.
687	73.	Qin, K.; Li, J.; Yang, X. Trade-Off and Synergy among Ecosystem Services in the Guanzhong-
688		Tianshui Economic Region of China. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2015, 12, 14094–14113,
689		doi:10.3390/ijerph121114094.
690	74.	Bradford, J.B.; D'Amato, A.W. Recognizing trade-offs in multi-objective land management.
691		Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2012 , 10, 210–216, doi:10.1890/110031.
692	75.	Cyganek, B. Adaptive Window Growing Technique for Efficient Image Matching. In Pattern
693		Recognition and Image Analysis., IbPRIA 2005. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Berlin,
694		Heidelberg; Marques, J.S., Pérez de la Blanca, Nicolás, Pina, P., Cyganek, B., Eds.; Springer
695		Berlin Heidelberg, 2005; pp 308–315, ISBN 978-3-540-32237-5.
696	76.	R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical
697		Computing; Vienna, 2018.
698	77.	Reid, W.V. Ecosystems and human well-being. Synthesis; a report of the Millennium Ecosystem
699		Assessment; Island Press: Washington, DC, 2005, ISBN 1597260398.
700	78.	Sikkema, R.; Dallemand, J.F.; Matos, C.T.; van der Velde, M.; San-Miguel-Ayanz, J. How can
701		the ambitious goals for the EU's future bioeconomy be supported by sustainable and efficient
702		wood sourcing practices? Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 2017, 32, 551–558,
703		doi:10.1080/02827581.2016.1240228.
704	79.	Buongiorno, J.; Dahir, S.; Lu, HC.; Lin, CR. Tree Size Diversity and Economic Returns in
705		Uneven-Aged Forest Stands. for sci 1994, 40, 83–103, doi:10.1093/forestscience/40.1.83.
706	80.	Uhl, E.; Biber, P.; Ulbricht, M.; Heym, M.; Horváth, T.; Lakatos, F.; Gál, J.; Steinacker, L.; Tonon,
707		G.; Ventura, M.; et al. Analysing the effect of stand density and site conditions on structure
708		and growth of oak species using Nelder trials along an environmental gradient: experimental

709		design, evaluation methods, and results. Forest Ecosystems 2015, 2, 17, doi:10.1186/s40663-015-
710		0041-8.
711	81.	Gradel, A.; Ammer, C.; Ganbaatar, B.; Nadaldorj, O.; Dovdondemberel, B.; Wagner, S. On the
712		Effect of Thinning on Tree Growth and Stand Structure of White Birch (Betula platyphylla
713		Sukaczev) and Siberian Larch (Larix sibirica Ledeb.) in Mongolia. Forests 2017, 8, 105,
714		doi:10.3390/f8040105.
715	82.	Schall, P.; Gossner, M.M.; Heinrichs, S.; Ammer, C. In beech forest landscapes composed of
716		different management systems biodiversity increases with the share of even-aged forests. In
717		Proceedings of the 5th European Congress of Conservation Biology. 5th European Congress of
718		Conservation Biology, Jyväskylä, Finland, 2018; Jyvaskyla University Open Science Centre:
719		Jyväskylä, 2018.
720	83.	Nolet, P.; Kneeshaw, D.; Messier, C.; Béland, M. Comparing the effects of even- and uneven-
721		aged silviculture on ecological diversity and processes: A review. Ecol. Evol. 2018, 8, 1217–1226,
722		doi:10.1002/ece3.3737.
723	84.	Terraube, J.; Archaux, F.; Deconchat, M.; van Halder, I.; Jactel, H.; Barbaro, L. Forest edges have
724		high conservation value for bird communities in mosaic landscapes. Ecol. Evol. 2016, 6, 5178–
725		5189, doi:10.1002/ece3.2273.
726	85.	Emborg, J. Understorey light conditions and regeneration with respect to the structural
727		dynamics of a near-natural temperate deciduous forest in Denmark. Forest Ecology and
728		Management 1998 , 106, 83–95, doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(97)00299-5.
729	86.	Arellano, L.; Halffter, G. Gamma diversity: derived from and a determinant of Alpha diversity
730		and Beta diversity. An analysis of three tropical landscapes. Acta zoológica mexicana 2003, 27–
731		76.
732	87.	Zhang, Y.; Ma, K.; Anand, M.; Ye, W.; Fu, B. Scale dependence of the beta diversity-scale
733		relationship. <i>Community Ecology</i> 2015 , <i>16</i> , 39–47, doi:10.1556/168.2015.16.1.5.
734	88.	Simonsson, P.; Gustafsson, L.; Östlund, L. Retention forestry in Sweden: driving forces, debate
735		and implementation 1968–2003. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 2015, 30, 154–173,
736		doi:10.1080/02827581.2014.968201.
737	89.	Marques, S.; Marto, M.; Bushenkov, V.; McDill, M.; Borges, J. Addressing Wildfire Risk in
738		Forest Management Planning with Multiple Criteria Decision Making Methods. Sustainability
739		2017 , <i>9</i> , 298, doi:10.3390/su9020298.
740	90.	Zeller, L.; Pretzsch, H. Effect of forest structure on stand productivity in Central European
741		forests depends on developmental stage and tree species diversity. Forest Ecology and
742		Management 2019 , 434, 193–204, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2018.12.024.
743	91.	Pohjanmies, T.; Triviño, M.; Le Tortorec, E.; Mazziotta, A.; Snäll, T.; Mönkkönen, M. Impacts of
744		forestry on boreal forests: An ecosystem services perspective. Ambio 2017, 46, 743–755,
745		doi:10.1007/s13280-017-0919-5.
746	92.	von Gadow, K.; Nagel, J.; Saborowski, J. Continuous Cover Forestry. Assessment, Analysis,
747		Scenarios; Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht, 2002, ISBN 940159886X.
748	93.	Bergeron, Y.; Leduc, A.; Harvey, B.D.; Gauthier, S. Natural fire regime: A guide for sustainable
749		management of the Canadian boreal forest, 2002.

- 750 94. Axelsson, R.; Angelstam, P. Uneven-aged forest management in boreal Sweden: local forestry
- stakeholders' perceptions of different sustainability dimensions. *Forestry* **2011**, *84*, 567–579,
- 752 doi:10.1093/forestry/cpr034.
- 753



© 2019 by the authors. Submitted for possible open access publication under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

754

7 References

Ali, A., 2019. Forest stand structure and functioning: Current knowledge and future challenges. Ecological Indicators 98, 665–677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.11.017.

Ammer, C., 2008. Converting Norway spruce stands with beech - A review of arguments and techniques. Australian Journal of Forest Science 125, 3–26.

Ammon W, 1951. Plenterprinzip in der Waldwirtschaft. Haupt.

Anten, N.P.R., Schieving, F., 2010. The role of wood mass density and mechanical constraints in the economy of tree architecture. The American naturalist 175, 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1086/649581.

Aryal, S., Bhattarai, D.R., Devkota, R.P., 2013. Comparison of Carbon Stocks Between Mixed and Pine-Dominated Forest Stands Within the Gwalinidaha Community Forest in Lalitpur District, Nepal. Small-scale Forestry 12, 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-013-9236-4.

Bacher, M., Krzosek, S., 2014. Bending and tension strength classes in European standards. Annals of Warsaw University of Life Sciences - SGGW. Forestry and Wood Technology 88.

Bauhus, J., Forrester, D.I., Jactel, H., Vallejo, R., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Ecological Stability of Mixed-Species Forests, in: Pretzsch, H., Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J. (Eds.), Mixed-species forests. Ecology and management. Springer, Berlin, 653 p, pp. 337–382.

Benítez, Á., Prieto, M., Aragón, G., 2015. Large trees and dense canopies: key factors for maintaining high epiphytic diversity on trunk bases (bryophytes and lichens) in tropical montane forests. Forestry 88, 521–527. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpv022.

Binkley, D., 1984. Importance of size—density relationships in mixed stands of douglas-fir and red alder. Forest Ecology and Management 9, 81–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(84)90075-6.

Binkley, D., Kashian, D.M., Boyden, S., Kaye, M.W., Bradford, J.B., Arthur, M.A. et al, 2006. Patterns of growth dominance in forests of the Rocky Mountains, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 236, 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.09.001.

Bolte, A., Kampf, F., Hilbrig, L., 2013. Space sequestration below ground in old-growth spruce-beech forests-signs for facilitation? Frontiers in plant science 4, 322. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00322.

Boncina, A., 2011. History, current status and future prospects of uneven-aged forest management in the Dinaric region: an overview. Annals of Forest Science 84, 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpr023.

Bourdier, T., Cordonnier, T., Kunstler, G., Piedallu, C., Lagarrigues, G., Courbaud, B., 2016. Tree Size Inequality Reduces Forest Productivity: An Analysis Combining Inventory Data for Ten European Species and a Light Competition Model. PloS one 11, e0151852. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0151852.

Bues, C.T., 1985. Der Einfluß von Bestockungsgrad und Durchforstung auf die Rohdichte von südafrikanischer Pinus radiata. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 43, 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02607108.

Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft BMEL, 2014. Der Wald in Deutschland: Ausgewählte Ergebnisse der dritten Bundeswaldinventur (accessed 15 June 2019).

Buongiorno, J., Dahir, S., Lu, H.-C., Lin, C.-R., 1994. Tree Size Diversity and Economic Returns in Uneven-Aged Forest Stands. for sci 40, 83–103. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/40.1.83.

Buongiorno, J., Peyron, J.-L., Houllier, F., Bruciamacchie, M., 1995. Growth and Management of Mixed-Species, Uneven-Aged Forests in the French Jura: Implications for Economic Returns and Tree Diversity. for sci 41, 397–429. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/41.3.397.

Burschel, P., Huss, J., 2003. Grundriss des Waldbaus: Ein Leitfaden für Studium und Praxis : 207 Tabellen, 3., unveränd. Aufl. Ulmer, Stuttgart.

Callaway, R.M., 1998. Competition and Facilitation on Elevation Gradients in Subalpine Forests of the Northern Rocky Mountains, USA. Oikos 82, 561. https://doi.org/10.2307/3546376.

Chen, H.Y.H., Klinka, K., 2003. Aboveground productivity of western hemlock and western redcedar mixed-species stands in southern coastal British Columbia. Forest Ecology and Management 184, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00148-8.

Crawley, M.J., 2007. The R Book. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK.

Danescu, A., Albrecht, A.T., Bauhus, J., 2016. Structural diversity promotes productivity of mixed, uneven-aged forests in southwestern Germany. Oecologia 182, 319–333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3623-4.

del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Alberdi, I., Bielak, K., Bravo, F., Brunner, A. et al, 2015. Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: Review and perspectives. Eur J Forest Res 135, 23–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-015-0927-6.

del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Ruíz-Peinado, R., Ampoorter, E., Annighöfer, P., Barbeito, I. et al, 2017. Species interactions increase the temporal stability of community productivity in Pinus sylvestris-Fagus sylvatica mixtures across Europe. Journal of Ecology 105, 1032–1043. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12727.

del Río, M., Schütze, G., Pretzsch, H., 2014. Temporal variation of competition and facilitation in mixed species forests in Central Europe. Plant biology (Stuttgart, Germany) 16, 166– 176. https://doi.org/10.1111/plb.12029.

Dhôte, J.-F., 2005. Implication of Forest Diversity in Resistance to Strong Winds, in: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function. Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg. Ecological Studies, Analysis and Synthesis 176, pp. 291–307.

Díaz-Yáñez, O., Mola-Yudego, B., González-Olabarria, J.R., Pukkala, T., 2017. How does forest composition and structure affect the stability against wind and snow? Forest Ecology and Management 401, 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.054.

Dieler, J., Uhl, E., Biber, P., Müller, J., Rötzer, T., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Effect of forest stand management on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe. Eur J Forest Res 136, 739–766. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-017-1056-1.

Dorji, Annighöfer, Ammer, Seidel, 2019. Response of Beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) Trees to Competition—New Insights from Using Fractal Analysis. Remote Sensing 11, 2656. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11222656.

Eurostat, 2011. Forestry in the EU and the world: A statistical portrait, 2011 ed. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg. Pocketbooks. Agriculture and fisheries.

Fedrowitz, K., Koricheva, J., Baker, S.C., Lindenmayer, D.B., Palik, B., Rosenvald, R. et al, 2014. Can retention forestry help conserve biodiversity? A meta-analysis. The Journal of Applied Ecology 51, 1669–1679. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12289.

Felipe-Lucia, M.R., Soliveres, S., Penone, C., Manning, P., van der Plas, F., Boch, S. et al, 2018. Multiple forest attributes underpin the supply of multiple ecosystem services. Nature communications 9, 4839. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07082-4.

Felton, A., Lindbladh, M., Brunet, J., Fritz, Ö., 2010. Replacing coniferous monocultures with mixed-species production stands: An assessment of the potential benefits for forest biodiversity in northern Europe. Forest Ecology and Management 260, 939–947. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2010.06.011.

Felton, A., Nilsson, U., Sonesson, J., Felton, A.M., Roberge, J.-M., Ranius, T. et al, 2016. Replacing monocultures with mixed-species stands: Ecosystem service implications of two production forest alternatives in Sweden. Ambio 45 Suppl 2, 124–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0749-2.

Fick, S.E., Hijmans, R.J., 2017. WorldClim 2: New 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. Int. J. Climatol 21, 455. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5086.

Filotas, E., Parrott, L., Burton, P.J., Chazdon, R.L., Coates, K.D., Coll, L. et al, 2014. Viewing forests through the lens of complex systems science. Ecosphere 5, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES13-00182.1.

Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., 2016. A Review of Processes Behind Diversity—Productivity Relationships in Forests. Current Forestry Reports 2, 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-016-0031-2.

Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Cowie, A.L., 2005. Nutrient cycling in a mixed-species plantation of Eucalyptus globulus and Acacia mearnsii. Can. J. For. Res. 35, 2942–2950. https://doi.org/10.1139/x05-214.

Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P. et al, 2013. Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nature communications 4, 1340. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2328. Gardiner, B., Marshall, B., Achim, A., Belcher, R., Wood, C., 2005. The stability of different silvicultural systems: A wind-tunnel investigation. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research 78, 471–484. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpi053.

Gärtner, S., Reif, A., 2004. The impact of forest transformation on stand structure and ground vegetation in the southern Black Forest, Germany. Plant and Soil 264, 35–51. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PLSO.0000047751.25915.77.

Global Forest Biodiversity Initiative, 2016. People, Nature, World, Diversity. http://www.gfbinitiative.org/.

Grammel, R., 1990. Zusammenhänge zwischen Wachstumsbedingungen und holztechnologischen Eigenschaften der Fichte. European Journal of Forest Research 109, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02741625.

Grilli, G., Jonkisz, J., Ciolli, M., Lesinski, J., 2016. Mixed forests and ecosystem services: Investigating stakeholders' perceptions in a case study in the Polish Carpathians. Forest Policy and Economics 66, 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.02.003.

Hapla, F., 1985. Radiographisch-densitometrische Holzeigenschaftsuntersuchungen an Douglasien aus unterschiedlich durchforsteten Versuchsflächen. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 43, 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02609013.

Härkönen, S., Neumann, M., Mues, V., Berninger, F., Bronisz, K., Cardellini, G. et al, 2019. A climate-sensitive forest model for assessing impacts of forest management in Europe. Environmental Modelling & Software 115, 128–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2019.02.009.

Häusler, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2001. Sustainable forest management in Germany: The ecosystem approach of the biodiversity convention reconsidered ; results of the R+D-Project 800 83 001. BfN Federal Agency for Nature Conservation, Bonn. BfN-Skripten 51.

Hector, A., Bagchi, R., 2007. Biodiversity and ecosystem multifunctionality. Nature 448, 188–190. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05947.

Heinrichs, S., Ammer, C., Mund, M., Boch, S., Budde, S., Fischer, M. et al, 2019. Landscape-Scale Mixtures of Tree Species are More Effective than Stand-Scale Mixtures for Biodiversity of Vascular Plants, Bryophytes and Lichens. Forests 10, 73. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10010073. Henry, M., Réjou-Méchain, M., Jara, M.C., Wayson, C., Piotto, D., Westfall, J. et al, 2015. An overview of existing and promising technologies for national forest monitoring. Annals of Forest Science 72, 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-015-0463-z.

Kelty, M.J., 2006. The role of species mixtures in plantation forestry. Forest Ecology and Management 233, 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.05.011.

Kemmerer, J., 2016. Zeitliche Variation der Holzdichte von Kiefer und Eiche in den letzten 100 Jahren. Masterarbeit, Freising.

Knoke, T., 2012. The Economics of Continuous Cover Forestry, in: Pukkala, T. (Ed.), Continuous cover forestry, 2nd ed. Springer, Dordrecht, London. Managing Forest Ecosystems 23, pp. 167–193.

Knoke, T., Ammer, C., Stimm, B., Mosandl, R., 2008. Admixing broadleaved to coniferous tree species: A review on yield, ecological stability and economics. Eur J Forest Res 127, 89–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-007-0186-2.

Lei, X., Wang, W., Peng, C., 2009. Relationships between stand growth and structural diversity in spruce-dominated forests in New Brunswick, Canada. Can. J. For. Res. 39, 1835–1847. https://doi.org/10.1139/X09-089.

Leimgruber, P., McShea, W.J., Schnell, G.D., 2002. Effects of scale and logging on landscape structure in a forest mosaic. Environmental monitoring and assessment 74, 141–166.

Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G. et al, 2016. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354, aaf8957. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf8957.

Lindenmayer, D.B., Margules, C.R., Botkin, D.B., 2000. Indicators of Biodiversity for Ecologically Sustainable Forest Management. Conservation Biology 14, 941–950. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2000.98533.x.

Lokers, R., Knapen, R., Janssen, S., van Randen, Y., Jansen, J., 2016. Analysis of Big Data technologies for use in agro-environmental science. Environmental Modelling & Software 84, 494–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2016.07.017.

MacArthur, R.H., MacArthur, J.W., 1961. On Bird Species Diversity. Ecology 42, 594–598. https://doi.org/10.2307/1932254. Madrigal-González, J., Ruiz-Benito, P., Ratcliffe, S., Calatayud, J., Kändler, G., Lehtonen, A. et al, 2016. Complementarity effects on tree growth are contingent on tree size and climatic conditions across Europe. Scientific reports 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep32233.

Maleki, K., Zeller, L., Pretzsch, H., 20xx. Oak often needs to be promoted in mixed beechoak stands - the structural processes behind competition and silvicultural management in mixed stands of European beech and sessile oak. iForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry in review.

Manning, P., van der Plas, F., Soliveres, S., Allan, E., Maestre, F.T., Mace, G. et al, 2018. Redefining ecosystem multifunctionality. Nature ecology & evolution 2, 427–436. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0461-7.

Mason, W.L., 2002. Are irregular stands more windfirm? Forestry 75, 347–355. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/75.4.347.

MCPFE - Resolution HI: General guidelines for the sustainable management of forests in Europe. 1993, Proceedings of the 2nd Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe, Helsinki, Finland.

Mensah, S., Du Toit, B., Seifert, T., 2018. Diversity–biomass relationship across forest layers: implications for niche complementarity and selection effects. Oecologia 187, 783–795. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-018-4144-0.

Messier, C., Puettmann, K.J., Coates, K.D., 2013. Managing Forests as Complex Adaptive Systems: Building Resilience to the Challenge of Global Change. Taylor and Francis, Hoboken. The Earthscan forest library.

Moore, J.R., Cown, D.J., McKinley, R.B., Sabatia, C.O., 2015. Effects of stand density and seedlot on three wood properties of young radiata pine grown at a dry-land site in New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science 45, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40490-015-0035-x.

Morin, X., Fahse, L., Jactel, H., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., García-Valdés, R., Bugmann, H., 2018. Long-term response of forest productivity to climate change is mostly driven by change in tree species composition. Scientific reports 8, 5627. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23763-y.

Morin, X., Fahse, L., Mazancourt, C. de, Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Bugmann, H., 2014. Temporal stability in forest productivity increases with tree diversity due to asynchrony in species dynamics. Ecology letters 17, 1526–1535. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12357.

Mura, M., McRoberts, R.E., Chirici, G., Marchetti, M., 2015. Estimating and mapping forest structural diversity using airborne laser scanning data. Remote Sensing of Environment 170, 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2015.09.016.

Neuner, S., Albrecht, A., Cullmann, D., Engels, F., Griess, V.C., Hahn, W.A. et al, 2015. Survival of Norway spruce remains higher in mixed stands under a dryer and warmer climate. Global change biology 21, 935–946. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12751.

Nyland, R.D., 2003. Even- to uneven-aged: the challenges of conversion. Forest Ecology and Management 172, 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00797-6.

O'Connell BM, LaPoint EB, Turner JA, Ridley T, Pugh SA, Wilson AM et al, 2014. FIA Database Description and User Guide for Phase 2: Version: 6.0.1.

O'Hara, K.L., Ramage, B.S., 2013. Silviculture in an uncertain world: utilizing multi-aged management systems to integrate disturbance. Annals of Forest Science 86, 401–410. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpt012.

Othmani, A., Lew Yan Voon, L.F.C., Stolz, C., Piboule, A., 2013. Single tree species classification from Terrestrial Laser Scanning data for forest inventory. Pattern Recognition Letters 34, 2144–2150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patrec.2013.08.004.

Paillet, Y., Bergès, L., Hjältén, J., Odor, P., Avon, C., Bernhardt-Römermann, M. et al, 2010. Biodiversity differences between managed and unmanaged forests: Meta-analysis of species richness in Europe. Conservation Biology: the journal of the Society for Conservation Biology 24, 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01399.x.

Pascu, I.-S., Dobre, A.-C., Badea, O., Tănase, M.A., 2019. Estimating forest stand structure attributes from terrestrial laser scans. The Science of the total environment 691, 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.536.

Pastorella, F., Paletto, A., 2013. Stand structure indices as tools to support forest management: an application in Trentino forests (Italy). J. For. Sci. 59, 159–168. https://doi.org/10.17221/75/2012-JFS. Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., R Core Team, 2018. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package nlme version 3.1-137.

Pretzsch, H., 1998. Structural diversity as a result of silvicultural operations. Lesnictvi-Forestry 44, 429–439.

Pretzsch, H., 2005. Diversity and Productivity in Forests: Evidence from Long-Term Experimental Plots, in: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function. Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg. Ecological Studies, Analysis and Synthesis 176, pp. 41–64.

Pretzsch, H., 2009. Forest Dynamics, Growth and Yield: From Measurement to Model. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Pretzsch, H., 2013. Facilitation and competition in mixed-species forests analyzed along an ecological gradient, The alternatives growth and defense: resource allocation at multiple scales in plants : International Leopoldina Symposium, Freising, July 4 to 6, 2011 ; with 20 tables. Wiss. Verl.-Ges. [u.a.], Stuttgart, pp. 159–174.

Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., 2010. Size-symmetric versus size-asymmetric competition and growth partitioning among trees in forest stands along an ecological gradient in central Europe. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 40, 370–384. https://doi.org/10.1139/X09-195.

Pretzsch, H., Biber, P., Ďurský, J., 2002. The single tree-based stand simulator SILVA: construction, application and evaluation. Forest Ecology and Management 162, 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00047-6.

Pretzsch, H., Block, J., Dieler, J., Dong, P.H., Kohnle, U., Nagel, J. et al, 2010. Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient. Annals of Forest Science 67, 712. https://doi.org/10.1051/for-est/2010037.

Pretzsch, H., del Río, M., Ammer, C., Avdagic, A., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K. et al, 2015. Growth and yield of mixed versus pure stands of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) analysed along a productivity gradient through Europe. Eur J Forest Res 134, 927–947. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-015-0900-4. Pretzsch, H., Grote, R., Reineking, B., Rötzer, T., St. Seifert, 2007. Models for Forest Ecosystem Management: A European Perspective. Annals of botany 101, 1065–1087. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcm246.

Pretzsch, H., Rais, A., 2016. Wood quality in complex forests versus even-aged monocultures: review and perspectives. Wood Sci Technol 50, 845–880. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00226-016-0827-z.

Pretzsch, H., Uhl, E., Nickel, M., Steinacker, L., Schütze, G., 2013. Das ertragskundliche Versuchswesen in Bayern: Nachhaltigkeit in der Waldwachstumsforschung. LWF Wissen 72, 114–121.

Puettmann, K.J., Wilson, S.M., Baker, S.C., Donoso, P.J., Drössler, L., Amente, G. et al, 2015. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management - what limits global adoption? For. Ecosyst. 2, 611. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-015-0031-x.

R Core Team, 2018. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna.

R Development Core Team, 2008. R: A language and environment for statistical computing, Vienna.

Reich, P.B., 2009. Accelerating a Silvicultural Metamorphosis? A Critique of Silviculture: Managing for Complexity . Klaus J. Puettmann , Christian Messier , and K. David Coates . Island Press, 2008. 206 pp., illus. \$30.00 (ISBN 9781597261463 paper). BioScience 59, 807– 809. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2009.59.9.14.

Reid, W.V., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: Synthesis; a report of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Island Press, Washington, DC.

Reineke, L.H., 1933. Perfecting a stand-density index for even-aged forests. Journal for Agricultural Research 46, 627–638.

Richards, A.E., Schmidt, S., 2010. Complementary resource use by tree species in a rain forest tree plantation. Ecological applications : a publication of the Ecological Society of America 20, 1237–1254. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1180.1.

Riofrío, J., del Río, M., Pretzsch, H., Bravo, F., 2017. Changes in structural heterogeneity and stand productivity by mixing Scots pine and Maritime pine. Forest Ecology and Management 405, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.09.036.

Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Potvin, C., 2010. Tree Diversity Explains Variation in Ecosystem Function in a Neotropical Forest in Panama. Biotropica 42, 638–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2010.00631.x.

Saab, V., 1999. Importance of Spatial Scale to Habitat Use by Breeding Birds in Riparian Forests: A Hierarchical Analysis. Ecological Applications 9, 135. https://doi.org/10.2307/2641174.

Sabatini, F.M., Burrascano, S., Keeton, W.S., Levers, C., Lindner, M., Pötzschner, F. et al, 2018. Where are Europe's last primary forests? Divers Distrib 24, 1426–1439. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12778.

Salek, L., Sivacioğlu, A., 2018. Forests for Future – Multifunctional Forests. IJPSS 24, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.9734/IJPSS/2018/43669.

Schall, P., Gossner, M.M., Heinrichs, S., Ammer, C., 2018. In beech forest landscapes composed of different management systems biodiversity increases with the share of even-aged forests, Proceedings of the 5th European Congress of Conservation Biology. Jyvaskyla University Open Science Centre, Jyväskylä.

Schall, P., Gossner, M.M., Heinrichs, S., Fischer, M., Boch, S., Prati, D. et al, 2017. The impact of even-aged and uneven-aged forest management on regional biodiversity of multiple taxa in European beech forests. J Appl Ecol 109, 17495. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12950.

Schelhaas, M.-J., Fridman, J., Hengeveld, G.M., Henttonen, H.M., Lehtonen, A., Kies, U. et al, 2018. Actual European forest management by region, tree species and owner based on 714,000 re-measured trees in national forest inventories. PloS one 13, e0207151. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207151.

Schinker, M.G., Hansen, N., Spiecker, H., 2003. High-Frequency Densitometry-A New Method for the Rapid Evaluation of Wood Density Variations. IAWA J 24, 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1163/22941932-90001592.

Schnabel, F., Schwarz, J.A., Dănescu, A., Fichtner, A., Nock, C.A., Bauhus, J. et al, 2019. Drivers of productivity and its temporal stability in a tropical tree diversity experiment. Global change biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14792. Schütz, J.-P., Saniga, M., Diaci, J., Vrška, T., 2016. Comparing close-to-naturesilviculture with processes in pristine forests: lessons from Central Europe. Annals of Forest Science 73, 911–921. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-016-0579-9.

Schwaiger, F., Poschenrieder, W., Biber, P., Pretzsch, H., 2018. Species Mixing Regulation with Respect to Forest Ecosystem Service Provision. Forests 9, 632. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9100632.

Schwinning, S., Weiner, J., 1998. Mechanisms determining the degree of size asymmetry in competition among plants. Oecologia 113, 447–455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050397.

Seedre, M., Felton, A., Lindbladh, M., 2018. What is the impact of continuous cover forestry compared to clearcut forestry on stand-level biodiversity in boreal and temperate forests? A systematic review protocol. Environmental Evidence 7, 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-018-0138-y.

Seidel, D., Ehbrecht, M., Annighöfer, P., Ammer, C., 2019a. From tree to stand-level structural complexity — Which properties make a forest stand complex? Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 278, 107699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.107699.

Seidel, D., Ehbrecht, M., Dorji, Y., Jambay, J., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P., 2019b. Identifying architectural characteristics that determine tree structural complexity. Trees 33, 911–919. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-019-01827-4.

Seidl, R., Rammer, W., Jäger, D., Currie, W.S., Lexer, M.J., 2007. Assessing trade-offs between carbon sequestration and timber production within a framework of multi-purpose forestry in Austria. Forest Ecology and Management 248, 64–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.02.035.

Sikkema, R., Dallemand, J.F., Matos, C.T., van der Velde, M., San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., 2017. How can the ambitious goals for the EU's future bioeconomy be supported by sustainable and efficient wood sourcing practices? Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 32, 551–558. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2016.1240228.

Silva Pedro, M., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2015. Tree species diversity mitigates disturbance impacts on the forest carbon cycle. Oecologia 177, 619–630. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3150-0.

Silva Pedro, M., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2017. Disentangling the effects of compositional and structural diversity on forest productivity. J Veg Sci 28, 649–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12505.

Soares, A.A.V., Leite, H.G., Souza, A.L., Silva, S.R., Lourenço, H.M., Forrester, D.I., 2016. Increasing stand structural heterogeneity reduces productivity in Brazilian Eucalyptus monoclonal stands. Forest Ecology and Management 373, 26–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.035.

Steckel, M., Heym, M., Wolff, B., Reventlow, D., Pretzsch, H., 2019. Transgressive overyielding in mixed compared with monospecific Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and oak (Quercus robur L., Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.) stands – Productivity gains increase with annual water supply. Forest Ecology and Management 439, 81–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.02.038.

Stein, A., Gerstner, K., Kreft, H., 2014. Environmental heterogeneity as a universal driver of species richness across taxa, biomes and spatial scales. Ecology letters 17, 866–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12277.

Sterba, H., Zingg, A., 2001. Target diameter harvesting — a strategy to convert even-aged forests. Forest Ecology and Management 151, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00700-3.

Storch, F., Dormann, C.F., Bauhus, J., 2018. Quantifying forest structural diversity based on large-scale inventory data: a new approach to support biodiversity monitoring. Forest Ecosystems 5, 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-018-0151-1.

Thurm, E.A., Uhl, E., Pretzsch, H., 2016. Mixture reduces climate sensitivity of Douglas-fir stem growth. Forest Ecology and Management 376, 205–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.020.

Trasobares, A., Zingg, A., Walthert, L., Bigler, C., 2016. A climate-sensitive empirical growth and yield model for forest management planning of even-aged beech stands. European Journal of Forest Research 135, 263–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-015-0934-7.

van der Plas, F., Manning, P., Soliveres, S., Allan, E., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Verheyen, K. et al, 2016. Biotic homogenization can decrease landscape-scale forest multifunctionality. PNAS 113, 3557–3562. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1517903113.

Vanhellemont, M., Bijlsma, R.-J., Keersmaeker, L. de, Vandekerkhove, K., Verheyen, K., 2018. Species and structural diversity affect growth of oak, but not pine, in uneven-aged mature forests. Basic and Applied Ecology 27, 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2018.01.003.

Wassenberg, M., Montwé, D., Kahle, H.-P., Spiecker, H., 2014. Exploring high frequency densitometry calibration functions for different tree species. Dendrochronologia 32, 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2014.07.001.

Wood, S.N., 2011. Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society (B) 73, 3–36.

Yücesan, Z., Özçelik, S., Oktan, E., 2015. Effects of thinning on stand structure and tree stability in an afforested oriental beech (Fagus orientalis Lipsky) stand in northeast Turkey. J. For. Res. 26, 123–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-015-0028-x.

Zeide, B., 1987. Analysis of the 3/2 power law of self-thinning. Forest Science.

Zeller, L., Ammer, C., Annighöfer, P., Biber, P., Marshall, J., Schütze, G. et al, 2017. Tree ring wood density of Scots pine and European beech lower in mixed-species stands compared with monocultures. Forest Ecology and Management 400, 363–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.018.

Zeller, L., Liang, J., Pretzsch, H., 2018. Tree species richness enhances stand productivity while stand structure can have opposite effects, based on forest inventory data from Germany and the United States of America. Forest Ecosystems 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-017-0127-6.

Zeller, L., Pretzsch, H., 2019. Effect of forest structure on stand productivity in Central European forests depends on developmental stage and tree species diversity. Forest Ecology and Management 434, 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.12.024.

Zeller, L., Toraño Caicoya, A., Pretzsch, H., 20xx. Analyzing the effect of silvicultural management on the trade-off between stand structural heterogeneity and productivity over time. Forests, In review.

Zuur, A.F., 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer, New York, NY. Statistics for biology and health.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich erkläre an Eides statt, dass ich die bei der promotionsführenden Einrichtung Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt

der TUM zur Promotionsprüfung vorgelegte Arbeit mit dem Titel:

Interactions between forest stand structure, tree species composition and stand productivity in spatial, temporal and silvicultural context

in der Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt, Lehrstuhl für Waldwachstumskunde

Fakultät, Institut, Lehrstuhl, Klinik, Krankenhaus, Abteilung

unter der Anleitung und Betreuung durch: <u>Prof. Dr. hc. Hans Pretzsch</u> ohne sonstige Hilfe erstellt und bei der Abfassung nur die gemäß § 6 Ab. 6 und 7 Satz 2 angebotenen Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

- Ich habe keine Organisation eingeschaltet, die gegen Entgelt Betreuerinnen und Betreuer f
 ür die Anfertigung von Dissertationen sucht, oder die mir obliegenden Pflichten hinsichtlich der Pr
 üfungsleistungen f
 ür mich ganz oder teilweise erledigt.
- ☐ Ich habe die Dissertation in dieser oder ähnlicher Form in keinem anderen Prüfungsverfahren als Prüfungsleistung vorgelegt.
- Die vollständige Dissertation wurde in ______veröffentlicht. Die promotionsführende Einrichtung

hat der Veröffentlichung zugestimmt.

☐ Ich habe den angestrebten Doktorgrad noch nicht erworben und bin nicht in einem früheren Promotionsverfahren für den angestrebten Doktorgrad endgültig gescheitert.

□ Ich habe bereits am _____ bei der Fakultät für _____

der Hochschule

unter Vorlage einer Dissertation mit dem Thema

die Zulassung zur Promotion beantragt mit dem Ergebnis:

Die öffentlich zugängliche Promotionsordnung der TUM ist mir bekannt, insbesondere habe ich die Bedeutung von § 28 (Nichtigkeit der Promotion) und § 29 (Entzug des Doktorgrades) zur Kenntnis genommen. Ich bin mir der Konsequenzen einer falschen Eidesstattlichen Erklärung bewusst.

Mit der Aufnahme meiner personenbezogenen Daten in die Alumni-Datei bei der TUM bin ich

 \boxtimes einverstanden, \square nicht einverstanden.

Ort, Datum, Unterschrift